World Journal of *Cardiology*

World J Cardiol 2022 March 26; 14(3): 108-189



Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

World Journal of Cardiology

Contents

Monthly Volume 14 Number 3 March 26, 2022

REVIEW

108 Fundamentals of percutaneous coronary bifurcation interventions

Kırat T

139 Arrhythmic risk stratification in ischemic, non-ischemic and hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: A two-step multifactorial, electrophysiology study inclusive approach

Arsenos P, Gatzoulis KA, Tsiachris D, Dilaveris P, Sideris S, Sotiropoulos I, Archontakis S, Antoniou CK, Kordalis A, Skiadas I, Toutouzas K, Vlachopoulos C, Tousoulis D, Tsioufis K

152 Climatic influences on cardiovascular diseases

Abrignani MG, Lombardo A, Braschi A, Renda N, Abrignani V

MINIREVIEWS

170 Predictors of persistence of functional mitral regurgitation after cardiac resynchronization therapy: Review of literature

Russo E, Russo G, Braccio M, Cassese M

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study

177 Risk profiles and outcomes of patients receiving antibacterial cardiovascular implantable electronic device envelopes: A retrospective analysis

Woodard DA, Kim G, Nilsson KR

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

187 Electrocardiographic alterations in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Eyuboglu M



Contents

Monthly Volume 14 Number 3 March 26, 2022

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Cardiology, Wattana Leowattana, MD, MSc, PhD, Associate Professor, Senior Researcher, Staff Physician, Clinical Tropical Medicine, Mahidol University, Siriraj Hospital, Factory Medecine, Rachatawee 10400, Bangkok, Thailand. leowattana@yahoo.com

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Cardiology (WJC, World J Cardiol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of cardiology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJC mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of cardiology and covering a wide range of topics including acute coronary syndromes, aneurysm, angina, arrhythmias, atherosclerosis, atrial fibrillation, cardiomyopathy, congenital heart disease, coronary artery disease, heart failure, hypertension, imaging, infection, myocardial infarction, pathology, peripheral vessels, public health, Raynaud's syndrome, stroke, thrombosis, and valvular disease.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJC is now abstracted and indexed in Emerging Sources Citation Index (Web of Science), PubMed, PubMed Central, Scopus, Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2021 edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2020 Journal Citation Indicator (JCI) for WJC as 0.36. The WJC's CiteScore for 2020 is 0.3, and Scopus CiteScore rank 2020: Cardiology and Cardiovascular Medicine is 289/317.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Hua-Ge Yu; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Ya-Juan Ma.

NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Cardiology	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 1949-8462 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
December 31, 2009	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Monthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Ramdas G Pai, Dimitrios Tousoulis, Marco Matteo Ciccone, Pal Pacher	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
March 26, 2022	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2022 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



W J C World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2022 March 26; 14(3): 108-138

DOI: 10.4330/wic.v14.i3.108

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

REVIEW

Fundamentals of percutaneous coronary bifurcation interventions

Tamer Kırat

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Guo L

Received: March 17, 2021 Peer-review started: March 17, 2021 First decision: July 8, 2021 Revised: July 22, 2021 Accepted: February 22, 2022 Article in press: February 22, 2022 Published online: March 26, 2022



Tamer Kırat, Department of Cardiology, Yücelen Hospital, Muğla 48000, Turkey

Corresponding author: Tamer Kırat, MD, Doctor, Staff Physician, Department of Cardiology, Yücelen Hospital, Kötekli Mevkii, Muğla 48000, Turkey. tamekir@hotmail.com

Abstract

Coronary bifurcation lesions (CBLs) account for 15%-20% of all percutaneous coronary interventions. The complex nature of these lesions is responsible for poorer procedural, early and late outcomes. This complex lesion subset has received great attention in the interventional cardiac community, and multiple stenting techniques have been developed. Of these, the provisional stenting technique is most often the default strategy; however, the elective double stenting (EDS) technique is preferred in certain subsets of complex CBLs. The double kissing crush technique may be the preferred EDS technique because of its efficacy and safety in comparative trials; however, this technique consists of many steps and requires training. Many new methods have recently been added to the EDS techniques to provide better stent scaffolding and to reduce early and late adverse outcomes. Intravascular imaging is necessary to determine the interventional strategy and postinterventional results. This review discusses the basic concepts, contemporary percutaneous interventional technical approaches, new methods, and controversial treatment issues of CBLs.

Key Words: Percutaneous coronary intervention; Coronary artery disease; Drug-eluting stents; Bifurcation lesion; Stenting technique; Left main intervention

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Coronary bifurcation lesions are one of the most challenging subsets in percutaneous interventions. Many different interventional techniques have been used to overcome the relatively poor procedural and long term outcomes of these lesions of great interest. In this review, basic aspects of coronary bifurcation lesions and step-bystep classical stenting techniques, as well as recently introduced techniques, modifications, trials and important issues in the latest guidelines are discussed.

Citation: Kırat T. Fundamentals of percutaneous coronary bifurcation interventions. World J Cardiol 2022; 14(3): 108-138

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v14/i3/108.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.108

INTRODUCTION

Percutaneous interventions of coronary bifurcation lesions (CBLs) are not only technically challenging, with lower procedural success and higher complication rates, but also have higher thrombosis and restenosis rates than nonbifurcation lesions[1-3]. The broad anatomical (*i.e.*, bifurcation site and angle, and vessel diameters) and pathological (i.e., severity, locations and lengths of the atherosclerotic plaques) spectrum of CBL, as well as dynamic changes (carina, plaque shift and dissection) during intervention are responsible for the complexity of these lesions[3,4]. Many stenting and other interventional techniques have been developed and are used to provide optimum stent scaffolding, resulting in fewer clinical adverse outcomes. Operators should be familiar with these techniques and the basic aspects of CBLs.

BASIC ASPECTS

Anatomy

In epicardial coronary arteries, bifurcations show a fractal geometry [5] (a fractal is a geometric shape in which every smaller structure is similar to the whole part). This geometry provides minimum energy consumption and the optimum amount of blood required for the underlying myocardium[6]. A coronary bifurcation consists of a flow divider (carina) and three vessel segments: The proximal main vessel (PMV), the distal main vessel (DMV) and the side branch (SB) (Figure 1). There is a constant relationship between these three vessels that was identified by Murray's law 95 years ago[7] as:

(Diameter of PMV)³ = (Diameter of DMV)³ + (Diameter of SB)³

Nearly a decade ago, this law was modified in human coronary arteries by the Huo-Kassab law^[8] as: (Diameter of PMV)^{7/3} = (Diameter of DMV)^{7/3} + (Diameter of SB)^{7/3}

Nearly at the same time, Finet's formula was created by IVUS measurements in normal human coronary arteries[9] as:

(Diameter of PMV) = 0.678 (*i.e.*, approximately 2/3) × (Diameter of DMV + Diameter of SB)

Huo *et al*[10] compared these 2 Laws and Finet's formula in the epicardial coronary bifurcations of patients and swine in a later study. They found that Huo-Kassab law accurately predicts all size diameters of the epicardial coronary bifurcation vessels whereas Murray's law and Finet's formula can only do so in certain size subsets[10]. However, due to its simplicity, Finet's formula is the most commonly used in clinical practice in most angiography units.

The polygon of confluence (POC) is an independent area between the PMV, DMV and SB whose boundaries are formed by the lines drawn vertically in the ostium of branches and at the end of the PMV (Figure 1)[11,12]. Finally, the bifurcation angle (carinal angle) is important in accessing the SB and in the decision of the stent treatment strategy.

Definition

A bifurcation lesion is a major epicardial coronary artery stenosis next to and/or including the ostium of a significant side branch [13,14]. A significant SB is a branch whose severe narrowing or acute occlusion before or during intervention can cause considerable ischemia or a new infarction area that will worsen the clinical course of a particular patient. To determine the significance of the SB, not only the diameter, length, location and collateral function of the SB but also the symptoms, left ventricular function and viability of the supplied myocardium should be evaluated [13,14].

Pathophysiology of atherosclerosis in CBL

Bifurcations are among the sites most affected by atherosclerotic processes in the coronary tree. In vitro and recent *in vivo* studies on the anatomy and flow patterns of coronary bifurcations have shown that local flow disturbances and thus endothelial shear stress (ESS) play the most important role in the localization and progression of atherosclerotic plaques[15]. ESS is the tangential force caused by the friction of the flowing blood on the endothelial surface[16]. The major determinants of ESS are the blood viscosity and the spatial gradient of the blood velocity. Endothelial mechanoreceptors sense ESS; and in response to high ESS, these receptors induce many intracellular signaling pathways resulting in the expression of many atheroprotective genes and suppression of many proatherogenic genes. Conversely, in the case of low or oscillatory ESS, atheroprotective genes are suppressed and proatherogenic genes that promote atherosclerosis are upregulated [15-17]. Indeed, in IVUS and autopsy studies of bifurcation



Kırat T. Percutaneous coronary bifurcation interventions



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.108 Copyright © The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 1 Coronary bifurcation anatomy.

lesions, atherosclerosis was most frequently demonstrated in the lateral walls of MVs and side branches where ESS was low and oscillatory and uncommon in the carina where ESS was high[18]. Moreover, the carinal angle was found to affect the severity of atherosclerosis as larger angles have been correlated with increased plaque burden[19]. This is again explained by the role of ESS since larger angles produce lower and more oscillatory ESS in the lateral walls of the bifurcation vessels. Finally, in addition to its most important role in plaque initiation and progression, low ESS has also been found to be associated with rupture-prone atherosclerotic plaque formation[19]. Thus, CBLs have an increased tendency for plaque rupture, platelet aggregation and atherothrombosis[20].

Classification

Various angiographic classifications of CBL have been proposed [21]. Because of its simplicity, the easiest to remember and most prevalently used is the Medina classification [22]. This classification is established on the presence ("1") or absence ("0") of significant stenosis (\geq 50%) in the proximal main vessel (MV), distal MV and SB in CBLs, respectively (Figure 2). According to this classification, two different types are described: "true" and "non-true " CBLs. Significant stenosis (≥ 50%) in both vessels (proximal MV and/or distal MV and SB), *i.e.*, Medina 1,1,1/1,0,1 and 0,1,1 classes are defined as "true", while all others are defined as "non-true" CBLs. "True" bifurcation lesions are more complex and more difficult to treat with poorer outcomes than "non-true" types[23]. However, in true bifurcation lesions, Medina 1,1,1 and 0,1,1 lesions were found to have a higher risk of cardiac death, myocardial infarction (MI), and more SB occlusion than Medina 1,0,1 lesions[23]; and only these two classes have been taken as the criterion or one of the criteria of complex true lesions in many bifurcation (especially left main) trials.

Finally, the Medina classification does not consider other important information that may direct treatment strategies, such as lesion size and length, calcification and bifurcation angles. Therefore, additional modalities such as multislice computed tomography (MSCT), intravascular ultrasound (IVUS), optical coherence tomography (OCT) and fractional flow reserve (FFR) or other functional tests may be necessary to clarify the true classification of a bifurcation lesion and to determine the treatment strategy[24].

PERCUTANEOUS CORONARY INTERVENTION (PCI) TECHNIQUES

Classification

Many stenting techniques have been developed and published. For simplicity, these techniques were classified by the European Bifurcation Club (EBC) as "MADS" in 2008. However, some techniques have been abandoned due to adverse outcomes or lack of effectivity. Therefore, an updated new classification called "MADS-2" was created by the EBC in 2020[25]. This classification is based on the location of the







first stent implanted (as Main vessel, Across side branch, Double lumen in proximal MV or Side branch). Balloon applications and dedicated bifurcation stent types are added to the original form in this new classification[25].

Although MADS-2 involves many stenting techniques, the most widely used major bifurcation stenting techniques recommended by the EBC are as follows[25]: (1) One-stent techniques: The provisional stenting technique (PST) and inverted provisional stenting technique; and (2) Two-stent techniques (Elective, or bail-out in PST): (a) T/T and protrusion (TAP) stenting; (b) Culotte/inverted culotte stenting techniques; and (c) Double kissing (DK)-crush technique.

Vascular access and guiding catheter selection

In one-stent techniques, most CBLs can be treated transradially or transferorally using a 6 Fr guiding catheter (GC). However, if a rotablator with a burr size ≥ 2 mm is used or more than two balloons are used simultaneously in the GC, a 7 Fr or larger GC is required [26]. Although transfemoral is the most preferred route in this situation, an increasing number of operators prefer the transradial route using slender sheaths or sheathless guiding catheters.

Two-stent techniques can also be performed using 6 Fr GC except when there are two stents in the GC at the same time, such as mini-crush, V or simultaneous kissing stenting techniques[27].

Due to the challenging interventional nature of CBLs, guiding catheters with strong support (such as extra back-up guiding catheters for the left coronary artery and AL 0.75, AL1 or AR2 for the right coronary artery (RCA)) should be preferred[28].

Optimal views for bifurcation lesions[28,29]: (1) Left main coronary artery (LMCA) bifurcation: (a) Working view: RAO caudal (0-30°, 25-30°); and (b) Side branch ostium visualization: LAO caudal (30-60°, 25-30°), AP caudal (0, 45-55°); (2) LAD-first diagonal bifurcation: (a) Working view: RAO cranial (10°, 40°); and (b) Side branch ostium visualization: AP/LAO cranial (0-45°, 25-70°); (3) For early diagonals: LAO caudal (45-55°, 25-30°); (4) LCx-first marginal: (a) Working view: RAO caudal (0-15°, 25°); (b) Side branch ostium visualization: AP caudal ($0, 25^{\circ}-40^{\circ}$), LAO caudal ($45-55^{\circ}, 25-30^{\circ}$); and (5) RCA-PDA/PL: (a) Working view: LAO 35-50°; and (b) Side branch ostium visualization: AP/LAO cranial (0-55°, 30-40°).

Which technique should be selected? The PST or the elective double stenting technique?

Most of the randomized comparative trials prior to the mid-2010s showed no difference in major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE) between the PST and elective double stenting (EDS) techniques [26,30,31]. Even, lower mortality rates were found for the PST compared to EDS in two recent metaanalyses[32,33]. As a result, the provisional stenting technique has been recommended as the default strategy for CBLs in the guidelines and consensus statements for more than 15 years. However, it should be noted that the EDS techniques in these trials and meta-analyses were the culotte, T, and crush techniques. After the introduction of the DK-crush technique, in 2011, Chen et al[34] showed that there was a significant reduction in target lesion revascularization (TLR) and target vascular revascularization (TVR) rates in favor of the DK-crush technique vs the PST with no MACE differences in complex true



bifurcation lesions in the DKCRUSH II trial. Later, the DKCRUSH III trial showed that the culotte stenting technique was worse than the DK-crush technique in terms of MACE in patients with unprotected left main (LMCA) bifurcation lesions[35]. Moreover, the DKCRUSH V study presented in 2017 found a lower rate of target lesion failure (TLF) at 1 year with the DK-crush technique than with the PST in complex true LMCA bifurcation lesions[36].

Recently, the 3-year outcomes of the DKCRUSH V trial were published and confirmed the one-year results and additionally showed a reduction in the stent thrombosis rate in favor of the DK-crush technique[37]. Crimi *et al*[38] found that the DK-crush technique lowered device-oriented clinical events (defined as a composite of cardiac death, target-vessel MI, stent thrombosis and TLR or TVR) *vs* the PST and other EDS techniques in their recent meta-analysis. In another concurrent network meta-analysis, Di Gioia *et al*[39] showed that TLR was significantly lower with the DK-crush technique than with the PST and other EDS techniques with no differences in cardiac death, MI or stent thrombosis rates. In addition, in this meta-analysis, a clinical benefit was observed with EDS techniques over PST in CBL with SB lesion lengths ≥ 10 mm. In the recently published DEFINITION II trial, complex bifurcation lesions were defined by the sum of various criteria, as shown in Table 1. In this trial, the EDS technique (DK-crush 77.8%, culotte 17.9%, and other 4.3%) provided a significant reduction in TLF (mainly driven by target vessel MI and clinically driven TLR) compared to the PST in the defined complex bifurcation lesions at one year[40].

Despite the favorable results of the DK-crush technique in randomized studies and two metaanalyses, the recent guidelines still recommend the PST as the default strategy for complex CBLs and a class IIb indication for the DK-crush technique over the PST in true LMCA bifurcations[25,41-43]. The reason for this may be some reservations that have been described[30]: (1) The DK-crush technique has multiple steps and is a challenging technique; (2) The DKCRUSH trials mostly come from the same group of interventional experts who have performed this procedure for many years; and (3) The PST results in these trials were worse than previously published ones, which might be associated with a high SB stenting rate (29%-47%) due to the high rate of long SB lesions (mean 15-17 mm).

When deciding between the PST and EDS, the high risk of SB occlusion should also be considered, as SB occlusion may result in serious adverse clinical outcomes[44]. SB occlusion predictors by angiography, IVUS and OCT have been described recently[44,45]. Angiographically, plaque on the same side of the SB, SB stenosis > 50%, POC stenosis > 50%, bifurcation angle > 70%, MV/SB diameter ratio (diameter of PMV+DMV/2×diameter of SB) > 1 and a low MV TIMI flow grade were found to be predictors of SB occlusion after MV stenting. A risk score was described based on these predictors[44]. According to this risk score, higher stenosis rates, larger bifurcation angles, larger MV/SB diameter ratios, a lower TIMI flow grade, and more predictors result in higher SB occlusion rates[44].

The recently published EBC-MAIN study, which compared the PST and EDS techniques in LMCA bifurcation lesions, showed that there were fewer MACE in the PST than EDS, although the difference was statistically insignificant. The authors consequently recommended the PST as the default strategy for LMCA bifurcation lesions. However, it should be noted that the DK-crush technique was used in only 5% of the EDS patients in this trial. In addition, the mean lesion lengths of the side vessels were not long: 5.8 cm and 7.9 cm in the PST and EDS patients, respectively[46].

Consequently, for non-true CBL, the default strategy is the PST[47]. In true complex CBL (Medina 1,1,1 or 0,1,1), if the SB is ≥ 2.5 mm and the SB lesion length ≥ 10 mm or the likelihood of SB occlusion is high or SB wiring is difficult, it is better to choose EDS; otherwise, the PST is preferred[38,39,41,45,48]. In true non-complex CBL (Medina 1,0,1), the inverted PST may be an appropriate treatment if there is no large difference between the SB and the PMV diameter[42]; otherwise, and in the case of the above risks, EDS may be preferred[39,45,48,49]. A proposed algorithm for choosing between the PST/inverted PST and the EDS technique is shown in Figure 3.

The ongoing BBK3 trial will provide more data on the outcomes of the PST or EDS techniques in non-LMCA bifurcation lesions[50].

The choice between the different EDS techniques depends partially on the bifurcation angle. The T technique can only be applied at bifurcation angles very close to 90°[25]. The TAP technique can be performed at bifurcation angles from 70°-90°. Culotte/inverted culotte stenting and the DK-crush techniques (unlike the crush technique) can be implemented regardless of the bifurcation angle[51,52]; however, applying the culotte technique at < 70° angles gives better results[35]. If the bifurcation angle is from 70°-90°, due to simplicity and familiarity, an increasing number of operators are using the T/TAP technique not only when a second stent is required in the PST[53] but also in the EDS technique as the first-line therapy and perform the culotte/inverted culotte or DK-crush techniques if the angle is < 70° [41,54].

In conclusion, in view of recent data, the DK-crush technique may be preferred over the other twostent techniques regardless of the bifurcation angle; however, it is a complex procedure with many steps, and the operator's familiarity with a particular technique is an important factor in the choice of which EDS technique to perform and in obtaining the best result^[45].

Raisbideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 DEFINITION criteria for a complex coronary bifurcation lesion[40]						
Major criteria	Complex lesion definition	Minor criteria				
For left main bifurcation (Major 1)	Major 1 or Major 2 + any 2 minor criteria	> Mild calcification				
SB lesion length ≥ 10 mm and SB diameter stenosis $\geq 70\%$	Multiple lesions					
		Bifurcation angle < 45° or > 70°				
For non-left main bifurcation (Major 2)		MV-RVD < 2.5 mm				
SB lesion length ≥ 10 mm and SB diameter stenosis $\geq 90\%$		MV lesion length $\ge 25 \text{ mm}$				
		Thrombus-containing lesions				

All bifurcation lesions are in Medina 1,1,1 or 0,1,1. MV: Main vessel; RVD: Reference vessel diameter; SB: Side branch

PST

The step-by-step PST is shown in Figure 4.

Wiring the vessels

In addition to the MV, the SB should also be wired in all CBLs. This wire helps to prevent SB occlusion after MV stenting, serves as a marker in case of SB occlusion, widens the angle between the PMV and SB for easier access, enhances support of the guiding catheter, and finally can be used as a rescue balloon guidewire that will be described later. To prevent the two wires from wrapping, the more difficult vessel (mostly the SB) should be wired first, and the second wire should be inserted without much manipulation.

Wire types and shaping

The types of wires are left to the operator's preference. Any type of wire (hydrophilic with or without polymer coating and hydrophobic) can be used[55,56]. One necessary point is not to jail the radiopaque tip part of the wire in the SB ostium during MV stenting.

Both wires should be ready for the exchange technique if needed after MV stenting. To accomplish this, the MV guidewire tip should be angled so that its length will be longer than the proximal MV reference diameter to reach the SB ostium. A 1-1.5 mm secondary bend can also be added to the tip to hook the struts of the MV stent[57]. The SB wire should be prepared as a sharp angled short tip that will make it easier to create a "U" shape to pass through the MV stent during wire exchange[58]. The MV wire should not be pushed too distally in order to maintain the shape of the tip for exchange and to reduce the risk of distal perforation or dissection that can occur during many maneuvers.

Troubleshooting SB wiring problems

SB wiring may be difficult in the following circumstances: a bifurcation angle greater than 70°-90°, severe ostial SB stenosis, MV stenosis or severe calcifications in the proximal MV and/or ostial SB. In addition, tortuosity before or at the SB take-off may flatten or change the angle of the wire, resulting in difficult SB wiring[58].

Possible solutions for solving the SB wiring problem are the following[52,58]: (1) If the problem is wide angulation, a wide smooth bend or double bend shape given to the tip can help; (2) The workhorse wire can be replaced with a stiffer or hydrophilic polymer-coated wire. Stiffer wires are preferred first because hydrophilic wires can easily go subintimally and cause dissection or perforation; (3) Pull-back wire technique: A wide smooth bent or double bent wire is advanced into the DMV and pulled back to intubate the SB ostium. After intubating, a gentle counterclockwise rotation allows the wire to advance in the SB; (4) Reverse wire technique: When the SB has an excessively angled take-off (greater than 90°), a polymer-jacket wire with a 3-5 cm tip bent 180°, like a hairpin, is used in this technique (Figure 5). The wire is advanced in the DMV and pulled back to the bifurcation, and an attempt is made to enter the SB ostium. After intubation, the wire is gently withdrawn and gently rotated counterclockwise to allow the wire to advance in the SB; (5) A dual lumen microcatheter, a steerable-tip microcatheter (Venture, Teleflex, Wayne, PA, United States) or an angled microcatheter (SuperCross 45-90-120°-XT, Teleflex) can be used to direct the wire to the SB; (6) When there is a large plaque burden that prevents wiring the SB, debulking techniques such as rotational/orbital atherectomy or laser may be used; (7) Balloon dilatation of the MV to modify the plaque is performed by many operators as a last effort. However, it can cause plaque and/or carina shift, resulting in SB occlusion; and (8) Finally, if the SB cannot be wired, the decision to abandon the procedure can be made based on the patient's clinicopathological condition.

Zaishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Proposed algorithm for selecting an optimum percutaneous coronary intervention strategy in both left main coronary artery and non-left main coronary artery bifurcation lesions. ¹Plaque on the same side of SB, SB stenosis > 50%, POC stenosis > 50%, bifurcation angle > 70%, MV/SB diameter ratio (diameter of PMV+DMV/2×diameter of SB) >1 and low MV TIMI flow grade are predictors of a high likelihood of SB occlusion. The larger the size of the numbers and/or the lower the TIMI flow grade and/or the more predictors, the higher the risk of SB occlusion. A recently created SB occlusion risk score may be used[44]. ²The DK-crush technique seems to be preferable to the other EDS techniques in view of the recent data; however, the operator's experience is decisive in the choice between the EDS technique and is important in obtaining the best result. ³The TAP technique cannot be considered the upfront technique in cases with difficult SB access and a high risk of SB occlusion because of SB stenting after MV stenting. CBL: Coronary bifurcation lesion; EDS: Elective double stenting; LCx: Left circumflex artery; LMCA: Left main coronary artery; MV: Main vessel; POC: Polygon of confluence; PST: Provisional stenting technique; SB: Side branch.

Predilation of the MV and the SB

Optimal preparation of the MV is necessary before stenting. Therefore, the operator can decide to predilate the MV and/or perform any debulking procedure according to the MV lesion properties.

Routine predilation of the SB has been a controversial issue in the PST. Predilation aims to prevent SB closure after MV stenting; however, it can cause dissection that may prevent guidewire advancement during wire exchange or may require an extra stent in the SB. A prospective randomized study showed that SB predilation resulted in improved flow with less need to treat the SB[59]. However, another double-blind smaller randomized study and a recent meta-analysis of eight trials demonstrated the opposite: SB predilation increased SB intervention rates and made no difference in procedural angiographic and long-term major cardiovascular outcomes[60,61]. Consequently, it seems that routine predilation of the SB cannot be recommended currently. Conditions that favor SB predilation with an undersized non-compliant balloon are severe ostial SB narrowing, extensive SB calcification, difficult SB access or decreased flow after MB predilation and/or debulking[14,49].



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.108 Copyright © The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 4 Provisional stenting technique, step-by-step. A: Both branches are wired; B: A stent sized to the distal MV diameter is implanted in the MV; C: Proximal optimization technique (POT) application with a balloon sized to the proximal MV diameter with its distal shoulder aligned to the carina; D: Stent view after POT. If the result is satisfactory, stop here. If not, proceed to step E; E: Guidewire exchange; First, the SB is wired through the most distal cell. Second, the retracted and released SB wire is advanced into the distal MV as a "U" shape; F1: Kissing balloon inflation sized to branch diameters, or F2: SB ostium ballooning as a part of the POT-side-POT technique; G: Final POT; and H: Final result. MV: Main vessel; POT: Proximal optimization technique; SB: Side branch.

When the SB is predilated, the angiographic result should be carefully evaluated before MV stenting. In situations where the SB is compromised, such as dissection or difficult SB access, the operator should be ready to change the stenting strategy to another strategy, such as the inverted PST or the DK-crush technique[49].

Newer side branch protection techniques

To prevent side branch occlusion during the PST, various novel techniques have been developed recently: the pre-kissing technique, jailed balloon, jailed semi-inflated balloon and modified jailed balloon techniques. The pre-kissing technique involves the simultaneous dilation of two undersized balloons (one in the MV and the other in the SB) whose proximal parts are aligned in the proximal MV before MV stenting. The aim of this technique is to sustain the central position of the carina while moving the atherosclerotic plaques away. Using first-generation drug eluting stents (DESs), this technique was shown to reduce SB-related complications in a small retrospective study[62].

The jailed balloon technique (JBT) and the jailed semi-inflated balloon technique (JSBT) involve implanting an MV stent while a semi-compliant balloon is in the SB protruding to the MV. The proximal marker of the SB balloon is positioned to align or 1-2 mm proximal to the marker of the MV stent (Figure 6). The SB balloon is uninflated (JBT) or inflated to low or moderate pressure (< 3 to 7 atm)



Figure 5 Reverse wire technique. A, B: The wire shaped as a hairpin is advanced into the distal main vessel and withdrawn back to the carina; C, D: When the tip intubates the side branch (SB) ostium, slight withdrawal and gentle counterclockwise rotation allow the wire to advance in the SB.



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.108 Copyright © The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 6 Jailed balloon technique and jailed semi-inflated balloon technique. A: A balloon is positioned in the side branch (SB) to align or 1-2 mm proximal to the main vessel (MV) stent in the proximal MV; B: The stent is deployed while the SB balloon is kept inflated at a low or moderate pressure (in the jailed semi-inflated balloon technique) or uninflated (in the jailed balloon technique); C: Both balloons are removed; D: Proximal optimization technique sized to the proximal MV diameter; and E: Final result.

> (JSBT) during MV stent balloon inflation at nominal pressure. After MV stent implantation, if the SB flow is not compromised (i.e., TIMI-3 flow), the uninflated SB balloon is inflated at low (< 3 atm) pressure in the JBT (not shown in Figure 6). If less than TIMI-3 flow in the SB is observed, the SB balloon is inflated at nominal pressure. After the balloons are removed, the proximal optimization technique (POT) is performed in the PMV[63,64].

> In the modified jailed balloon technique (M-JBT), the MV stent is positioned across the SB, and a balloon is placed in the SB with its proximal end touching the MB stent (Figure 7). Both the MV stent and SB balloon are inflated at the same nominal pressure (e.g., 12 atm) simultaneously. After deflation and removal of the balloons, the POT is performed in the PMV[65].

> All three JBTs, the jailed semi-inflated balloon technique and the M-JBT were investigated in smallsized trials and found to have low SB loss, SB dissection and MACE rates[66,67]; however, larger randomized controlled trials are required for the routine use of these new techniques in the PST.

MV stenting

The preferred type of stent is new-generation DESs which reduce the risk of restenosis and repeat interventions compared to bare metal stents and early-generation DESs[68,69]. The diameter of the MV stent should be chosen at a 1:1 ratio according to the reference distal MV size (Figure 4B). The implantation of a larger stent can cause distal dissection and carinal shift, which can result in severe narrowing or even occlusion of the SB. The length of the stent should be selected so that its PMV part will be equal to or longer than the shortest balloon available (usually 6-8 mm) for the subsequent POT [25,48]. The stent should be implanted at nominal pressures, avoiding overexpansion, which is called the "distal optimization technique" (called "DOT" in the literature)[53].

POT

Since the diameter of the MV stent is chosen according to the diameter of the DMV, a semi-compliant or non-compliant balloon sized to the PMV diameter should be inflated in the PMV stent part to correct malapposition^[25] (Figures 4B and 4C). The distal shoulder of the balloon (the point where balloon parallelism ends) should be aligned to the level of the carina so as to avoid stent underexpansion at the





Figure 7 Modified jailed balloon technique. A: Semicompliant balloon in the side branch is positioned with its proximal end touching the main vessel (MV) stent; B: Both the MV stent and balloon are inflated at the same nominal pressure; C: Both balloons are removed; D: Proximal optimization technique sized to proximal MV diameter; E: Final result.

> polygon of confluence (occurs when placed more proximally) and carinal shift (occurs when placed more distally)[70]. Many operators use the distal balloon marker as the distal shoulder; however, as the location of this marker varies between manufacturers, the operator should be familiar with the design of the balloon used to avoid misplacement [49,71]. The POT corrects the malapposition of the stent in the PMV, prevents understrut passing of subsequent wires, provides strut protrusion into the SB and widens the distance between struts in the SB ostium which facilitates subsequent wire and balloon passing into the SB.

> When the POT balloon is shorter than the PMV stent part, the POT must be applied to the entire PMV stent part. Furthermore, the POT balloon should not be longer than the PMV part of the stent; otherwise, it can cause proximal stent edge dissection.

> Finally, the overexpansion capacity of the available stent types should be known to select the correct stent in order to provide natural fractal anatomy of the coronary bifurcation with the POT [72] (Table 2).

Is routine kissing balloon inflation or POT-side-POT technique necessary after the first POT?

KBI involves the inflation of two non-compliant balloons (one in the MV and the other in the SB) whose proximal parts are aligned in the proximal MV. The aim of this procedure after MV stenting is to remove the stent struts at the SB ostium, to eliminate the stenosis in the SB, and to maintain the carina in its central position.

In a recent meta-analysis, routine final KBI resulted in a significant reduction in SB restenosis, but an increase in MV restenosis rates with no significant differences in clinical outcomes^[73]. Another recent larger meta-analysis of final KBI vs no-final KBI in PST trials also showed similar results in that there was no difference in terms of MACEs and other outcomes^[74].

SB dilatation to open the struts at the ostium of the SB after MV stent implantation was shown to cause stent distortion with malapposition of struts at the opposite side of the SB ostium in bench studies [75,76]. Therefore, the POT or KBI should be performed to correct this distortion[71,75,76]. POT-side-POT is a new technique that involves initial POT + SB balloon dilatation + final POT (or re-POT) and will be described later.

Presently, there are no convincing data for KBI and insufficient data for the POT-side-POT technique to recommend either of them for routine use after the first POT in PST.

When should we treat the SB after the POT?

After the POT, if the SB flow is TIMI-3 and there is < 75% stenosis in the ostium, or no dissection, then the operation is completed.

After MV stenting, the MV plaque and/or carina shift can create an angiographic image of SB ostial narrowing. However, angiography is unreliable with regard to the functional significance of SB stenosis in this situation. It was shown in a study that none of the < 75% and only 27% of the SB stenoses \ge 75% were found to be significant with the FFR[77]. This situation can be explained by the oval shape of the SB ostium (the narrower the carinal angle, the more oval the ostium) (Figure 8), the edge effect originating from angiography^[57] and the recently shown elliptical stretch of the SB ostium after MV stenting[78].

Consequently, severe stenosis (\geq 75%) in the SB ostium, FFR \leq 0.8, less than TIMI-3 flow or dissection in the SB requires SB intervention.

Technical steps of SB intervention after the POT

If the SB requires intervention after MV stenting and the POT, the sequential techniques and technical steps are as follows:



Table 2 Maximum-expansion capacity of stents								
Manufacturer	Stent type	Stent size (mm)	Balloon¹ (bench test) (mm)	Maximum expansion (bench test) (mm)[72]	Maximum expansion (mm) (manufacturer recommendation)			
Biosensors	Biomatrix A	3	5	4.1	-			
		4	6	5.9	5.8			
Medtronic	Resolute Onyx	2.5	4	3.3	-			
		3	5	4.4	-			
		4	6	5.6	-			
		5	6	6	6			
Biotronik	Orsiro	3	5	4	-			
		4	6	5.3	4.4			
Abbott	Xience	3	5	4.1	3.75			
		4	6	5.6	5.5			
Terumo	Ultimaster	3	5	4.3	-			
		4	6	5.8	5.5			
Boston Scientific	Synergy	2.75	5	3.6	3.5			
		3.5	5	4.2	4.25			
		4	6	5.7	5.75			

¹In the bench test, all balloons are inflated at 14 *atm*[72].



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.108 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 8 Effect of bifurcation angle on side branch ostium ellipticity. Narrower angles result in more oval ostium shapes.

Guidewire exchange technique: The MV wire tip is pulled to the level of the carina and tried to pass into the SB through the most distal cell of the MV stent (carinal cell) at the SB ostium (Figure 4E). The passing of the wire through the distal cell is very important in the PST as subsequent balloon inflation will direct the struts to the non-carinal ostial segment of the SB, providing better scaffolding[26]. The jailed SB wire should not be retracted until the MV wire passes into the SB, since this wire indicates the SB ostium location and can be used when a rescue balloon is required as described next.

If the wire cannot be passed through the stent struts into the SB, the following options are available: (1) It can be reshaped; (2) The POT with a larger balloon can be performed again to open the cells and remove the struts at the SB ostium; (3) A hydrophilic polymer-coated or a stiffer wire can be used; (4) A



steerable-tip microcatheter (Venture, Teleflex), an angled microcatheter (SuperCross, Teleflex) or a dual lumen microcatheter can be used; and (5) Finally, a small balloon (1-1.5 mm) can be passed through the jailed wire under the stent struts and dilated at the ostium of the SB, which not only rescues the SB in case of occlusion but also allows the MV wire to enter the SB[26]. In extreme cases, the inverted crush technique can be implemented as a last effort to rescue the occluded SB.

After the MV wire is inserted in the SB, the jailed SB wire is withdrawn until it comes out under the stent struts and is then pushed forward into the stent. At this time, the tip should be formed into a "U" shape to easily cross the MV stent, avoiding passing under the struts (Figure 4E). While the jailed SB wire is being retracted, the guiding catheter may intubate deeply into the vessel, which can cause dissection and longitudinal stent deformation in the case of LMCA stenting[26]. Therefore, the guiding catheter tip should be withdrawn a few mm into the aorta beforehand; and while retracting the wire with right hand, the operator should control the guiding catheter with left hand while closely monitoring its tip[26].

Rarely, the jailed wire cannot be easily removed under the struts. In this case, a small balloon passed over the jailed wire with or without inflation at the jailed site may help.

Instead of the wire exchange technique, a third wire can be used to pass into the SB while the jailed wire is in place. The third wire is advanced into the DMV and then retracted back, and an attempt is made to enter through the most distal cell.

Kissing balloon inflation technique: After exchanging the wires, a non-compliant balloon sized to the SB diameter is inserted into the SB, and another non-compliant balloon sized to the DMV diameter is inserted into the MV. The balloons should be sufficiently short to prevent inflation outside the MV stent and disease-free regions in the SB. Moreover, minimal balloon overlap is recommended to keep elliptical stent deformation in the PMV to a minimum (Figure 4F1)[25,79]. First, the SB balloon is inflated at a high pressure to open the struts and eliminate the stenosis; and after deflation, the MV balloon is inflated to a high pressure. Subsequently, to maintain the carina in its central position, simultaneous inflation and deflation of both balloons is conducted using moderate pressures (at approximately 8-10 atm) as high pressures cause more oval distortion in the PMV segment of the stent[25].

A modified kissing balloon inflation (KBI) technique investigated in a bench test study was described by Mortier et al[80]. In this technique, the SB balloon is inflated to 12 atm and deflated to 4 atm. Then, the MB balloon is inflated to 12 atm; and finally, both balloons are deflated simultaneously. This technique was found to cause less elliptical stent deformation of the PMV segment with optimization of SB access compared to KBI with 12 atm inflation and deflation of both balloons simultaneously.

After KBI, to correct the oval (elliptical) stent deformation in the PMV segment, the POT should be performed again, which is termed the re-POT or final POT. In a recent bench test study, the position of the re-POT balloon was found to be an important factor in the alteration of the SB cell area size of the MV stent. The distal shoulder of the balloon positioned across the SB takeoff caused a reduction in the SB cell area whereas the distal shoulder positioned proximal to the SB takeoff did not[71]. The results of future in vivo tests and clinical studies of this approach are needed.

Balloon crossing problem to the SB: If the balloon does not cross to the SB through the stent struts, the following steps are performed [26,51]: (1) The first step is to check the position of the guiding catheter to determine whether it is at the ostium and coaxial to the vessel; (2) The second step is to use a smaller or the smallest balloon (1-1.5 mm) available; (3) It is suspected that the two wires are wrapped if the balloon cannot be forwarded to the SB ostium or if the MV wire is observed coming back while pushing the balloon. In this case, the MV wire is withdrawn back to the GC and inserted again into the DMV; (4) The next step is to inflate a balloon in the DMV stent part to increase the support of the GC (the anchorballoon technique); (5) Performing the re-POT with a larger balloon to open the cells at the ostium of the SB is another choice; (6) Some operators advance a small balloon until it stops at the SB ostium, inflate it at high pressure with the objective of opening the struts, and then try to advance the balloon while deflating it [81]; and (7) As a last effort, the SB can be rewired from a different stent cell.

POT-Side-POT technique: After the first POT and exchanging wires, instead of the KBI, the POT-Side-(re)POT technique was proposed as an alternative and is increasingly used [82-84]. Technically, after the first POT, a balloon sized to the SB diameter is dilated in the SB to eliminate stenosis and remove the struts at the ostium, followed by the re-POT (Figures 4F2 and 4G). Because only one balloon is inserted and inflated at a time, this technique can be performed with 5 Fr guiding catheters, requires only one indeflator, and permits more proper balloon positioning. In a small recent clinical prospective registry using optical coherence tomography (OCT), the global strut malapposition, ellipticity index and SB occlusion rates were significantly reduced with a good sixth-month safety outcome^[83].

Inverted PST

In Medina 0,0,1 bifurcation lesions with a very large SB (for ex., ostial circumflex or ostial diagonal lesion), a stent from the PMV to the SB may be implanted. This is called the "inverted PST" [25]. In addition, if there is no large difference between the PMV and the SB, this technique can also be performed in Medina 1,0,1 Lesions (Figure 3). The technical steps are the same as for the PST. The only difference is that the DMV is considered the SB and the SB is considered the DMV.



SIDE BRANCH STENTING FOLLOWING THE PST

After KBI or POT-side-POT techniques, if there is dissection, TIMI flow grade < 3 or FFR ≤ 0.8 in the SB, a second stent is required. Since there is a poor correlation between angiography and FFR measurements, when there is a suspicion of severe stenosis in the SB ostium after PST, it is better to use FFR to decide on SB stent implantation[14].

T/TAP stenting techniques

These stenting techniques are the simplest methods of second stent implantation in the PST. If the bifurcation angle is very close to 90°, then implanting a second stent in the SB as a "T form" is suitable. Technically, optimal angiographic views of the SB ostium should be obtained and stent augmentation tools should be used for successful T stenting[25].

Bench test studies and clinical practice have demonstrated that the bifurcation angle is usually not 90°; thus, the second stent may not completely cover the SB ostium with the T stenting technique, resulting in increased restenosis rates[25]. Therefore, the TAP stenting technique was developed. The TAP technique allows complete coverage of the SB ostium at the cost of creating a metallic neocarina. The length of the metallic neocarina depends on the bifurcation angle; the narrower the bifurcation angle is, the longer the length of the neocarina. For this reason, the TAP technique is generally not recommended at bifurcation angles $< 70^{\circ}$.

The technical steps of the TAP technique in the PST are as follows[25] (Figure 9): (1) After the MV stenting and exchanging wires, the SB ostium is dilated with a balloon; (2) A DES of the SB diameter and appropriate length is positioned in the SB; (3) A balloon sized to DMV diameter is placed uninflated in the MV for use in subsequent KBI; (4) The SB stent is implanted with great care so that the non-carinal ostium is completely covered with minimal protrusion in the carinal segment (Figure 9B); (5) After the implantation of the SB stent, the stent balloon is slightly withdrawn and inflated at high pressure to provide optimum stent expansion in the SB ostium and postdilation of the stent (Figure 9C); (6) The uninflated, parked MV balloon and SB stent balloon are aligned in the PMV. Simultaneous KBI at moderate pressure and deflation are implemented to hold the neocarina in a central position; and (7) As a last step, the re-POT is performed to correct the oval shape if KBI has been implemented in a long segment in the PMV; otherwise, this step is not mandatory. It is of upmost importance that the re-POT balloon should not reach the metallic neocarina (Figure 9E). If this happens, the neocarina can bend to the SB side, which can result in rejailing and reduction in the SB ostial cell area[71].

Culotte stenting technique in the PST (classical culotte technique)

TAP is the most often used technique in the PST due to its simplicity; however, when the bifurcation angle is less than 70°, some operators prefer to use the culotte technique first introduced by Chevalier et al[85]. The culotte technique provides full coverage of the bifurcation; however, two layers of struts in the PMV are the disadvantage of this technique. Furthermore, before deciding to perform this technique, the overexpansion capacity of the available stent types should be known (Table 2)[72]. If the maximum expanded diameter of the available SB stent is less than the diameter of the PMV according to the table, then the culotte technique cannot be performed. This is especially the case when there is a large difference between the PMV and SB diameters.

The technical steps of culotte stenting in PST are the following[25] (Figure 10): (1) After the stages of the PST are completed (Figures 10A-C), wire exchange and balloon dilatation of the SB ostium is performed (Figures 10D and E); (2) A DES with the same diameter as the SB and an appropriate length that extends from the SB to overlap the proximal part of the MV stent is implanted while the MV wire is in place. The overlap part is long in the classical culotte technique but is kept at 1-3 mm in the "miniculotte" technique (Figure 10F); (3) A new POT is performed through the SB wire with a non-compliant balloon sized to the PMV. The balloon distal shoulder should be aligned to the carinal level (Figure 10G); (4) Wire exchange should be performed for the second time. It should be noted that the SB wire must be passed from the cell closest to the carina into the DMV (Figure 10H). This allows the deployed SB stent struts to move to the lateral walls of the MV rather than the carina and the SB ostium during the next balloon inflation. The MV wire is retracted under the SB stent and advanced into the SB as a "U" shape; (5) A non-compliant balloon sized to the DMV and another non-compliant balloon sized to the SB are advanced into the relevant vessels, and the proximal balloon markers are aligned in the PMV. Each balloon is inflated at high pressure and deflated sequentially, followed by KBI at moderate pressures (Figure 10I); and (6) A last POT should be performed for correcting the oval shape created by previous KBI (Figure 10J).

ELECTIVE DOUBLE STENTING TECHNIQUES

Inverted culotte stenting technique

To maintain access to the SB during the procedure, the culotte stenting technique was modified to the "inverted culotte stenting technique" in elective double-stent implantation. Similar to the culotte





DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.108 Copyright © The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 9 Step-by-step T and protrusion technique. A: After main vessel (MV) stenting, an uninflated balloon is positioned in the MV, and the side branch (SB) ostium is dilated by a balloon; B: The SB stent is deployed with minimal protrusion and covers the ostium completely; C: The stent balloon is withdrawn slightly and inflated at high pressure; D: Kissing balloon inflation; E: Proximal optimization technique with a short balloon not reaching the neocarina. (This step is not mandatory if the kissing balloon inflation area in the proximal MV is not long.); F: Final result.

> technique, the inverted culotte technique provides full coverage of the bifurcation at the expense of two layers of struts in the PMV, and it cannot be performed when there is a large difference between the PMV and SB diameters.

> The technical steps of inverted culotte stenting are as follows (Figure 11): (1) Both branches are wired, and MV predilation and/or debulking is performed with predilation of the SB; (2) A stent sized 1:1 to the SB diameter is deployed in the SB protruding into the PMV. The length of the stent is selected so that the PMV part is sufficiently long enough for the subsequent POT. In the "mini-culotte technique" introduced a decade ago, the PMV part of the SB stent is kept as short as 1-3 mm to reduce the length of the two stent layers [86,87] (Figure 11B). This technique was found to be associated with high procedural success and very good 9-month outcomes in a pilot study[88]. Randomized, controlled, larger comparative studies are needed to confirm the favorable outcomes of this method; (3) The PMV part of the stent is dilated with a non-compliant or semicompliant balloon sized to 1:1 to the PMV diameter. This is the first POT (Figure 11C); (4) Wire exchange (or a third wire advancement) should then be performed. The DMV should be wired from the closest cell to the carina for the reasons described above (Figure 11D); (5) Stent struts are opened by a DMV balloon. Instead, KBI, which is part of the recently introduced "DK-culotte technique", can be performed [89,90] (Figure 11E). This technique was found to achieve better morphological properties than classical culotte stenting in a bench test study[89], and it reduced the total procedural time with better strut apposition than the culotte and even the DK-crush techniques in another study[90]; (6) An MV stent sized 1:1 to the DMV diameter is advanced and implanted. The length of the PMV part should be sufficient to cover the PMV part of the SB and be at least equal to the shortest POT balloon (Figure 11F); (7) A second POT is performed in the PMV (Figure 11G); (8) A second wire exchange is performed by passing the MV wire through the closest cell to the carina into the SB and the U-shaped SB wire into the DMV (Figure 11H); (9) KBI is performed with short non-compliant balloons sized 1:1 to the branches. Before KBI, sequential balloon inflation is recommended. The SB balloon is first inflated to a high pressure; and after deflation, the MV balloon is inflated to a high pressure. Then, both balloons are inflated at moderate pressures (at approximately 8-10 atm) and deflated simultaneously (Figure 111). A recent mini-KBI in culotte stenting was described in a bench test study[91]. In this technique, the SB balloon only protrudes into the MV at the upper edge of the SB, and the KBI is performed. Compared to classical KBI, this modification significantly prevented stent deformation and overexpansion in the MV stent and provided better apposition of the MV stent and better expansion of the SB stent[91]; and (10) A final POT is performed in the PMV (Figure 11]).

Double-kissing crush technique

The crush technique was first introduced by Colombo *et al*[92]. The aim of this technique was to provide full coverage of the ostium to lessen SB restenosis with immediate patency of both branches. However,



Kırat T. Percutaneous coronary bifurcation interventions



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.108 Copyright © The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 10 Step-by-step classical (provisional) culotte stenting. A: Both vessels are wired; B: After predilatation, the main vessel (MV) stent sized to the distal MV is deployed; C: First proximal optimization technique (POT); D: Wire exchange; E: Balloon dilatation of the side branch (SB) ostium; F: Deployment of the SB stent protruding into the proximal MV (1-3 mm in "mini-culotte" (shown) or more in classical culotte technique); G: POT for the SB stent; H: Second wire exchange with wiring the distal MV through the closest cell to the carina, and the other wire tip is "U" shaped to cross the SB stent; I: Kissing balloon inflation; J: Final POT; K: Final result.

> in clinical practice and in trials, the rate of achievable KBI was found to be low, leading to suboptimal long-term outcomes. Thus, this technique is no longer recommended[49]. Some modifications of this technique, such as "mini-crush" [93], "step-crush" [94], and "double-kissing (DK) crush" [95] were described. As described before, the DK crush technique has received great attention due to its high final KBI success rate and its efficacy with long-term safety in complex bifurcation lesions in a series of trials [25,34-36,96]. Nonetheless, this technique is complex with many steps that require proper training and experience.

> The technical steps of the contemporary DK-crush technique are as follows [25] (Figure 12): (1) After wiring the two branches, optimal preparation of the MV with balloon inflation and/or debulking with predilatation of the SB is performed; (2) A DES, sized to the SB diameter and with a length to ensure full coverage of the SB lesion, is advanced into the SB. The stent is positioned protruding 2-3 mm into the



Baishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.108 Copyright © The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 11 Step-by-step inverted culotte stenting. A: Both vessels are wired; B: The side branch (SB) stent protruding in the proximal main vessel is deployed (protrusion part is 1-3 mm in the "Mini-culotte technique"); C: Proximal optimization technique (POT) for the SB stent; D: Wire exchange. The distal main vessel (MV) wiring from the closest cell to the carina and the "U" shaped wire is advanced into the SB; E: Kissing balloon inflation (KBI) (in the "double kissing miniculotte "technique) or classical balloon dilatation only in the distal MV ostium may be performed; F: MV stenting; G: POT for the MV stent; H: Second wire exchange. Wiring the SB through the closest cell to the carina and the "U" shaped wire crossing the MV stent; I: KBI; J: Final POT; K: Final result.

> PMV (Figure 12A); (3) A balloon sized to the PMV is positioned in the MV to crush the stent later. This balloon will be kept uninflated until the crushing procedure (Figure 12A); (4) After the SB stent is implanted, a new method called the "proximal side optimization" described by Lavarra[97,98] and considered useful by the EBC[25] may be performed. In this method, the stent balloon is slightly withdrawn and inflated at 4-6 atm higher than the nominal pressure (Figure 12B); and after removing this balloon, a new NC balloon (0.25-0.5 mm larger than the SB stent) is again inflated in the protruding part of the stent and the SB ostium (Figure 12C). The purpose of this method is to achieve adequate expansion and apposition of the SB stent in the ostium and to provide a larger stent cell area for rewiring; (5) After the SB balloon is removed, angiography should be performed to evaluate the results of SB stent implantation, such as the stent expansion, flow pattern, distal dissection or new lesion development. If an additional stent is required, it should be implanted at this time as the SB wire will be

Kırat T. Percutaneous coronary bifurcation interventions



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.108 Copyright © The Author(s) 2022.

Figure 12 Step-by-step double kissing-crush technique. A: After the preparation of the vessels, the side branch (SB) stent protruding 2-3 mm into the proximal main vessel (MV) is deployed while an uninflated proximal optimization technique (POT) balloon is positioned in the MV; B, C: "Proximal side optimization". A slightly withdrawn stent balloon is inflated at a higher pressure. Then, a new larger NC balloon is inflated in the protruding stent part to further open the struts; D: Crushing the stent by POT after the SB balloon and wire are removed; E: Wiring the SB through a non-distal cell; F: First kissing balloon inflation (KBI) after sequential inflation of the two balloons; G: MV stenting after the SB balloon and wire are removed; H: Second POT; I: Wiring the SB through a non-distal cell for the second time; J: Second KBI; K: Final POT; L: Final result.

> removed in the next step and rewiring and stent advancement may be challenging in later steps^[99]; (6) The SB wire is removed (some operators leave it in), and the pending uninflated MV balloon is positioned with its distal shoulder aligned to the carina. High-pressure inflation (POT) is performed to crush the protruding part of the SB stent, which is called "balloon crushing" [25]. It was demonstrated in bench tests that the POT is required to achieve total crushing. (Figure 12D); (7) The SB is rewired through a non-distal cell of the crushed stent (Figure 12E). Non-distal cell rewiring, the opposite of distal rewiring in the PST, is important because more frequent suboptimal KBI results and higher SB stent restenosis were found with distal wiring[100]. The mechanism of this is explained by the fact that the



Saishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

KBI in the distal cell pushes the stent struts to the proximal side, causing incomplete coverage of the distal 1/3 of the SB ostium[100]. How to overcome wiring problems is explained in the relevant section of the PST; (8) An SB balloon sized 1:1 to the SB diameter and an MV balloon sized 1:1 to the DMV diameter are advanced. To perform the first KBI, the SB balloon is inflated at high pressure to open the struts; and after deflation, the MV balloon is inflated at high pressure. Eventually, simultaneous inflation and deflation of both balloons with moderate pressures (at approximately 8-10 atm) is conducted (Figure 12F). How to overcome balloon crossing problems is explained in the relevant section of the PST; (9) The two balloons and the SB wire are removed. A DES sized 1:1 to the DMV diameter is positioned across the SB covering all the distal and proximal MV lesions and deployed (Figure 12G). The PMV part of the DES should be at least equal to the shortest POT balloon; (10) After removing the stent balloon, a repeat POT with a balloon sized 1:1 to the PMV diameter should be performed (Figure 12H); (11) The SB is rewired again through a non-distal cell (Figure 12I); (12) A second KBI is performed (Figure 12]); (13) A final POT is performed to correct the oval shape of the PMV created by the previous KBI (Figure 12K).

Nano-crush technique

The "nano-crush" technique was first presented by Ray *et al*[101,102] at the 12th EBC meeting in 2016. Later, in 2017, Rigatelli *et al*[103] published a bench test and clinical outcome study of a technique with the same name. Although both procedures use a tiny SB stent part for crushing, the techniques are somewhat different from each other. Rigatelli *et al*[104] recently changed the name of their technique to the "nano inverted T stenting technique".

In the nano-crush technique described by Ray *et al*[105], the SB stent is positioned uninflated in the SB, and a non-compliant MV balloon is positioned across the carina and then inflated at a nominal pressure. While the MV balloon is inflated, the SB stent is pulled back until a small part protrudes into the MV and is deployed. However, in the nano-crush technique described by Rigatelli *et al*[103,104], 0.5-1 mm protrusion of the proximal part of the SB stent for crushing is adjusted visually by angiography. Moreover, the KBI numbers and techniques are also different. Where Ray *et al*[102] perform double "classical" KBI at high pressures without a final POT, Rigatelli *et al*[103-105] perform only one "snuggle" KBI, then a final POT. The other steps are similar to the DK-crush stenting technique described before. Finally, Rigatelli *et al*[103-105] use only ultrathin strut stents in their technique.

Both techniques provided complete coverage of the SB ostium with a tiny amount of metal at the carina in bench tests[106,107]. In a clinical study with a small number of patients, Ray *et al*[102] demonstrated short procedural times and no procedural complications with acceptable clinical outcomes with their technique. Rigatelli *et al*[104,108] showed a low incidence of TLF, no stent thrombosis and a good survival rate in left main bifurcation lesions in a small registry study and less contrast use and less procedural and radiation exposure time in comparison to the culotte technique in left main bifurcation lesions in an observational study.

Further controlled, randomized, larger studies are needed to confirm the favorable procedural and long-term clinical outcomes of these techniques in left main and non-left main bifurcation lesions.

OTHER DOUBLE STENTING TECHNIQUES

Mini-crush and step-crush techniques

The mini-crush technique is a version of the crush technique in which the crushed part of the SB stent is 1-2 mm instead of 3-4 mm. The main advantage of the crush and mini-crush techniques is that instant patency of both branches is secured[52]. However, the main disadvantage of these techniques is that a 7 Fr guiding catheter is required because two stents are positioned in the coronary arteries at the same time. After the SB stent is deployed, the stent balloon and wire are withdrawn, and the prepositioned MV stent is inflated while the SB stent is crushed. The SB is rewired followed by balloon dilatation of the ostial struts, KBI and a final POT, sequentially. Rewiring the SB and balloon passing can be challenging due to three layers of stent struts, which is the reason for the low KBI rate in classical crush trials resulting in more adverse outcomes.

The step-crush technique is the same as the DK-crush technique except that the first KBI is not implemented in this technique.

Reverse (internal) crush technique

When a second stent is required in the PST, some operators use the reverse (internal) crush technique [48]. A stent is positioned in the SB, and a balloon is placed in the MV. The stent is pulled back prolapsing 2-3 mm into the MV and implanted. After the stent balloon and wire is removed, the MV balloon is inflated at a high pressure to crush the SB stent. After rewiring, KBI and the POT are subsequently performed. In this technique, the crushed SB part is on the MV stent facing the lumen, unlike the other crushing techniques where it is under the stent and adheres to the vessel wall. There is no large study investigating the safety and efficacy of this technique.

Zaishidene® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Inverted DK-crush technique

When the SB is larger than the DMV, the inverted DK-crush technique may be performed. The technical steps are the same as those of the DK-crush technique with the only difference being that the DMV is considered the SB and the SB is considered the DMV.

In addition, in very rare PST cases, when the SB is occluded after MV stenting and cannot be rewired, this technique can be used to rescue the SB. The PMV stent part is crushed with a balloon passed through the jailed wire, followed by the DK-crush technique steps.

V and simultaneous kissing stent techniques

The V and simultaneous kissing stent (SKS) techniques consist of the simultaneous implantation of the MV and SB stents. The two stents are positioned so their proximal parts overlap in the PMV to form a neocarina. If the neocarina is ≤ 2 mm, the technique is called "V stenting"; however, if it is ≥ 3 mm, it is called "SKS" [28,109]. Due to the simultaneous implantation of two stents, at least a 7 Fr guiding catheter is required. The main advantage of these two techniques is that access to both branches is maintained throughout the procedure without the need to rewire any branches. Therefore, these techniques are easy and fast and may be preferable to the more complex double stenting procedures in emergencies such as acute LMCA occlusion.

There are also disadvantages of these techniques[52]: (1) The possibility of PMV dissection is relatively higher because of barotrauma during two-stent implantation or postdilation; (2) If a proximal dissection occurs during the procedure or proximal restenosis develops on follow-up, a stent cannot be implanted simply proximal to the stents since a gap between the new stent and the others is inevitable. In this situation, one of the branch stents (mostly the SB) should be crushed by the new stent, but this results in four strut layers in the ostium of the branch causing difficulty for rewiring; (3) If restenosis or lesions occur distal to the stents during follow-up, wiring can be difficult as the wire can pass under or between the struts in the neocarina; and (4) Finally, SKS causes a long neocarina that has been shown to transform into a thin diaphragmatic membranous structure over time; however, the long-term adverse outcomes of this structure are unknown.

The main application of the V stenting technique is Medina 0,1,1 Lesions where the PMV is free of disease and the carinal angle is < 90°. Although many authors recommend this technique in this situation[28,48,52], there is no large study investigating the acute and long-term clinical outcomes of this technique. Due to the long carina and the above disadvantages, the SKS technique is not approved by the interventional community for use in nonemergent bifurcation interventions[48,51].

PROCEDURAL COMPLICATIONS AND OUTCOMES OF CBL INTERVENTIONS

The PCI of CBLs has more procedural risks and higher rates of adverse outcomes and restenosis than non-CBLs[99,110]. In addition to classical PCI risks such as dissection, no-reflow and perforation, the procedural risks specific to CBL interventions include acute side branch closure (2.8%-5.2%), the fracture of a jailed wire, and SB stent embolism while passing or withdrawing it through the implanted MV stent [99,110]. Early (< 30 d) (especially more in the EDS techniques) and late stent thrombosis rates are higher than those for non-CBLs[111-113]. This may be due to higher rates of stent underexpansion and malapposition and more metallic and polymer burdens, which may provide stimuli for hypersensitivity and acute thrombogenicity reactions[99,111].

Long-term MACEs are also higher after successful DES implantation for CBLs compared to non-CBLs. Finally, distal LMCA interventions compared to non-LMCA bifurcations are associated with higher MACE (death and TVR) rates[2,99].

INTRAVASCULAR IMAGING IN CBLs

Since coronary angiography is two-dimensional lumenography, it has some limitations in evaluating lesion characteristics and post-intervention results. The intravascular imaging techniques IVUS and OCT provide accurate tomographic images and essential information that guides planning and optimizing PCI treatment[114,115]. OCT provides much higher resolution images of the luminal surface, calcifications, wire positions and SB ostium than IVUS[43]. On the other hand, IVUS has been used more, needs no extra contrast or vessel flushing and is better in evaluating the plaque burden[43].

Compared to angiography, better visualization of the location and extension of plaques using these imaging techniques before PCI can assist in selecting an appropriate stenting strategy and avoid unnecessary two-stent implantation[26]. In addition, proximal and distal vessel sizes and plaque locations can be determined more accurately to determine the stent size, and calcifications that require debulking before stenting can also be identified [47]. In patients without ostial side branch involvement (*i.e.*, Medina 1,1,0/1,0,0/0,1,0), the "eyebrow" sign identified by IVUS was found to be a strong predictor of SB narrowing or occlusion after MV stent implantation[116], in which case the intervention strategy



can be changed. After stenting, OCT can help rewire through the distal cell, which is required for optimal stent scaffolding by subsequent balloon or KBI[115]. Stent expansion and apposition status, distal or proximal stent edge dissection, or residual stenosis can be well identified by both IVUS and OCT[43].

The MAIN-COMPARE registry trial, comparing the use of IVUS in LMCA bifurcation lesions to angiography alone, showed a lower 3-year mortality rate; and the other registry trial SCAAR showed a significantly lower primary endpoint (all-cause mortality, restenosis, or definitive stent thrombosis)[117, 118]. In addition, a recently published analysis of the British Cardiovascular Intervention Society Database has shown lower in-hospital MACE and lower 1-year death rates with the use of IVUS in LMCA interventions^[119]. Finally, the results were found to be similar in two recent meta-analyses^[120]. 121]. In view of these data, IVUS is recommended as the gold standard for PCI of LMCA bifurcation lesions; and although there are no large data, it has been reported that OCT is feasible in LMCA bifurcation lesions in recent guidelines [41,47].

In non-LMCA lesions, an observational PCI study found a lower 7-year cardiac death, MI and MACE rates in the IVUS guided compared to angiography alone in true bifurcation lesions[122]. There are no randomized trials confirming the clinical benefits of routine IVUS use in non-LMCA bifurcation lesions, but the EBC emphasizes the benefit of intravascular imaging in all CBLs in the latest guidelines[20,47].

Although OCT provides superior images compared to IVUS, there are limited clinical data that only come from observational trials with a small number of bifurcation patients[115]. The results of ongoing large randomized trials OCTOBER (comparing two-year MACE between OCT guided or angiography alone interventions in CBLs) and OPTIMUM (comparing 3D OCT guided vs angiography alone provisional stenting in terms of malapposed struts in bifurcation lesions) will shed more light on the benefits of OCT use in CBL interventions[123,124].

LEFT MAIN BIFURCATION LESIONS

LMCA stenosis is detected in 5-8% of patients undergoing diagnostic angiography [125], and left main bifurcation lesions (LM-BLs) account for approximately 80% of LMCA lesions[125,126]. The LMCA with its bifurcation has specific properties and requires some different technical approaches [26,42,43,126]: (1) The LMCA supplies > 75% of the blood of the myocardium in a right dominant coronary system, so any complication may result in catastrophic outcomes; (2) The LMCA diameter is between 3.5-6.5 mm with a mean of 4.75-5 mm, so the overexpansion capacity of the stent to be used should be known (Table 2); (3) The left circumflex artery (LCx) is usually the side branch and supplies > 10% of the blood of the myocardium in > 95% of cases, so its loss during PCI is unacceptable; (4) The bifurcation angle is wider than the other bifurcations with a mean value of 70°-80°, so LCx rewiring may be more difficult, and it should be noted that worse outcomes were found with culotte stenting than with the DK-crush technique in patients with bifurcation angles > 70° in LM-BLs[35]; (5) The guiding catheter is close to the LMCA stent, so wires can go behind the struts. In addition, during the withdrawal of jailed wires or balloons, the guiding catheter can enter the LMCA and cause longitudinal compression of the LMCA stent, which is associated with adverse outcomes if untreated [26,57,127]; (6) Diffuse LMCA disease can be overlooked when using angiography due to the lack of a reference segment. Due to the physical laws of coronary bifurcation, LMCA diffuse disease should be considered when the LMCA reference diameter is similar to that of the LAD; and (7) A total of 10%-15% of patients have trifurcation with the addition of an intermediate (ramus) branch, so the complexity of PCI increases, and larger guides are required for triple kissing inflations.

CABG is the gold standard treatment for LMCA lesions according to both recent European Society of Cardiology/European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (ESC/EACTS) and American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology (AHA/ACC) guidelines[41,128]. However, there are some differences in PCI implementation between these guidelines. The ESC/EACTS recommends PCI as a Class I indication for LMCA patients with SYNTAX scores < 22 (low risk), Class IIa with SYNTAX scores between 23-32 (intermediate risk), and Class III with higher scores. On the other hand, the AHA/ACC classifies LMCA lesions as ostial, trunk and bifurcation. LMCA bifurcation lesions with an increased risk of surgical outcomes (Society of Thoracic Surgeons (STS) score > 2) are Class IIb indications whereas ostial and trunk lesions with a very high risk of surgical outcomes (STS score \geq 5) are recommended as Class IIa indications for PCI. After these guidelines, 5-year results of two important EXCEL and NOBLE trials have been published, which have caused intense debate about the treatment of LMCA disease with PCI vs CABG[129,130]. Repeat revascularization rates were higher in the PCI arms of both trials. Although mortality rates were similar between the CABG and PCI arms, PCI was inferior in terms of the nonprocedural MI in the NOBLE trial. On the other hand, no significant difference between CABG and PCI was found in the primary outcome (composite of death, stroke or MI) in the EXCEL trial. However, the primary outcome definition that does not include repeat revascularization and the MI definition that differs from the second or third universal definition of MI have been criticized [131]. Moreover, although the cardiac death rates were not different, a higher total mortality rate in the PCI arm was noted [47]. A meta-analysis of five randomized trials involving EXCEL



and NOBLE was recently published and found that individual total mortality, cardiac death, stroke and MI rates were not different between the CABG and PCI arms, and unplanned revascularization rates were significantly higher in the PCI arm, as expected[132]. Finally, the multidisciplinary heart team approach, which considers the anatomical and clinicopathological status of each patient and the experience of the operators, is required in the LMCA treatment decision [45,47].

LM-BLs that involves only one branch (*i.e.*, Medina 1,1,0 or 1,0,1) are considered non-complex lesions, and the default strategy is the PST[42]. Two-branch involvement (*i.e.*, Medina 1,1,1 or 0,1,1) in LM-BLs is a complex true lesion. The EBC still recommends the PST for the vast majority of these complex lesions [42], and recommends the EDS techniques in the case of long SB (usually LCx) lesions (\geq 10 mm) or difficult SB access^[49]. Furthermore, EDS is preferred in cases where there is a high risk of SB occlusion [48]. Finally, as described before, preferring the DK-crush technique over the PST in complex-true LMCA lesions is a Class IIb indication in the 2018 ESC/EACTS myocardial revascularization guidelines [40].

As described before, the EBC-MAIN trial was recently published and showed that there was no statistically significant difference between the PST and EDS techniques in LM-BL interventions in short SB lesions. The DK-crush technique was used in only 5% of EDS patients in this trial[46].

In light of the latest data and expert opinions, the PST is most often the default strategy [37-39,46,48]. However, it is better to prefer EDS if the SB (usually LCx) is ≥ 2.5 mm and the lesion length is ≥ 10 mm or the likelihood of SB occlusion is high or SB wiring is difficult in complex-true (Medina 1,1,1; 0,1,1) LM-BLs; furthermore, if the operator is familiar with the technique, the DK-crush technique may be preferred over other EDS techniques (Figure 3).

Angiographical LMCA stenosis > 50% is considered significant; however, there are many cases of ambiguous lesions. FFR and/or IVUS should be used to decide on revascularization for these lesions. Collected data showed that if FFR > 0.8, then it is safe to defer revascularization; and if FFR \leq 0.8, then revascularization of the LMCA is indicated [42,133]. On the other hand, an IVUS-derived minimum lumen area (MLA) of 6 mm² is usually considered to be the cut-off value of significant LMCA lesions [42]; however, this value was determined in Western populations who typically have larger body and vessel sizes, and an IVUS-derived MLA of 4.5 mm² was found to be the cut-off value in an Asian population study[134]. Consequently, in LMCA lesions, it is recommended to defer revascularization if the MLA > 6 mm², to revascularize if the MLA < 4.5 mm^2 and to evaluate with FFR measurement if the MLA is between 4.5 and 6 mm²[135]. There is no defined cut-off value for OCT yet[42].

After LMCA stenting, IVUS-derived minimum stent area cut-off values for predicting angiographic restenosis were 5 mm² for the ostial LCx, 6.3 mm² for the ostial left anterior descending artery (LAD), 7.2 mm² for the polygon of confluence, and 8.2 mm² for the LMCA above the polygon of confluence (the socalled 5-6-7-8 rule) in a study [136]. However, this trial was conducted in Asian patients and it appears that larger LMCA cut-off values should be targeted in other populations and large body size patients [127]. Indeed, in an IVUS substudy of the EXCEL trial, the minimum LMCA stent area cut-off value for predicting angiographic restenosis was 9.8 mm²; and in the NOBLE trial substudy, this value was found to be 13.4 mm²[137,138].

After crossover stenting in the LMCA during the PST, whether the nonobstructed SB (usually LCx) ostium should be opened is a matter of debate[47]. A recent large registry, however, showed that there was no significant difference between the KBI and non-KBI arms in terms of TLR in patients with crossover stenting from the LMCA to the LAD[139].

The optimal PCI strategy for isolated ostial LAD lesions and ostial LCx lesions (Medina 0,1,0 and 0,0,1) is uncertain[25]. The extension of LMCA bifurcation plaques may not be detected by angiography, so IVUS/OCT is preferred for isolated ostial LAD or LCx lesions. Indeed, angiographic assessment was found to underestimate the extension and severity of lesions. Distal LMCA atherosclerotic plaques extended 90% to the LAD, 66% to the LCx, and 62% to both whereas isolated ostial plaque involvement of the LAD and LCx was only 9% and 17%, respectively, in an IVUS study [140]. In conclusion, if the anatomy is appropriate according to IVUS/OCT (the carinal angle is approximately 90°, the LMCA is free of plaque and there is certain visualization of the ostium of the other branch), then ostial stenting may be preferred to avoid LMCA stenting. Otherwise, the PST (from LMCA to LAD stenting) for isolated ostial LAD and the inverted PST (from LMCA to LCx stenting) for isolated ostial LCx seem to be the preferred options[25,47].

Finally, after successful LMCA stenting, late (3-12 mo) control angiography may be considered regardless of symptoms according to recent guidelines (Class IIb, level of evidence C)[41].

DRUG-COATED BALLOONS IN CBLs

Drug-coated balloons (DCBs) are a new technology intended for the prevention of restenosis as an alternative option to DESs[26]. The use of DCBs in CBL is attractive due to the high rate of restenosis after CBL intervention. Observational studies using a DES in the MB and a DCB in the SB showed good SB results[141]. The PEPCAD-BIF trial showed that DCBs provided very acceptable late lumen loss in SB lesions without both major dissections and significant early vessel recoil[142]. In the BABILON trial,



a DCB in the SB plus a bare metal stent in the MV was found to be worse than the provisional DES strategy in terms of MACE and TLR[26]. It should be noted that these and all the other studies to date on the use of DCBs in de novo CBLs are heterogeneous and include a small number of patients[47]. A recent meta-analysis that included four studies with 349 patients treated with DCBs *vs* standard balloon angioplasty, showed that the DCB reduced the SB late lumen loss, but the SB binary restenosis rates and the clinical outcomes (MACE and TLR) were not different[143]. Consequently, there still is insufficient conclusive data on the use of DCBs in de novo CBLs[48]. A new "POT-side DCB-POT" method was recently described in a case report[144], and more research is expected on the clinical consequences of this technique.

DCBs have been tested in in-stent restenosis (especially after two-stent implantation) and have been found to provide a good clinical outcome without requiring extra stent implantation[145]. Therefore, the method was reported as "feasible" in this case in the latest EBC guidelines[47].

DEDICATED BIFURCATION STENTS

The difficulties in accessing the SB after MV stenting, or vice versa, resulted in the development of dedicated bifurcation stents (DBSs). Although many types are available, 4 DBSs were studied in randomized trials: BiOSS Expert and BiOSS LIM (Balton, Warsaw, Poland), the Tryton stent (Tryton Medical, Durham, North Carolina) and the Axxess bifurcation stent (Biosensors International, Singapore).

The BiOSS Expert is a paclitaxel-eluting balloon-expandable dedicated bifurcation stent that is implanted in the MV and has an open side to the ostium of the SB. In the Polbos I trial, the BiOSS Expert was compared with many types of DESs using the PST. Although the MACE rates were similar, the TLR rate was higher in the BiOSS Expert group[146]. The BiOSS LIM is a sirolimus-eluting balloon-expandable dedicated stent. In the Polbos II trial, no difference was found between the BiOSS LIM and provisional DES techniques in terms of the MACE and TLR rates[147].

The Tryton stent is a balloon expandable dedicated cobalt chromium non-DES. This stent is implanted in the SB, and a DES is implanted in the MV through the open struts of this dedicated stent. A pooled analysis of the Tryton pivotal randomized controlled trial and post-approval confirmatory study comparing this stent with the PST with a DES showed that the Tryton stent was clinically non-inferior to the PST with good angiographic outcomes at 1 year[148].

The Axxess stent is a self-expandable biolimus-eluting dedicated stent that is designed for EDS. It is implanted in the proximal MV with its distal end aligned to the carina, allowing easy access to both the distal MV and the SB[149]. In the COBRA study, Axxess with two biolimus-eluting stents (in the distal MV and the SB) was compared to the culotte stenting technique with two everolimus-eluting stents and found no difference in stent coverage at 9 mo and similar favorable clinical outcomes at 5 years[150].

Consequently, DBSs have not yet been found to be superior to conventional bifurcation stenting strategies for routine use in CBLs[151].

ANTITHROMBOTIC THERAPY

Since the periprocedural and long-term risk of stent thrombosis (ST) of coronary bifurcation PCI is high [112], antithrombotic therapy is an important part of CBL treatment. The anatomical properties of bifurcations lead to a relatively high rate of strut malapposition, stent underexpansion and isolated strut noncoverage, resulting in thrombosis[113]. EDS, except for the DK-crush technique, has been found to cause higher ST risk than one-stent implantation. In addition, the ST rate of "bail-out" second stent implantation in the PST was shown to be higher than that in EDS[152]. Therefore, careful preselection of the stenting strategy is required. ST most often occurs acutely or in the first 30 d postprocedure rather than later[20].

Unfractioned heparin is the standard anticoagulant agent for every PCI procedure. Given the complex and time-consuming nature of bifurcation intervention, close monitoring of ACT values is required. In order to prevent ST in the acute and early phases, IV cangrelor may be preferred in $P2Y_{12}$ inhibitor-naïve patients (ESC Class IIb, LOE A recommendation)[40].

Dual antiplatelet therapy (DAPT) with P2Y₁₂ inhibitors and aspirin is the standard treatment after every coronary stent implantation. In acute coronary syndrome (ACS), the potent P2Y₁₂ inhibitors prasugrel and ticagrelor are preferred over clopidogrel. Due to the results of the recent ISAR-REACT 5 trial, prasugrel is preferred over ticagrelor in the latest ESC guidelines (Class IIa)[153]. In stable coronary artery disease (CAD), although they have not been documented to be more efficient than clopidogrel, the potent P2Y₁₂ inhibitors prasugrel or ticagrelor may be considered in high ST risk situations, such as LMCA interventions, according to the ESC guidelines (Class IIb, LOE C recommendation)[41].

Zaishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

The duration of DAPT depends on the clinical presentation (stable CAD or ACS) and the ST and bleeding risk. In both stable CAD and ACS interventions, high ST risk patients such as bifurcation PCI \geq 2 stents and LMCA PCI, the duration of DAPT may be prolonged beyond 12 mo if the bleeding risk is not high (Class IIb indication for stable CAD and class IIa indication for ACS)[41,154]. However, in the case of high bleeding risk (e.g., PRECISE-DAPT score \geq 25), DAPT duration may be considered as 3 mo for stable CAD and 3-6 mo for ACS patients with the cessation of P2Y₁₂ inhibitor (Class IIa indication according to ESC and Class IIb indication according to the latest AHA/ACC guidelines, for both stable CAD and ACS)[41,154-156]. Finally, after the recent publication of 5 large trials that also included CBLs, the AHA/ACC recommends a class IIa indication for a shorter DAPT duration (1-3 months) followed by P2Y₁₂ inhibitor monotherapy to reduce the risk of bleeding events in selected patients [156].

CONCLUSION

Coronary bifurcation lesions are complex and require meticulous preplanning of the stenting strategy. The provisional stenting technique is the default strategy in most cases. However, two-stent techniques, especially the DK-crush technique, may be the upfront-stenting strategy in some patients with complex lesions. Multiple consecutive steps are required to perform a successful stenting procedure. During the procedure, intravascular imaging is an essential tool since it is not only helpful in the selection of the stenting technique but also necessary for optimization of the result. The results of ongoing and anticipated future trials are awaited to clarify various unresolved issues in percutaneous coronary bifurcation interventions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank the illustrator Coşkun Kuzgun for drawing clear and explanatory figures.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: The author reviewed the literature and related books, and wrote the article.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Author declares no conflict of interests for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Turkey

ORCID number: Tamer Kırat 0000-0002-7746-0844.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: European Society of Cardiology, No. 169218; Turkish Society of Cardiology, No. 1216.

S-Editor: Ma YJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yu HG

REFERENCES

- 1 Latib A, Colombo A. Bifurcation disease: what do we know, what should we do? JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2008; 1: 218-226 [PMID: 19463303 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2007.12.008]
- 2 Burzotta F, Annone U, Paraggio L, D'Ascenzo F, Biondi-Zoccai G, Aurigemma C, Romagnoli E, Verdirosi D, Trani C, Crea F. Clinical outcome after percutaneous coronary intervention with drug-eluting stent in bifurcation and nonbifurcation lesions: a meta-analysis of 23 981 patients. Coron Artery Dis 2020; 31: 438-445 [PMID: 32040027 DOI: 10.1097/MCA.00000000000847]
- Stankovic G, Darremont O, Ferenc M, Hildick-Smith D, Louvard Y, Albiero R, Pan M, Lassen JF, Lefèvre T; European Bifurcation Club. Percutaneous coronary intervention for bifurcation lesions: 2008 consensus document from the fourth meeting of the European Bifurcation Club. EuroIntervention 2009; 5: 39-49 [PMID: 19577982 DOI: 10.4244/eijv5i1a8]



- Colombo A, Stankovic G. Bifurcations and branch vessel stenting. In: Topol EJ, Teirstein PS. Textbook of 4 Interventional Cardiology. 8th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders Elsevier, 2019: 400-418 [DOI: 10.1016/b978-1-4377-2358-8.00020-6
- 5 Kamiya A, Takahashi T. Quantitative assessments of morphological and functional properties of biological trees based on their fractal nature. J Appl Physiol (1985) 2007; 102: 2315-2323 [PMID: 17347385 DOI: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00856.2006]
- Colombo A, Stankovic G. PCI for bifurcation lesions In: Grech DE (editor). Practical Interventional Cardiology. 3rd Edition. Boca Raton, Florida: Taylor and Francis Group, 2018: 239-246 [DOI: 10.1201/9781315113753-16]
- 7 Murray CD. The Physiological Principle of Minimum Work: I. The Vascular System and the Cost of Blood Volume. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1926; 12: 207-214 [PMID: 16576980 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.12.3.207]
- Huo Y, Kassab GS. A scaling law of vascular volume. Biophys J 2009; 96: 347-353 [PMID: 19167288 DOI: 8 10.1016/j.bpj.2008.09.039]
- Finet G, Gilard M, Perrenot B, Rioufol G, Motreff P, Gavit L, Prost R. Fractal geometry of arterial coronary bifurcations: a quantitative coronary angiography and intravascular ultrasound analysis. EuroIntervention 2008; 3: 490-498 [PMID: 19736093 DOI: 10.4244/eijv3i4a87]
- 10 Huo Y, Finet G, Lefèvre T, Louvard Y, Moussa I, Kassab GS. Optimal diameter of diseased bifurcation segment: a practical rule for percutaneous coronary intervention. EuroIntervention 2012; 7: 1310-1316 [PMID: 22433194 DOI: 10.4244/EIJV7I11A206]
- 11 Ramcharitar S, Onuma Y, Aben JP, Consten C, Weijers B, Morel MA, Serruys PW. A novel dedicated quantitative coronary analysis methodology for bifurcation lesions. EuroIntervention 2008; 3: 553-557 [PMID: 19608480 DOI: 10.4244/eijv3i5a100
- 12 Genuardi L, Chatzizisis YS, Chiastra C, Sgueglia G, Samady H, Kassab GS, Migliavacca F, Trani C, Burzotta F. Local fluid dynamics in patients with bifurcated coronary lesions undergoing percutaneous coronary interventions. Cardiol J 2021; 28: 321-329 [PMID: 32052855 DOI: 10.5603/CJ.a2020.0024]
- Louvard Y, Thomas M, Dzavik V, Hildick-Smith D, Galassi AR, Pan M, Burzotta F, Zelizko M, Dudek D, Ludman P, 13 Sheiban I, Lassen JF, Darremont O, Kastrati A, Ludwig J, Iakovou I, Brunel P, Lansky A, Meerkin D, Legrand V, Medina A, Lefèvre T. Classification of coronary artery bifurcation lesions and treatments: time for a consensus! Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2008; 71: 175-183 [PMID: 17985377 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.21314]
- Lassen JF, Holm NR, Banning A, Burzotta F, Lefèvre T, Chieffo A, Hildick-Smith D, Louvard Y, Stankovic G. 14 Percutaneous coronary intervention for coronary bifurcation disease: 11th consensus document from the European Bifurcation Club. EuroIntervention 2016; 12: 38-46 [PMID: 27173860 DOI: 10.4244/EIJV1211A7]
- Giannoglou GD, Antoniadis AP, Koskinas KC, Chatzizisis YS. Flow and atherosclerosis in coronary bifurcations. 15 EuroIntervention 2010; 6 Suppl J: J16-J23 [PMID: 21930484 DOI: 10.4244/EIJV6SUPJA4]
- 16 Chatzizisis YS, Coskun AU, Jonas M, Edelman ER, Feldman CL, Stone PH. Role of endothelial shear stress in the natural history of coronary atherosclerosis and vascular remodeling: molecular, cellular, and vascular behavior. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 49: 2379-2393 [PMID: 17599600 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.02.059]
- Resnick N, Yahav H, Shay-Salit A, Shushy M, Schubert S, Zilberman LC, Wofovitz E. Fluid shear stress and the vascular 17 endothelium: for better and for worse. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 2003; 81: 177-199 [PMID: 12732261 DOI: 10.1016/s0079-6107(02)00052-4]
- Soulis JV, Giannoglou GD, Chatzizisis YS, Farmakis TM, Giannakoulas GA, Parcharidis GE, Louridas GE. Spatial and 18 phasic oscillation of non-Newtonian wall shear stress in human left coronary artery bifurcation: an insight to atherogenesis. Coron Artery Dis 2006; 17: 351-358 [PMID: 16707958 DOI: 10.1097/00019501-200606000-00005]
- 19 Ding Z, Biggs T, Seed WA, Friedman MH. Influence of the geometry of the left main coronary artery bifurcation on the distribution of sudanophilia in the daughter vessels. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1997; 17: 1356-1360 [PMID: 9261267
- 20 Zimarino M, Angiolillo DJ, Dangas G, Capodanno D, Barbato E, Hahn JY, Giustino G, Watanabe H, Costa F, Cuisset T, Rossini R, Sibbing D, Burzotta F, Louvard Y, Shehab A, Renda G, Kimura T, Gwon HC, Chen SL, Costa RA, Koo BK, Storey RF, Valgimigli M, Mehran R, Stankovic G. Antithrombotic therapy after percutaneous coronary intervention of bifurcation lesions. EuroIntervention 2021; 17: 59-66 [PMID: 32928716 DOI: 10.4244/EIJ-D-20-00885]
- 21 Movahed MR, Kern K, Thai H, Ebrahimi R, Friedman M, Slepian M. Coronary artery bifurcation lesions: a review and update on classification and interventional techniques. Cardiovasc Revasc Med 2008; 9: 263-268 [PMID: 18928952 DOI: 10.1016/j.carrev.2008.05.003
- 22 Medina A, Suárez de Lezo J, Pan M. [A new classification of coronary bifurcation lesions]. Rev Esp Cardiol 2006; 59: 183 [PMID: 16540043 DOI: 10.1157/13084649]
- 23 Park TK, Park YH, Song YB, Oh JH, Chun WJ, Kang GH, Jang WJ, Hahn JY, Yang JH, Choi SH, Choi JH, Lee SH, Jeong MH, Kim HS, Lee JH, Yu CW, Rha SW, Jang Y, Yoon JH, Tahk SJ, Seung KB, Park JS, Gwon HC. Long-Term Clinical Outcomes of True and Non-True Bifurcation Lesions According to Medina Classification- Results From the COBIS (COronary BIfurcation Stent) II Registry. Circ J 2015; 79: 1954-1962 [PMID: 26134457 DOI: 10.1253/circj.CJ-15-0264]
- 24 Louvard Y, Medina A. Definitions and classifications of bifurcation lesions and treatment. EuroIntervention 2015; 11 Suppl V: V23-V26 [PMID: 25983165 DOI: 10.4244/EIJV11SVA5]
- 25 Burzotta F, Lassen JF, Louvard Y, Lefèvre T, Banning AP, Daremont O, Pan M, Hildick-Smith D, Chieffo A, Chatzizisis YS, Džavík V, Gwon HC, Hikichi Y, Murasato Y, Koo BK, Chen SL, Serruys P, Stankovic G. European Bifurcation Club white paper on stenting techniques for patients with bifurcated coronary artery lesions. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2020; 96: 1067-1079 [PMID: 32579300 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.29071]
- 26 Sawaya FJ, Lefèvre T, Chevalier B, Garot P, Hovasse T, Morice MC, Rab T, Louvard Y. Contemporary Approach to Coronary Bifurcation Lesion Treatment. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2016; 9: 1861-1878 [PMID: 27659563 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.06.056]
- Kırat T, Köse N, Altun İ, Akın F, Ergün G, Soylu MÖ. Stent diameter and type matters in the decision of 6 FR or 7 FR 27



guiding catheter selection during simultaneous kissing stent technique in bifurcation lesions. Int J Cardiol 2016; 221: 1151-1152 [PMID: 26874997 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.01.086]

- 28 Panwar SR, Rajamanickam A, Kini A, Bifurcation Lesions. In: Kini A, Sharma S, Narula J. Practical Manual of Interventional Cardiology. London, Springer, 2014: 139-159 [DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4471-6581-1_16]
- 29 Kočka V, Thériault-Lauzier P, Xiong TY, Ben-Shoshan J, Petr R, Laboš M, Buithieu J, Mousavi N, Pilgrim T, Praz F, Overtchouk P, Beaudry JP, Spaziano M, Pelletier JP, Martucci G, Dandona S, Rinfret S, Windecker S, Leipsic J, Piazza N. Optimal Fluoroscopic Projections of Coronary Ostia and Bifurcations Defined by Computed Tomographic Coronary Angiography. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2020; 13: 2560-2570 [PMID: 33153569 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2020.06.042]
- Pan M, Ojeda S. Complex Better Than Simple for Distal Left Main Bifurcation Lesions: Lots of Data But Few Crushing 30 Operators. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2020; 13: 1445-1447 [PMID: 32553332 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2020.04.039]
- Ferenc M, Neumann FJ. Complex Stenting for Complex Lesions: DKCRUSH-V Calling for Novel Treatment Strategies 31 for Bifurcation Lesions. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2019; 12: 1938-1940 [PMID: 31521653 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2019.06.009
- Nairooz R, Saad M, Elgendy IY, Mahmoud AN, Habash F, Sardar P, Anderson D, Shavelle DM, Abbott JD. Long-term 32 outcomes of provisional stenting compared with a two-stent strategy for bifurcation lesions: a meta-analysis of randomised trials. Heart 2017; 103: 1427-1434 [PMID: 28314731 DOI: 10.1136/heartjnl-2016-310929]
- Behan MW, Holm NR, de Belder AJ, Cockburn J, Erglis A, Curzen NP, Niemelä M, Oldroyd KG, Kervinen K, Kumsars 33 I, Gunnes P, Stables RH, Maeng M, Ravkilde J, Jensen JS, Christiansen EH, Cooter N, Steigen TK, Vikman S, Thuesen L, Lassen JF, Hildick-Smith D. Coronary bifurcation lesions treated with simple or complex stenting: 5-year survival from patient-level pooled analysis of the Nordic Bifurcation Study and the British Bifurcation Coronary Study. Eur Heart J 2016; 37: 1923-1928 [PMID: 27161619 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw170]
- Chen SL, Santoso T, Zhang JJ, Ye F, Xu YW, Fu Q, Kan J, Paiboon C, Zhou Y, Ding SQ, Kwan TW. A randomized clinical study comparing double kissing crush with provisional stenting for treatment of coronary bifurcation lesions: results from the DKCRUSH-II (Double Kissing Crush versus Provisional Stenting Technique for Treatment of Coronary Bifurcation Lesions) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011; 57: 914-920 [PMID: 21329837 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.10.023]
- 35 Chen SL, Xu B, Han YL, Sheiban I, Zhang JJ, Ye F, Kwan TW, Paiboon C, Zhou YJ, Lv SZ, Dangas GD, Xu YW, Wen SY, Hong L, Zhang RY, Wang HC, Jiang TM, Wang Y, Sansoto T, Chen F, Yuan ZY, Li WM, Leon MB. Clinical Outcome After DK Crush Versus Culotte Stenting of Distal Left Main Bifurcation Lesions: The 3-Year Follow-Up Results of the DKCRUSH-III Study. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2015; 8: 1335-1342 [PMID: 26315736 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2015.05.017
- 36 Chen SL, Zhang JJ, Han Y, Kan J, Chen L, Qiu C, Jiang T, Tao L, Zeng H, Li L, Xia Y, Gao C, Santoso T, Paiboon C, Wang Y, Kwan TW, Ye F, Tian N, Liu Z, Lin S, Lu C, Wen S, Hong L, Zhang Q, Sheiban I, Xu Y, Wang L, Rab TS, Li Z, Cheng G, Cui L, Leon MB, Stone GW. Double Kissing Crush Versus Provisional Stenting for Left Main Distal Bifurcation Lesions: DKCRUSH-V Randomized Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 70: 2605-2617 [PMID: 29096915 DOI: 10.1016/i.jacc.2017.09.1066]
- 37 Chen X, Li X, Zhang JJ, Han Y, Kan J, Chen L, Qiu C, Santoso T, Paiboon C, Kwan TW, Sheiban I, Leon MB, Stone GW, Chen SL; DKCRUSH-V Investigators. 3-Year Outcomes of the DKCRUSH-V Trial Comparing DK Crush With Provisional Stenting for Left Main Bifurcation Lesions. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2019; 12: 1927-1937 [PMID: 31521645 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2019.04.056]
- Crimi G, Mandurino-Mirizzi A, Gritti V, Scotti V, Strozzi C, de Silvestri A, Montalto C, di Giacomo C, d'Ascenzo F, 38 Repetto A, Ferlini M, Marinoni B, Ferrario M, de Servi S, Visconti LO, Klersy C. Percutaneous Coronary Intervention Techniques for Bifurcation Disease: Network Meta-analysis Reveals Superiority of Double-Kissing Crush. Can J Cardiol 2020; 36: 906-914 [PMID: 31924454 DOI: 10.1016/j.cjca.2019.09.002]
- 39 Di Gioia G, Sonek J, Ferene M, Chen SL, Colaiori I, Gallinoro E, Mizukami T, Kodeboina M, Nagumo S, Franco D, Bartunek J, Vanderheyden M, Wyffels E, De Bruyne B, Lassen JF, Bennett J, Vassilev D, Serruys PW, Stankovic G, Louvard Y, Barbato E, Collet C. Clinical Outcomes Following Coronary Bifurcation PCI Techniques: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-Analysis Comprising 5,711 Patients. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2020; 13: 1432-1444 [PMID: 32553331 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2020.03.054]
- Zhang JJ, Ye F, Xu K, Kan J, Tao L, Santoso T, Munawar M, Tresukosol D, Li L, Sheiban I, Li F, Tian NL, Rodríguez 40 AE, Paiboon C, Lavarra F, Lu S, Vichairuangthum K, Zeng H, Chen L, Zhang R, Ding S, Gao F, Jin Z, Hong L, Ma L, Wen S, Wu X, Yang S, Yin WH, Zhang J, Wang Y, Zheng Y, Zhou L, Zhu Y, Xu T, Wang X, Qu H, Tian Y, Lin S, Liu L, Lu Q, Li Q, Li B, Jiang Q, Han L, Gan G, Yu M, Pan D, Shang Z, Zhao Y, Liu Z, Yuan Y, Chen C, Stone GW, Han Y, Chen SL. Multicentre, randomized comparison of two-stent and provisional stenting techniques in patients with complex coronary bifurcation lesions: the DEFINITION II trial. Eur Heart J 2020; 41: 2523-2536 [PMID: 32588060 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa543]
- Neumann FJ, Sousa-Uva M, Ahlsson A, Alfonso F, Banning AP, Benedetto U, Byrne RA, Collet JP, Falk V, Head SJ, 41 Jüni P, Kastrati A, Koller A, Kristensen SD, Niebauer J, Richter DJ, Seferovic PM, Sibbing D, Stefanini GG, Windecker S, Yadav R, Zembala MO; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2018 ESC/EACTS Guidelines on myocardial revascularization. Eur Heart J 2019; 40: 87-165 [PMID: 30165437 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehy394]
- Burzotta F, Lassen JF, Banning AP, Lefèvre T, Hildick-Smith D, Chieffo A, Darremont O, Pan M, Chatzizisis YS, 42 Albiero R, Louvard Y, Stankovic G. Percutaneous coronary intervention in left main coronary artery disease: the 13th consensus document from the European Bifurcation Club. EuroIntervention 2018; 14: 112-120 [PMID: 29786539 DOI: 10.4244/ELJ-D-18-003571
- 43 Banning AP, Lassen JF, Burzotta F, Lefèvre T, Darremont O, Hildick-Smith D, Louvard Y, Stankovic G. Percutaneous coronary intervention for obstructive bifurcation lesions: the 14th consensus document from the European Bifurcation Club. EuroIntervention 2019; 15: 90-98 [PMID: 31105066 DOI: 10.4244/EIJ-D-19-00144]
- 44 Dou K, Zhang D, Xu B, Yang Y, Yin D, Qiao S, Wu Y, Yan H, You S, Wang Y, Wu Z, Gao R, Kirtane AJ. An angiographic tool for risk prediction of side branch occlusion in coronary bifurcation intervention: the RESOLVE score system (Risk prEdiction of Side branch OccLusion in coronary bifurcation interVEntion). JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2015;



8: 39-46 [PMID: 25616815 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014.08.011]

- 45 Loh PH, Lassen JF, Jepson N, Koo BK, Chen S, Harding SA, Hu F, Lo S, Ahmad WAW, Ye F, Guagliumi G, Hiremath MS, Uemura S, Wang L, Whelan A, Low A, Asia Pacific consensus document on coronary bifurcation interventions. EuroIntervention 2020; 16: e706-e714 [PMID: 32250248 DOI: 10.4244/EIJ-D-19-00977]
- 46 Hildick-Smith D, Egred M, Banning A, Brunel P, Ferenc M, Hovasse T, Wlodarczak A, Pan M, Schmitz T, Silvestri M, Erglis A, Kretov E, Lassen JF, Chieffo A, Lefèvre T, Burzotta F, Cockburn J, Darremont O, Stankovic G, Morice MC, Louvard Y. The European bifurcation club Left Main Coronary Stent study: a randomized comparison of stepwise provisional vs. systematic dual stenting strategies (EBC MAIN). Eur Heart J 2021; 42: 3829-3839 [PMID: 34002215 DOI: 10.1093/eurhearti/ehab2831
- 47 Burzotta F, Lassen JF, Lefèvre T, Banning AP, Chatzizisis YS, Johnson TW, Ferenc M, Rathore S, Albiero R, Pan M, Darremont O, Hildick-Smith D, Chieffo A, Zimarino M, Louvard Y, Stankovic G. Percutaneous coronary intervention for bifurcation coronary lesions: the 15th consensus document from the European Bifurcation Club. EuroIntervention 2021; 16: 1307-1317 [PMID: 33074152 DOI: 10.4244/EIJ-D-20-00169]
- 48 Brilakis E. Bifurcations. In: Manual of Percutaneous Coronary Interventions. 1st ed. London: Elsevier, 2021: 267-301 [DOI: 10.1016/b978-0-12-819367-9.00016-0]
- Lassen JF, Burzotta F, Banning AP, Lefèvre T, Darremont O, Hildick-Smith D, Chieffo A, Pan M, Holm NR, Louvard Y, 49 Stankovic G. Percutaneous coronary intervention for the left main stem and other bifurcation lesions: 12th consensus document from the European Bifurcation Club. EuroIntervention 2018; 13: 1540-1553 [PMID: 29061550 DOI: 10.4244/EIJ-D-17-00622]
- Ferenc M. Culotte Versus DK-CRUSH Technique in Non-left Main Coronary Bifurcation Lesions (BBK-3). [accessed 50 2022 February 18]. In: ClinicalTrials.gov [Internet] Bad Krozingen: U.S. National Library of Medicine. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04192760 ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04192760
- 51 Favero L, Pacchioni A, Reimers B. Elective Double Stenting for Non–Left Main Coronary Artery Bifurcation Lesions: Patient Selection and Technique. In: Moussa DI, Colombo A. Tips and Tricks in Interventional Therapy of Coronary Bifurcation Lesions. UK: Informa, 2010: 83-115 [DOI: 10.3109/9781841847276-6]
- Colombo A, Latib A. Bifurcations. In: Bhatt LD. Cardiovascular intervention: a companion to Braunwald's heart 52 disease. Philadelphia; Elsevier, 2016: 155-183
- 53 Gwon HC. Understanding the Coronary Bifurcation Stenting. Korean Circ J 2018; 48: 481-491 [PMID: 29856142 DOI: 10.4070/kcj.2018.0088]
- 54 Milasinovic D, Wijns W, Ntsekhe M, Hellig F, Mohamed A, Stankovic G. Step-by-step manual for planning and performing bifurcation PCI: a resource-tailored approach. EuroIntervention 2018; 13: e1804-e1811 [PMID: 29175768 DOI: 10.4244/EU-D-17-00580]
- 55 Chatterjee A, Brott B, Foley F, Leesar MA. Electron microscopic examination of polymer coated hydrophilic guidewires used for side-branch protection during bifurcation coronary intervention. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014; 63: A1916 [DOI: 10.1016/s0735-1097(14)61919-71
- Chatterjee A, Brott BC, Foley R, Alli O, Sasse M, Ahmed M, Al Solaiman F, Reddy G, Ather S, Leesar MA. Safety of 56 hydrophilic guidewires used for side-branch protection during stenting and proximal optimization technique in coronary bifurcation lesions. Cardiovasc Revasc Med 2016; 17: 456-462 [PMID: 27210866 DOI: 10.1016/j.carrev.2016.04.006]
- 57 Spaziano M, Louvard Y, and Lefèvre T. Treatment of Coronary Bifurcation Lesions In: Lanzer P. Textbook of Catheter-Based Cardiovascular Interventions. Switzerland: Springer 2018: 745-776 [DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-55994-0_46]
- Burzotta F, De Vita M, Sgueglia G, Todaro D, Trani C. How to solve difficult side branch access? EuroIntervention 58 2010; 6 Suppl J: J72-J80 [PMID: 21930495 DOI: 10.4244/EIJV6SUPJA12]
- Pan M, Medina A, Romero M, Ojeda S, Martin P, Suarez de Lezo J, Segura J, Mazuelos F, Novoa J. Assessment of side 59 branch predilation before a provisional T-stent strategy for bifurcation lesions. A randomized trial. Am Heart J 2014; 168: 374-380 [PMID: 25173550 DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2014.05.014]
- 60 Peighambari M, Sanati H, Hadjikarimi M, Zahedmehr A, Shakerian F, Firouzi A, Kiani R, Sadeghipour P, Kzaemi Asl S. The Effects of Side Branch Predilation During Provisional Stenting of Coronary Bifurcation Lesions: A Double-Blind Randomized Controlled Trial. Res Cardiovasc Med 2016; 5: e31378 [PMID: 26949691 DOI: 10.5812/cardiovascmed.31378
- 61 Mirzaee S, Isa M, Thakur U, Cameron JD, Nicholls SJ, Dundon BK. Impact of Side-Branch Predilation on Angiographic Outcomes in Non-Left Main Coronary Bifurcation Lesions. J Invasive Cardiol 2020; 32: 42-48 [PMID: 31958071]
- Burzotta F, Shoeib O, Aurigemma C, Porto I, Leone AM, Niccoli G, Genuardi L, Trani C, Crea F. Procedural Impact of a 62 Kissing-Balloon Predilation (Pre-Kissing) Technique in Patients With Complex Bifurcations Undergoing Drug-Eluting Stenting. J Invasive Cardiol 2019; 31: 80-88 [PMID: 30927529]
- Burzotta F, Trani C, Sianos G. Jailed balloon protection: a new technique to avoid acute side-branch occlusion during 63 provisional stenting of bifurcated lesions. Bench test report and first clinical experience. EuroIntervention 2010; 5: 809-813 [PMID: 20142195 DOI: 10.4244/eijv5i7a135]
- 64 Ermis E, Uçar H, Demirelli S, İpek E, Gür M, Çaylı M. Assessment of side branch patency using a jailed semi-inflated balloon technique with coronary bifurcation lesions. Turk Kardiyol Dern Ars 2018; 46: 340-348 [PMID: 30024390 DOI: 10.5543/tkda.2018.47347
- 65 Saito S, Shishido K, Moriyama N, Ochiai T, Mizuno S, Yamanaka F, Sugitatsu K, Tobita K, Matsumi J, Tanaka Y, Murakami M. Modified jailed balloon technique for bifurcation lesions. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2018; 92: E218-E226 [PMID: 29205789 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.27334]
- 66 Tondas AE, Mulawarman R, Trifitriana M, Pranata R, Abisha SE, Toruan MPL. A Systematic Review of Jailed Balloon Technique for Coronary Bifurcation Lesion: Conventional-Jailed Balloon Technique vs Modified-Jailed Balloon Technique. Cardiovasc Revasc Med 2020; 21: 1193-1199 [PMID: 32169406 DOI: 10.1016/j.carrev.2020.03.001]
- 67 Shishido K, Moriyama N, Hayashi T, Yokota S, Miyashita H, Mashimo Y, Yokoyama H, Nishimoto T, Ochiai T, Tobita K, Yamanaka F, Mizuno S, Tanaka Y, Murakami M, Takahashi S, Saito S. The efficacy of modified jailed balloon technique for true bifurcation lesions. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2020; 96: 20-28 [PMID: 32096918 DOI:



10.1002/ccd.288121

- 68 Colombo A, Moses JW, Morice MC, Ludwig J, Holmes DR Jr, Spanos V, Louvard Y, Desmedt B, Di Mario C, Leon MB. Randomized study to evaluate sirolimus-eluting stents implanted at coronary bifurcation lesions. Circulation 2004; 109: 1244-1249 [PMID: 14981005 DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000118474.71662.E3]
- 69 Watanabe Y, Mitomo S, Naganuma T, Kawamoto H, Takagi K, Chieffo A, Carlino M, Montorfano M, Nakamura S, Colombo A. Clinical outcomes of double stent strategy for unprotected left main distal bifurcation lesions using current generation drug eluting stent comparing to early generation drug eluting stent; The Milan and New Tokyo (MITO) registry. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2021; 97: E198-E208 [PMID: 32384579 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.28962]
- 70 Dérimay F, Rioufol G, Nishi T, Kobayashi Y, Fearon WF, Veziers J, Guérin P, Finet G. Optimal balloon positioning for the proximal optimization technique? Int J Cardiol 2019; 292: 95-97 [PMID: 31130279 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2019.05.041]
- Andreasen LN, Holm NR, Webber B, Ormiston JA. Critical aspects of balloon position during final proximal 71 optimization technique (POT) in coronary bifurcation stenting. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2020; 96: 31-39 [PMID: 32087046 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.28801]
- Ng J, Foin N, Ang HY, Fam JM, Sen S, Nijjer S, Petraco R, Di Mario C, Davies J, Wong P. Over-expansion capacity and 72 stent design model: An update with contemporary DES platforms. Int J Cardiol 2016; 221: 171-179 [PMID: 27400317 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.06.097]
- 73 Zhong M, Tang B, Zhao Q, Cheng J, Jin Q, Fu S. Should kissing balloon inflation after main vessel stenting be routine in the one-stent approach? PLoS One 2018; 13: e0197580 [PMID: 29949587 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0197580]
- Liu G, Ke X, Huang ZB, Wang LC, Huang ZN, Guo Y, Long M, Liao XX. Final kissing balloon inflation for coronary 74 bifurcation lesions treated with single-stent technique : A meta-analysis. Herz 2019; 44: 354-362 [PMID: 29181563 DOI: 10.1007/s00059-017-4647-11
- 75 Ormiston JA, Webster MW, Ruygrok PN, Stewart JT, White HD, Scott DS. Stent deformation following simulated sidebranch dilatation: a comparison of five stent designs. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 1999; 47: 258-264 [PMID: 10376516 DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1522-726X(199906)47:2<258::AID-CCD27>3.0.CO;2-C]
- Ormiston JA, Webster MW, El Jack S, Ruygrok PN, Stewart JT, Scott D, Currie E, Panther MJ, Shaw B, O'Shaughnessy 76 B. Drug-eluting stents for coronary bifurcations: bench testing of provisional side-branch strategies. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2006; 67: 49-55 [PMID: 16003787 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.20453]
- Koo BK, Kang HJ, Youn TJ, Chae IH, Choi DJ, Kim HS, Sohn DW, Oh BH, Lee MM, Park YB, Choi YS, Tahk SJ. 77 Physiologic assessment of jailed side branch lesions using fractional flow reserve. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005; 46: 633-637 [PMID: 16098427 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2005.04.054]
- 78 Vassilev DI, Kassab GS, Collet C, Gutiérrez-Chico JL, Rigatelli G, Gil RJ, Serruys PW. Elliptical stretch as a cause of side branch ostial compromise after main vessel stenting in coronary bifurcations: New insights from numerical analysis. Cardiol J 2020; 27: 507-517 [PMID: 30394509 DOI: 10.5603/CJ.a2018.0124]
- Murasato Y, Finet G, Foin N. Final kissing balloon inflation: the whole story. EuroIntervention 2015; 11 Suppl V: V81-79 V85 [PMID: 25983179 DOI: 10.4244/EIJV11SVA18]
- Mortier P, Hikichi Y, Foin N, De Santis G, Segers P, Verhegghe B, De Beule M. Provisional stenting of coronary 80 bifurcations: insights into final kissing balloon post-dilation and stent design by computational modeling. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2014; 7: 325-333 [PMID: 24650404 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2013.09.012]
- Latib A, Chieffo A, Colombo A. Elective Double Stenting for Left Main Coronary Artery Bifurcation Lesions: Patient 81 Selection and Technique. In: Moussa ID, Colombo A (editors). Tips and Tricks in Interventional Therapy of Coronary Bifurcation Lesions, England, Informa Healthcare, 2010, 149-191 [DOI: 10.3109/9781841847276-9]
- 82 Finet G, Derimay F, Motreff P, Guerin P, Pilet P, Ohayon J, Darremont O, Rioufol G. Comparative Analysis of Sequential Proximal Optimizing Technique Versus Kissing Balloon Inflation Technique in Provisional Bifurcation Stenting: Fractal Coronary Bifurcation Bench Test. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2015; 8: 1308-1317 [PMID: 26315733 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2015.05.016
- 83 Dérimay F, Finet G, Souteyrand G, Maillard L, Aminian A, Lattuca B, Cayla G, Cellier G, Motreff P, Rioufol G. Benefit of a new provisional stenting strategy, the re-proximal optimisation technique: the rePOT clinical study. EuroIntervention 2018; 14: e325-e332 [PMID: 29553940 DOI: 10.4244/EIJ-D-17-00941]
- 84 Foin N, Torii R, Mortier P, De Beule M, Viceconte N, Chan PH, Davies JE, Xu XY, Krams R, Di Mario C. Kissing balloon or sequential dilation of the side branch and main vessel for provisional stenting of bifurcations: lessons from micro-computed tomography and computational simulations. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2012; 5: 47-56 [PMID: 22230150 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2011.08.019]
- 85 Chevalier B, Glatt B, Royer T, Guyon P. Placement of coronary stents in bifurcation lesions by the "culotte" technique. Am J Cardiol 1998; 82: 943-949 [PMID: 9794349 DOI: 10.1016/s0002-9149(98)00510-4]
- Kawasaki T, Koga H, Serikawa T. Modified culotte stenting technique for bifurcation lesions: the cross-stenting 86 technique. J Invasive Cardiol 2010; 22: 243-246 [PMID: 20440044]
- 87 Wen S, Yu H, Lee H. Mini-culotte stenting for bifurcation coronary disease. Chin Med J (Engl) 2014; 127: 978-979 [PMID: 24571900]
- Chen LL, Fan L, Chen ZY, Zhen XC, Luo YK, Lin CG, Peng YF. Modified culotte stenting for treatment of complex 88 coronary bifurcation lesions: immediate and 9-month outcomes in a pilot study. Chin Med J (Engl) 2011; 124: 1943-1950 [PMID: 22088451]
- 89 Hu F, Tu S, Cai W, Jiang Z, Zheng H, Xiao L, Qiu C, Xiong C, Yao Y, Chen L. Double kissing mini-culotte versus miniculotte stenting: insights from micro-computed tomographic imaging of bench testing. EuroIntervention 2019; 15: 465-472 [PMID: 30530401 DOI: 10.4244/EIJ-D-18-00688]
- Toth GG, Sasi V, Franco D, Prassl AJ, Di Serafino L, Ng JCK, Szanto G, Schneller L, Ang HY, Plank G, Wijns W, 90 Barbato E. Double-kissing culotte technique for coronary bifurcation stenting. EuroIntervention 2020; 16: e724-e733 [PMID: 32338608 DOI: 10.4244/EIJ-D-20-00130]
- Liu J, Li L, Chen C, Wei J, Chen X, Li B, Chen Y, Luo J, Chen SL. Modified kissing balloon inflation associated with



better results after Culotte stenting for bifurcation lesions: A bench test. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2020; 96: E34-E44 [PMID: 31580011 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.28497]

- 92 Colombo A, Stankovic G, Orlic D, Corvaja N, Liistro F, Airoldi F, Chieffo A, Spanos V, Montorfano M, Di Mario C. Modified T-stenting technique with crushing for bifurcation lesions: immediate results and 30-day outcome. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2003; 60: 145-151 [PMID: 14517916 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.10622]
- 93 Galassi AR, Tomasello SD, Sacchetta G, Seminara D, Canonico L, Tamburino C. The "mini-crush technique" for the treatment of coronary trifurcation lesions. EuroIntervention 2008; 4: 358-364 [PMID: 19110810 DOI: 10.4244/eijv4i3a64]
- 94 Collins N, Dzavik V. A modified balloon crush approach improves side branch access and side branch stent apposition during crush stenting of coronary bifurcation lesions. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2006; 68: 365-371 [PMID: 16892432 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.20791]
- Chen S, Zhang J, Ye F, Zhu Z, Lin S, Shan S, Kwan TW. DK crush (double-kissing and double-crush) technique for 95 treatment of true coronary bifurcation lesions: illustration and comparison with classic crush. J Invasive Cardiol 2007; 19: 189-193 [PMID: 17404406]
- 96 Chen SL, Zhang JJ, Ye F, Chen YD, Patel T, Kawajiri K, Lee M, Kwan TW, Mintz G, Tan HC. Study comparing the double kissing (DK) crush with classical crush for the treatment of coronary bifurcation lesions: the DKCRUSH-1 Bifurcation Study with drug-eluting stents. Eur J Clin Invest 2008; 38: 361-371 [PMID: 18489398 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.2008.01949.x]
- 97 Lavarra F. Proximal Side-Branch Optimization in Crush Stenting: A Step-by-Step Technical Approach in a Silicone Phantom Model. Cardiovasc Revasc Med 2021; 28: 88-91 [PMID: 32958440 DOI: 10.1016/j.carrev.2020.07.037]
- Lavarra F. Proximal side optimization: a modification of the double kissing crush technique. US Cardiol Rev 2020; 14: 98 e02 [DOI: 10.15420/usc.2020.07]
- Erglis A, Price MJ. Stenting Approaches to the Bifurcation Lesion. In: Price MJ (Editor). Coronary stenting: A 99 companion to Topol's Textbook of interventional cardiology. Pennsylvania: Elsevier Saunders, 2012: 176-196
- Zhang JJ, Chen SL, Ye F, Yang S, Kan J, Liu YQ, Zhou Y, Sun XW, Zhang AP, Wang X, Chen J. Mechanisms and 100 clinical significance of quality of final kissing balloon inflation in patients with true bifurcation lesions treated by crush stenting technique. Chin Med J (Engl) 2009; 122: 2086-2091 [PMID: 19781289]
- 101 Ray S, Bhattacharjee P. "Nano crush" technique for bifurcation stenting, presented in 12th EBC bifurcation meeting; 2016 Oct 15-16; Rotherdam, Netherlands [DOI: 10.1002/9781444347005.ch4]
- 102 Ray S, Bhattacharjee P, Mukherjee P. Letter to the editor regarding the original article by Gianluca Rigatelli et al. presenting novel stenting technique for complex coronary bifurcation. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2019; 94: 311 [PMID: 30790441 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.28153]
- 103 Rigatelli G, Zuin M, Dell'Avvocata F, Vassilev D, Daggubati R, Nguyen T, Nguyễn MTN, Foin N. Complex coronary bifurcation treatment by a novel stenting technique: Bench test, fluid dynamic study and clinical outcomes. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2018; 92: 907-914 [PMID: 29368394 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.27494]
- Rigatelli G, Zuin M, Vassilev D, Dinh H, Dell'Avvocata F, Van Tan N, Nghia N, Ronco F, Roncon L. Feasibility, safety 104 and long-term outcomes of complex left main bifurcation treatment using the nano-inverted-t stenting: a multicentre prospective registry. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging 2021; 37: 1107-1119 [PMID: 33200318 DOI: 10.1007/s10554-020-02106-x]
- 105 Rigatelli G, Zuin M, Dash D. Thin and crush: The new mantra in left main stenting? World J Cardiol 2018; 10: 191-195 [PMID: 30510635 DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v10.i11.191]
- Ray S, Mukherjee P, Bandyopadhyay S, Karmakar S, Mitra S, Bhattacharjee P. A novel "nano-crush" technique for the 106 management of coronary bifurcation lesions: in vitro bench test analysis and preliminary report on real-world clinical evaluation in patients with one-year angiographic follow-up. AsiaIntervention 2019; 5: 41-51 [DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.03.084]
- 107 Morris PD, Gosling R, Rothman A, Iqbal J, Chiastra C, Colombo M, Migliavacca F, Banning A, Gunn JP. Double-Kissing Nanocrush for Bifurcation Lesions: Development, Bioengineering, Fluid Dynamics, and Initial Clinical Testing. Can J Cardiol 2020; 36: 852-859 [PMID: 32088059 DOI: 10.1016/j.cjca.2019.08.037]
- 108 Rigatelli G, Zuin M, Vassilev D, Dinh H, Giatti S, Carraro M, Zanon F, Roncon L, Dung HT. Culotte versus the novel nano-crush technique for unprotected complex bifurcation left main stenting: difference in procedural time, contrast volume and X-ray exposure and 3-years outcomes. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging 2019; 35: 207-214 [PMID: 30446919 DOI: 10.1007/s10554-018-1497-8
- 109 Sweeny JM, Sharma SK. Simultaneous kissing stent technique: A contemporary review. In: Waksman R, Ormiston JA. Bifurcation Stenting. UK: Blackwell Publishing, 2012: 48-56 [DOI: 10.1002/9781444347005.ch5]
- 110 Lansky AJ, Yaqub M, Hermiller JB, Smith RS, Farhat N, Caputo R, Williams JE, Sanz M, Koo K, Sood P, Sudhir K, Stone GW. Side branch occlusion with everolimus-eluting and paclitaxel-eluting stents: three-year results from the SPIRIT III randomised trial. EuroIntervention 2010; 6 Suppl J: J44-J52 [PMID: 21930490 DOI: 10.4244/EIJV6SUPJA8]
- Zhou Y, Chen S, Huang L, Hildick-Smith D, Ferenc M, Jabbour RJ, Azzalini L, Colombo A, Chieffo A, Zhao X. Definite 111 stent thrombosis after drug-eluting stent implantation in coronary bifurcation lesions: A meta-analysis of 3,107 patients from 14 randomized trials. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2018; 92: 680-691 [PMID: 29214736 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.27443]
- Grundeken MJ, Wykrzykowska JJ, Ishibashi Y, Garg S, de Vries T, Garcia-Garcia HM, Onuma Y, de Winter RJ, 112 Buszman P, Linke A, Ischinger T, Klauss V, Eberli F, Corti R, Wijns W, Morice MC, di Mario C, Meier B, Jüni P, Yazdani A, Copt S, Windecker S, Serruys PW. First generation versus second generation drug-eluting stents for the treatment of bifurcations: 5-year follow-up of the LEADERS all-comers randomized trial. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2016; 87: E248-E260 [PMID: 26649651 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.26344]
- Bechiri MY, Souteyrand G, Lefèvre T, Trouillet C, Rangé G, Cayla G, Dérimay F, Mangin L, Meneveau N, Caussin C, 113 Motreff P, Amabile N. Characteristics of stent thrombosis in bifurcation lesions analysed by optical coherence tomography. EuroIntervention 2018; 13: e2174-e2181 [PMID: 29278349 DOI: 10.4244/EIJ-D-17-00794]
- 114 Mintz GS, Lefèvre T, Lassen JF, Testa L, Pan M, Singh J, Stankovic G, Banning AP. Intravascular ultrasound in the evaluation and treatment of left main coronary artery disease: a consensus statement from the European Bifurcation Club.



EuroIntervention 2018; 14: e467-e474 [PMID: 29688182 DOI: 10.4244/EIJ-D-18-00194]

- 115 Onuma Y, Katagiri Y, Burzotta F, Holm NR, Amabile N, Okamura T, Mintz GS, Darremont O, Lassen JF, Lefèvre T, Louvard Y, Stankovic G, Serruys PW. Joint consensus on the use of OCT in coronary bifurcation lesions by the European and Japanese bifurcation clubs. EuroIntervention 2019; 14: e1568-e1577 [PMID: 30479307 DOI: 10.4244/EIJ-D-18-00391]
- Suárez de Lezo J, Medina A, Martín P, Novoa J, Suárez de Lezo J, Pan M, Caballero E, Melián F, Mazuelos F, Quevedo 116 V. Predictors of ostial side branch damage during provisional stenting of coronary bifurcation lesions not involving the side branch origin: an ultrasonographic study. EuroIntervention 2012; 7: 1147-1154 [PMID: 22030298 DOI: 10.4244/EIJV7I10A185]
- Park SJ, Kim YH, Park DW, Lee SW, Kim WJ, Suh J, Yun SC, Lee CW, Hong MK, Lee JH, Park SW; MAIN-117 COMPARE Investigators. Impact of intravascular ultrasound guidance on long-term mortality in stenting for unprotected left main coronary artery stenosis. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2009; 2: 167-177 [PMID: 20031713 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.108.799494]
- Andell P, Karlsson S, Mohammad MA, Götberg M, James S, Jensen J, Fröbert O, Angerås O, Nilsson J, Omerovic E, 118 Lagerquist B, Persson J, Koul S, Erlinge D. Intravascular Ultrasound Guidance Is Associated With Better Outcome in Patients Undergoing Unprotected Left Main Coronary Artery Stenting Compared With Angiography Guidance Alone. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2017; 10 [PMID: 28487356 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.116.004813]
- 119 Kinnaird T, Johnson T, Anderson R, Gallagher S, Sirker A, Ludman P, de Belder M, Copt S, Oldroyd K, Banning A, Mamas M, Curzen N. Intravascular Imaging and 12-Month Mortality After Unprotected Left Main Stem PCI: An Analysis From the British Cardiovascular Intervention Society Database. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2020; 13: 346-357 [PMID: 32029252 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2019.10.007]
- 120 Wang Y, Mintz GS, Gu Z, Qi Y, Wang Y, Liu M, Wu X. Meta-analysis and systematic review of intravascular ultrasound versus angiography-guided drug eluting stent implantation in left main coronary disease in 4592 patients. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2018; 18: 115 [PMID: 29898668 DOI: 10.1186/s12872-018-0843-z]
- 121 Ye Y, Yang M, Zhang S, Zeng Y. Percutaneous coronary intervention in left main coronary artery disease with or without intravascular ultrasound: A meta-analysis. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0179756 [PMID: 28640875 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0179756]
- 122 Chen L, Xu T, Xue XJ, Zhang JJ, Ye F, Tian NL, Chen SL. Intravascular ultrasound-guided drug-eluting stent implantation is associated with improved clinical outcomes in patients with unstable angina and complex coronary artery true bifurcation lesions. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging 2018; 34: 1685-1696 [PMID: 29981016 DOI: 10.1007/s10554-018-1393-2
- 123 Holm NR, Andreasen LN, Walsh S, Kajander OA, Witt N, Eek C, Knaapen P, Koltowski L, Gutiérrez-Chico JL, Burzotta F, Kockman J, Ormiston J, Santos-Pardo I, Laanmets P, Mylotte D, Madsen M, Hjort J, Kumsars I, Råmunddal T, Christiansen EH. Rational and design of the European randomized Optical Coherence Tomography Optimized Bifurcation Event Reduction Trial (OCTOBER). Am Heart J 2018; 205: 97-109 [PMID: 30205242 DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2018.08.003]
- Miyazaki Y, Muramatsu T, Asano T, Katagiri Y, Sotomi Y, Nakatani S, Takahashi K, Kogame N, Higuchi Y, Ishikawa 124 M, Kyono H, Yano M, Ozaki Y, Serruys PW, Okamura T, Onuma Y. Online three-dimensional OFDI-guided versus angiography-guided PCI in bifurcation lesions: design and rationale of the randomised OPTIMUM trial. EuroIntervention 2021; 16: 1333-1341 [PMID: 31289018 DOI: 10.4244/EIJ-D-18-00902]
- 125 Gogas BD, Fei Y, Song L, Alexopoulos D, Lavarra F, Rab T, King SB 3rd, Chen SL. Left Main Coronary Interventions: A Practical Guide. Cardiovasc Revasc Med 2020; 21: 1596-1605 [PMID: 32546382 DOI: 10.1016/j.carrev.2020.05.014]
- Rab T, Sheiban I, Louvard Y, Sawaya FJ, Zhang JJ, Chen SL. Current Interventions for the Left Main Bifurcation. JACC 126 Cardiovasc Interv 2017; 10: 849-865 [PMID: 28473107 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2017.02.037]
- Case BC, Yerasi C, Forrestal BJ, Shlofmitz E, Garcia-Garcia HM, Mintz GS, Waksman R. Intravascular ultrasound 127 guidance in the evaluation and treatment of left main coronary artery disease. Int J Cardiol 2021; 325: 168-175 [PMID: 33039578 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2020.10.008]
- Patel MR, Calhoon JH, Dehmer GJ, Grantham JA, Maddox TM, Maron DJ, Smith PK. 128 ACC/AATS/AHA/ASE/ASNC/SCAI/SCCT/STS 2017 Appropriate Use Criteria for Coronary Revascularization in Patients With Stable Ischemic Heart Disease : A Report of the American College of Cardiology Appropriate Use Criteria Task Force, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, American Heart Association, American Society of Echocardiography, American Society of Nuclear Cardiology, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography, and Society of Thoracic Surgeons. J Nucl Cardiol 2017; 24: 1759-1792 [PMID: 28608183 DOI: 10.1007/s12350-017-0917-9]
- Stone GW, Kappetein AP, Sabik JF, Pocock SJ, Morice MC, Puskas J, Kandzari DE, Karmpaliotis D, Brown WM 3rd, 129 Lembo NJ, Banning A, Merkely B, Horkay F, Boonstra PW, van Boven AJ, Ungi I, Bogáts G, Mansour S, Noiseux N, Sabaté M, Pomar J, Hickey M, Gershlick A, Buszman PE, Bochenek A, Schampaert E, Pagé P, Modolo R, Gregson J, Simonton CA, Mehran R, Kosmidou I, Généreux P, Crowley A, Dressler O, Serruys PW; EXCEL Trial Investigators. Five-Year Outcomes after PCI or CABG for Left Main Coronary Disease. N Engl J Med 2019; 381: 1820-1830 [PMID: 31562798 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1909406]
- 130 Holm NR, Mäkikallio T, Lindsay MM, Spence MS, Erglis A, Menown IBA, Trovik T, Kellerth T, Kalinauskas G, Mogensen LJH, Nielsen PH, Niemelä M, Lassen JF, Oldroyd K, Berg G, Stradins P, Walsh SJ, Graham ANJ, Endresen PC, Fröbert O, Trivedi U, Anttila V, Hildick-Smith D, Thuesen L, Christiansen EH; NOBLE investigators. Percutaneous coronary angioplasty versus coronary artery bypass grafting in the treatment of unprotected left main stenosis: updated 5year outcomes from the randomised, non-inferiority NOBLE trial. Lancet 2020; 395: 191-199 [PMID: 31879028 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32972-1]
- 131 Taggart DP, Gaudino M. PCI or CABG for Left Main Coronary Artery Disease. N Engl J Med 2020; 383: 290 [PMID: 32668123 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMc2000645]
- Ahmad Y, Howard JP, Arnold AD, Cook CM, Prasad M, Ali ZA, Parikh MA, Kosmidou I, Francis DP, Moses JW, Leon 132 MB, Kirtane AJ, Stone GW, Karmpaliotis D. Mortality after drug-eluting stents vs. coronary artery bypass grafting for left



main coronary artery disease: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Eur Heart J 2020; 41: 3228-3235 [PMID: 32118272 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa135]

- Modi BN, van de Hoef TP, Piek JJ, Perera D. Physiological assessment of left main coronary artery disease. 133 EuroIntervention 2017; 13: 820-827 [PMID: 28606883 DOI: 10.4244/EIJ-D-17-00135]
- 134 Park SJ, Ahn JM, Kang SJ, Yoon SH, Koo BK, Lee JY, Kim WJ, Park DW, Lee SW, Kim YH, Lee CW, Park SW. Intravascular ultrasound-derived minimal lumen area criteria for functionally significant left main coronary artery stenosis. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2014; 7: 868-874 [PMID: 25147031 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014.02.015]
- 135 Johnson TW, Räber L, di Mario C, Bourantas C, Jia H, Mattesini A, Gonzalo N, de la Torre Hernandez JM, Prati F, Koskinas K, Joner M, Radu MD, Erlinge D, Regar E, Kunadian V, Maehara A, Byrne RA, Capodanno D, Akasaka T, Wijns W, Mintz GS, Guagliumi G. Clinical use of intracoronary imaging. Part 2: acute coronary syndromes, ambiguous coronary angiography findings, and guiding interventional decision-making: an expert consensus document of the European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions. Eur Heart J 2019; 40: 2566-2584 [PMID: 31112213 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehz332]
- 136 Kang SJ, Ahn JM, Song H, Kim WJ, Lee JY, Park DW, Yun SC, Lee SW, Kim YH, Lee CW, Mintz GS, Park SW, Park SJ. Comprehensive intravascular ultrasound assessment of stent area and its impact on restenosis and adverse cardiac events in 403 patients with unprotected left main disease. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2011; 4: 562-569 [PMID: 22045969 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.111.964643]
- 137 Maehara A. Abstract 903-08. Presented at: American College of Cardiology Scientific Session; March 17-19, 2017; Washington, DC
- 138 Ladwiniec A, Walsh SJ, Holm NR, Hanratty CG, Mäkikallio T, Kellerth T, Hildick-Smith D, Mogensen LJH, Hartikainen J, Menown IBA, Erglis A, Eriksen E, Spence MS, Thuesen L, Christiansen EH. Intravascular ultrasound to guide left main stem intervention: a NOBLE trial substudy. EuroIntervention 2020; 16: 201-209 [PMID: 32122821 DOI: 10.4244/EIJ-D-19-01003]
- 139 Nishida K, Toyofuku M, Morimoto T, Ohya M, Fuku Y, Higami H, Yamaji K, Muranishi H, Yamaji Y, Furukawa D, Tada T, Ko E, Kadota K, Ando K, Sakamoto H, Tamura T, Kawai K, Kimura T; AOI LMCA Stenting Registry Investigators. Prognostic impact of final kissing balloon technique after crossover stenting for the left main coronary artery: from the AOI-LMCA registry. Cardiovasc Interv Ther 2019; 34: 197-206 [PMID: 29691767 DOI: 10.1007/s12928-018-0522-0]
- Oviedo C, Maehara A, Mintz GS, Araki H, Choi SY, Tsujita K, Kubo T, Doi H, Templin B, Lansky AJ, Dangas G, Leon 140 MB, Mehran R, Tahk SJ, Stone GW, Ochiai M, Moses JW. Intravascular ultrasound classification of plaque distribution in left main coronary artery bifurcations: where is the plaque really located? Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2010; 3: 105-112 [PMID: 20197513 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.109.906016]
- 141 Jeger RV, Eccleshall S, Wan Ahmad WA, Ge J, Poerner TC, Shin ES, Alfonso F, Latib A, Ong PJ, Rissanen TT, Saucedo J, Scheller B, Kleber FX; International DCB Consensus Group. Drug-Coated Balloons for Coronary Artery Disease: Third Report of the International DCB Consensus Group. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2020; 13: 1391-1402 [PMID: 32473887 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2020.02.043]
- 142 Kleber FX, Rittger H, Ludwig J, Schulz A, Mathey DG, Boxberger M, Degenhardt R, Scheller B, Strasser RH. Drug eluting balloons as stand alone procedure for coronary bifurcational lesions: results of the randomized multicenter PEPCAD-BIF trial. Clin Res Cardiol 2016; 105: 613-621 [PMID: 26768146 DOI: 10.1007/s00392-015-0957-6]
- Megaly M, Rofael M, Saad M, Shishehbor M, Brilakis ES. Outcomes With Drug-Coated Balloons for Treating the Side 143 Branch of Coronary Bifurcation Lesions. J Invasive Cardiol 2018; 30: 393-399 [PMID: 30218555]
- Tzanis G, Kolyviras A, Giannini F, Colombo A, Tzifos V. POT-sideDCB-POT: A novel technique for treating coronary 144 bifurcation lesions. Hellenic J Cardiol 2021; 62: 161-163 [PMID: 32387590 DOI: 10.1016/j.hjc.2020.04.017]
- 145 Harada Y, Colleran R, Pinieck S, Giacoppo D, Michel J, Kufner S, Cassese S, Joner M, Ibrahim T, Laugwitz KL, Kastrati A, Byrne RA. Angiographic and clinical outcomes of patients treated with drug-coated balloon angioplasty for in-stent restenosis after coronary bifurcation stenting with a two-stent technique. EuroIntervention 2017; 12: 2132-2139 [PMID: 27916742 DOI: 10.4244/EIJ-D-16-00226]
- 146 Gil RJ, Bil J, Džavík V, Vassilev D, Kern A, Formuszewicz R, Zalewska-Adamiec M, Dobrzycki S. Regular Drug-Eluting Stent vs Dedicated Coronary Bifurcation BiOSS Expert Stent: Multicenter Open-Label Randomized Controlled POLBOS I Trial. Can J Cardiol 2015; 31: 671-678 [PMID: 25828372 DOI: 10.1016/j.cjca.2014.12.024]
- 147 Gil RJ, Bil J, Grundeken MJ, Kern A, Iñigo Garcia LA, Vassilev D, Pawłowski T, Formuszewicz R, Dobrzycki S, Wykrzykowska JJ, Serruys PW. Regular drug-eluting stents versus the dedicated coronary bifurcation sirolimus-eluting BiOSS LIM® stent: the randomised, multicentre, open-label, controlled POLBOS II trial. EuroIntervention 2016; 12: e1404-e1412 [PMID: 26600564 DOI: 10.4244/EIJY15M11_11]
- Konigstein M, Srdanovic I, Gore AK, Rahim HM, Généreux P, Ben-Yehuda O, Kumsars I, Lesiak M, Kini A, Fontos G, 148 Slagboom T, Ungi I, Christopher Metzger D, Crowley A, Leon MB, Ali ZA. Outcomes of the Tryton-dedicated bifurcation stent for the treatment of true coronary bifurcations: Individual-patient-data pooled analysis. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2019; 93: 1255-1261 [PMID: 30489011 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.27952]
- Dubois CL, Wijns W. The AXXESSTM self-expanding biolimus A9TM eluting stent system for coronary bifurcation 149 lesions. EuroIntervention 2010; 6 Suppl J: J130-J134 [PMID: 21930477 DOI: 10.4244/EIJV6SUPJA21]
- 150 Bennett J, Adriaenssens T, McCutcheon K, Dens J, Desmet W, Sinnaeve P, Vrolix M, Dubois C. 5-Year clinical followup of the COBRA (complex coronary bifurcation lesions: Randomized comparison of a strategy using a dedicated selfexpanding biolimus A9-eluting stent vs. a culotte strategy using everolimus-eluting stents) study. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2018; 92: E375-E380 [PMID: 29536609 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.27597]
- 151 Rawasia WF, Alkhouli M. Dedicated Bifurcation Stents vs. Conventional Stenting Strategy for Coronary Bifurcation Lesions: Insights from Randomized Clinical Trials. Cardiovasc Revasc Med 2020; 21: 556-558 [PMID: 31928939 DOI: 10.1016/j.carrev.2019.12.033]
- 152 Zimarino M, Briguori C, Amat-Santos IJ, Radico F, Barbato E, Chieffo A, Cirillo P, Costa RA, Erglis A, Gamra H, Gil RJ, Kanic V, Kedev SA, Maddestra N, Nakamura S, Pellicano M, Petrov I, Strozzi M, Tesorio T, Vukcevic V, De



Caterina R, Stankovic G; EuroBifurcation Club. Mid-term outcomes after percutaneous interventions in coronary bifurcations. Int J Cardiol 2019; 283: 78-83 [PMID: 30528620 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2018.11.139]

- 153 Collet JP, Thiele H, Barbato E, Barthélémy O, Bauersachs J, Bhatt DL, Dendale P, Dorobantu M, Edvardsen T, Folliguet T, Gale CP, Gilard M, Jobs A, Jüni P, Lambrinou E, Lewis BS, Mehilli J, Meliga E, Merkely B, Mueller C, Roffi M, Rutten FH, Sibbing D, Siontis GCM; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2020 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation. Eur Heart J 2021; 42: 1289-1367 [PMID: 32860058 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa575]
- 154 Valgimigli M, Bueno H, Byrne RA, Collet JP, Costa F, Jeppsson A, Jüni P, Kastrati A, Kolh P, Mauri L, Montalescot G, Neumann FJ, Petricevic M, Roffi M, Steg PG, Windecker S, Zamorano JL, Levine GN; ESC Scientific Document Group; ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG); ESC National Cardiac Societies. 2017 ESC focused update on dual antiplatelet therapy in coronary artery disease developed in collaboration with EACTS: The Task Force for dual antiplatelet therapy in coronary artery disease of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and of the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS). Eur Heart J 2018; 39: 213-260 [PMID: 28886622 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx419]
- 155 Costa F, Van Klaveren D, Feres F, James S, Räber L, Pilgrim T, Hong MK, Kim HS, Colombo A, Steg PG, Bhatt DL, Stone GW, Windecker S, Steyerberg EW, Valgimigli M; PRECISE-DAPT Study Investigators. Dual Antiplatelet Therapy Duration Based on Ischemic and Bleeding Risks After Coronary Stenting. J Am Coll Cardiol 2019; 73: 741-754 [PMID: 30784667 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.11.048]
- 156 Lawton JS, Tamis-Holland JE, Bangalore S, Bates ER, Beckie TM, Bischoff JM, Bittl JA, Cohen MG, DiMaio JM, Don CW, Fremes SE, Gaudino MF, Goldberger ZD, Grant MC, Jaswal JB, Kurlansky PA, Mehran R, Metkus TS Jr, Nnacheta LC, Rao SV, Sellke FW, Sharma G, Yong CM, Zwischenberger BA. 2021 ACC/AHA/SCAI Guideline for Coronary Artery Revascularization: Executive Summary: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Joint Committee on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Circulation 2022; 145: e4-e17 [PMID: 34882436 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.0000000000001039]



WJC

World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.139

World J Cardiol 2022 March 26; 14(3): 139-151

REVIEW

Arrhythmic risk stratification in ischemic, non-ischemic and hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: A two-step multifactorial, electrophysiology study inclusive approach

Petros Arsenos, Konstantinos A Gatzoulis, Dimitrios Tsiachris, Polychronis Dilaveris, Skevos Sideris, Ilias Sotiropoulos, Stefanos Archontakis, Christos-Konstantinos Antoniou, Athanasios Kordalis, Ioannis Skiadas, Konstantinos Toutouzas, Charalambos Vlachopoulos, Dimitrios Tousoulis, Konstantinos Tsioufis

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review:

Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Purevjav E

Received: March 18, 2021 Peer-review started: March 18, 2021 First decision: September 29, 2021 Revised: October 28, 2021 Accepted: February 23, 2022 Article in press: February 23, 2022 Published online: March 26, 2022



Petros Arsenos, Konstantinos A Gatzoulis, Polychronis Dilaveris, Athanasios Kordalis, Konstantinos Toutouzas, Charalambos Vlachopoulos, Dimitrios Tousoulis, Konstantinos Tsioufis, First Department of Cardiology, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Hippokration Hospital, Athens 11527, Attika, Greece

Dimitrios Tsiachris, Christos-Konstantinos Antoniou, Athens Heart Center, Athens Medical Center, Athens 15125, Attika, Greece

Skevos Sideris, Ilias Sotiropoulos, Stefanos Archontakis, Department of Cardiology, Hippokration Hospital, Athens 11527, Attika, Greece

loannis Skiadas, Fifth Department of Cardiology, Hygeia Hospital, Marousi 15123, Attika, Greece

Corresponding author: Konstantinos A Gatzoulis, MD, PhD, Professor, First Department of Cardiology, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Hippokration Hospital, 114 Vasilissis Sofias Avenue, Athens 11527, Attika, Greece. kgatzoul@med.uoa.gr

Abstract

Annual arrhythmic sudden cardiac death ranges from 0.6% to 4% in ischemic cardiomyopathy (ICM), 1% to 2% in non-ischemic cardiomyopathy (NICM), and 1% in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM). Towards a more effective arrhythmic risk stratification (ARS) we hereby present a two-step ARS with the usage of seven non-invasive risk factors: Late potentials presence ($\geq 2/3$ positive criteria), premature ventricular contractions ($\geq 30/h$), non-sustained ventricular tachycardia (\geq 1episode/24 h), abnormal heart rate turbulence (onset \geq 0% and slope ≤ 2.5 ms) and reduced deceleration capacity (≤ 4.5 ms), abnormal T wave alternans ($\geq 65\mu$ V), decreased heart rate variability (SDNN < 70ms), and prolonged QT_c interval (> 440 ms in males and > 450 ms in females) which reflect the arrhythmogenic mechanisms for the selection of the intermediate arrhythmic risk patients in the first step. In the second step, these intermediate-risk patients undergo a programmed ventricular stimulation (PVS) for the detection of inducible, truly high-risk ICM and NICM patients, who will benefit from an implantable cardioverter defibrillator. For HCM patients, we also suggest the

incorporation of the PVS either for the low HCM Risk-score patients or for the patients with one traditional risk factor in order to improve the inadequate sensitivity of the former and the low specificity of the latter.

Key Words: Arrhythmic sudden cardiac death; Risk stratification; Non-invasive risk factors; Electrophysiology study; Two-step approach; Arrhythmias in cardiomyopathy

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: An effective arrhythmic risk stratification approach based on two steps is proposed for the detection of truly high arrhythmic risk patients among ischemic and non-ischemic cardiomyopathy groups: In the first step, patients are screened for several non-invasive risk factors (NIRFs). When even one of these NIRFs is present, patients proceed to the second step, *i.e.*, an electrophysiological study with programmed ventricular stimulation. An implantable cardiac defibrillator is offered to the inducible patients. We also suggest the incorporation of an electrophysiological study in the arrhythmic risk stratification approach among low-risk groups of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy patients.

Citation: Arsenos P, Gatzoulis KA, Tsiachris D, Dilaveris P, Sideris S, Sotiropoulos I, Archontakis S, Antoniou CK, Kordalis A, Skiadas I, Toutouzas K, Vlachopoulos C, Tousoulis D, Tsioufis K. Arrhythmic risk stratification in ischemic, non-ischemic and hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: A two-step multifactorial, electrophysiology study inclusive approach. World J Cardiol 2022; 14(3): 139-151

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v14/i3/139.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.139

INTRODUCTION

Arrhythmic sudden cardiac death (SCD) could potentially pose a threat to patients with ischemic[1] (ICM), non-ischemic^[2] (NICM), and hypertrophic^[3] (HCM) cardiomyopathy. It occurs by a sudden heart rhythm disorder caused by either an abrupt shift of the normal rhythm to ventricular tachycardia (VT), which degenerates into ventricular fibrillation (VF), or rarely by direct VF[4]. One of the common substrates for this rhythm disturbance in ICM as well as in NICM and HCM is myocardial fibrosis^[5]. Arrhythmogenic fibrotic areas are ubiquitous in the post-infarcted myocardial segments in ICM[5], in the left ventricular septum or left ventricular free wall in NICM[6], and interstitially in the left ventricular wall in HCM[7]. The annual SCD rate may range from 0.6% to 4% in ICM[8,9], 1% to 2% in NICM[6] and 1% in HCM[3]. Nevertheless, patients may be protected from arrhythmic SCD thanks to Dr. Mirowski, who conceived the idea, invented and implanted the first cardioverter defibrillator (ICD) back in 1980. However, prior to an ICD implantation, an effective arrhythmic risk stratification (ARS) of a large number of patients at potential arrhythmic risk is required in order to identify those at truly high risk[9] thus, avoiding unnecessary implantations with undue exposure to complications and health system resources exhaustion.

Current status of arrhythmic risk stratification and its limitations

Current European^[10] and American Guidelines for SCD prevention are based on previous studies^[1,2] with significant inherent design limitations. For the primary prevention of SCD in post-myocardial infarction (post-MI) patients, an ICD implantation is recommended in all patients with left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) \leq 35% based on the MADIT II[1] study results, published 19 years ago. While 18 devices have to be implanted, to save one life during a 2-year follow-up with this strategy[11], a rather significant post-MI subpopulation demonstrating preserved left ventricular systolic function and LVEF > 35%, will be still exposed to SCD with an annual prevalence of malignant arrhythmias ranging between 0.6% to 1%[8]. Similarly, according to the results of SCD-HeFT and DEFINITE[2] studies, an ICD implantation for primary prevention of SCD is recommended for NICM patients with a reduced left ventricular systolic function (LVEF $\leq 35\%$)[10]. The usage of the LVEF $\leq 35\%$ criterion for nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy patients' selection for ICD implantation bears two limitations: first, as the LVEF \leq 35% criterion fails to identify the truly arrhythmic risk patients, the majority of the implanted ICDs within this spectrum are not expected to be activated, and, as the recent DANISH study has shown, survival may not be improved. Secondly, in a significant proportion of NICM patients with an LVEF>35%, fatal arrhythmic events may occur[6].

In HCM, the current European guidelines recommend the HCM Risk-SCD score calculation and an ICD implantation for patients with an estimated 5-year SCD risk > 6% (Class IIa)[10]. The HCM Risk-


SCD score, as a screening tool, also has inherent limitations. Since its dawn in the development study among 2082 patients (derivation cohort) and the subsequent application in the evaluation study of 1593 patients[12] (validation cohort), 84 SCD cases occurred during follow-up. An HCM Risk-SCD score > 4% was able to detect 60 out of these 84 SCD cases (71%) but failed to detect the rest (29%, *i.e.*, one out of three patients). This limited performance of the current arrhythmic risk stratification approaches in ischemic and non-ischemic cardiomyopathy is of no surprise because of their inability to estimate the underlying arrhythmic substrate by ignoring significant information from already existing and promising non-invasive[9] and invasive electrophysiology (EP) related techniques[13,14]. MADIT II[1] and SCD-HeFT studies were endeavors for proving the post-ICD implantation survival benefit based on an oversimplistic, rather hemodynamic than EP oriented approach, in coronary artery disease (CAD) and NICM populations, in whom an increased incidence of cardiac mortality was anticipated. In HCM, the development of a multivariate scoring system^[12], with the inclusion of clinical, echocardiographic, and electrocardiographic markers, although it achieved some degree of satisfactory performance among patients with several risk factors as recommended in both the European and American guidelines, it failed to detect relatively low-risk patients exhibiting one either strong or rather loose traditional risk factor, and who are still at risk for SCD[15,16]. Furthermore, there is a significant discrepancy between the European and American guidelines, with the former being more specific but less sensitive [17].

Value of the left ventricular ejection fraction in arrhythmic risk stratification and the role of the noninvasive risk factors

Arrhythmic mortality is known to have an inverse correlation with the left ventricular systolic function [9,18]. The more LVEF declines, the more mortality increases: in relatively preserved LVEF > 30% the annual mortality is 3.2%, while in diminished LVEF 21%-30% it raises to 7.7%, and in seriously depressed left ventricular systolic function (LVEF < 20%) it launches, to 9.4% [9]. This inverse correlation between left ventricular systolic function and arrhythmic event rates was known and well described before the MADIT II[1] trial. In this study design, the cutoff point of LVEF \leq 30% was selected as an enrolment criterion for the recruitment of post-MI patients with moderate to serious heart failure and highly-expected future arrhythmic events[18]. Indeed, the main hypothesis (*i.e.*, ICDs improve survival in post-MI patients) was confirmed within the next 20 mo of follow-up. Thereafter, guideline recommendations^[10] for patient selection and ICD implantation were dominated by the enrolment criteria for the CAD patients of the MADIT II study [1], *i.e.*, impaired LVEF \leq 30% and for the NICM patients by the enrolment criteria of the SCDHeFT study, *i.e.*, diminished LVEF \leq 35%. It must be emphasized the significant limitations of the LVEF screening tool^[9] considering the calculation of left ventricular systolic function may be affected by the intra- and interobserver variability during measurements and may also be affected by the temporal variability arousing from the natural evolution of the disease as well as from therapeutic interventions such as coronary artery bypass, percutaneous coronary intervention, and pharmacological treatment. Furthermore, the LVEF is more correlated with total mortality rather than with arrhythmic sudden cardiac death and it has low sensitivity, as only onethird of SCDs occur in patients with LVEF < 35%, while two-thirds of SCDs occur in patients with an LVEF > 35%.

It should also be noted that, despite the guideline recommendations for primary prevention of SCD, ICD implantation rates in patients with LVEF $\leq 35\%$ seem to be below, both in the United States [19] and Europe^[20]. Therefore, a reasonable question arouses: why does LVEF, an anatomic-functional index per se, also predicts future arrhythmic events[9]? Impaired left ventricular systolic function is the consequence of post-MI ischemia, myocardial cell necrosis, and myocardial tissue fibrosis. After the infarction of the left ventricle, both anatomic and electric remodelings are evolving. At the anatomicfunctional tissue level, the fibrotic scar formation reduces the left ventricular systolic function, while at the molecular scale, the action potential is prolonged, the intracellular calcium homeostasis is affected, and the dispersion of repolarization is increased. Accumulation of connective tissue into the cellular gap junctions occurs in parallel with systemic neurohormonal activation and increased tone of the sympathetic limp of the autonomic nervous system[21]. As a consequence, the LVEF that quantifies the impaired left ventricular functionality also reflects the subsequent electrical instability, predisposing to VT/VF[9]. The more this anatomic-functional index LVEF decreases, the more it encapsulates hidden electric information occurring in electrophysiological and myocardial cell levels. This information is of some prognostic value but the LVEF criterion is raw, modest, and remote from a personalized estimation of the active presence of the arrhythmogenic mechanisms^[9]. The need for effective ARS prior to an ICD implantation constitutes a great challenge; in addition to using LVEF, which is of limited sensitivity and specificity, our research group proposes that this hidden electric information should be discriminated and extracted from the impaired anatomic-functional performance of the left ventricle for personalized prognostic ARS by applying the appropriate methods[9]. Arrhythmic SCD is electric in its origin and the most appropriate ARS approach is the usage of conventional and advanced electrocardiography through recording the electric function of the myocardium and detecting the presence and activity of different arrhythmogenic mechanisms[9,22]. Conventional electrocardiographic (ECG) indices, such as late potentials from signal-averaged ECG[23], QTc interval duration[24], number of ventricular premature beats[24], and non-sustained VT episodes[24] per 24 h, as well as advanced ECG



indices such as standard deviation of normal to normal beats from heart rate variability (SDNN)[25], deceleration capacity of heart rate (DC)[26], heart rate turbulence (HRT)[27,28], and T-wave alternans (TWA)[29], may reveal this prognostic information that is related to different arrhythmogenic mechanisms[22]. The above ECG indices were named "non-invasive risk factors" (NIRFs) when applied during the first step in the PRESERVE-EF[24] study for the selection of patients who were further investigated with programmed ventricular stimulation (PVS) in the second step. The main limitation of NIRFs for SCD prediction is solely that each of these risk factors has low positive predictive accuracy by achieving low odds or hazard ratios. To support a decision for an ICD implantation with an acceptable number needed to treat, it has been advocated that a risk stratification index is required to achieve an odds ratio of 25-30. This limitation was effectively addressed in the PRESERVE-EF study^[24], through the implementation of PVS in the second step which essentially augmented the performance of the total algorithm after the seven NIRFs had been investigated in the first step.

Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging

Assessment of the arrhythmogenic substrate of the myocardium can be also conducted through cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR). Magnetic resonance diagnostic imaging is based on the contrast between tissues created by the signal generated from the response of hydrogen atoms to the magnetic field. T1 relaxation is the recovery of the longitudinal net magnetization vector and T2 relaxation time is the recovery of the transverse net magnetization vector[30]. T1 mapping does not separate extracellular from cellular segments [31,32]. CMR imaging enhanced with intravenous contrast agents e.g., Gadolinium-based contrast agents (GBCAs), multiplies the extracted information[33]. GBCAs cannot enter the intracellular compartment and are distributed only to the extracellular and interstitial space. After the first distribution, a progressive washout of CBCA is observed in the normal myocardium but this washout is delayed in abnormal fibrotic areas. While late gadolinium enhancement (LGE) expresses the difference between two areas, the extracellular volume (ECV) is reflecting histological changes early in the cardiomyopathies' course, independently of their cause. In CAD, the scar tissue following an acute coronary syndrome forms the arrhythmogenic substrate[34]. LGE detects focal myocardial fibrosis predisposing to arrhythmic risk[35,36]. While in the dense core of the scar the fibrotic areas are interrupted by viable fibers serving as slow conduction pathways, in the "grey zone" that surrounds the core of the scar, the hypoperfused myocardium conceals arrhythmogenic properties[37,38]. CMR by assessing and quantifying the heterogeneity of the scar and size of the border zone predicts malignant arrhythmias and appropriate ICD activations[39]. T1 mapping and ECV abnormal measurements are also correlated with an increased arrhythmic burden[40].

In NICM, both the existence and localization of LGE are independent predictors for arrhythmic SCD and hospitalization in all ranges of LVEF[6,41,42]. Septal LGE carries the worst prognosis, even if the fibrotic area is restricted, while the coexistence of septal with free wall LGE, as well as a subepicardial pattern of LGE, are all additive risk factors for fatal arrhythmias[6,41-43]. ECV reveals the early stages of the disease and represents an independent prognostic factor for cardiovascular death and appropriate ICD activations [44,45].

In HCM, the presence of scar, imaged by LGE, is considered to be a strong independent predictor for ventricular arrhythmias, ventricular remodeling, all-cause mortality, and cardiac death[46]. The extent of myocardial LGE involvement has been proposed as a better risk stratifier, with cutoffs oscillating from as low as 10% to as high as 20%, with the mean value of 15% attaining wider acceptance. The pattern of LGE distribution, patchy with multiple foci or diffuse, does not carry additional risk. Nevertheless, we are not aware of whether the decision for an ICD implantation for primary protection against SCD can be exclusively made based on the cardiac MRI; the specific criteria for such a decision are unknown, and we lack prospective information relevant to the rate of appropriate defibrillator activations among all the implanted devices at follow-up time to evaluate such kind of strategy [47]. The results of the ongoing GUIDE-CMR multicenter study^[48] in Australia, a study randomizing both post-MI and NICM patients with relatively preserved LVEF 35%-50% upon CMR findings to ICD vs ILR, may provide the initial answers to these questions. In the electrophysiology perspective, CMR characterizes the cardiac tissue and detects the substrate that may be arrhythmogenic. This is a necessary condition for arrhythmogenicity, however, it is considered insufficient. The potential arrhythmogenic function of this scar substrate with the usage of CMR solely remains unknown. In order for this predictive information to be extracted, it is necessary that non-invasive and invasive electrocardiography with VPBs, NSVT, LPs, and inducibility upon PVS in electrophysiology (EP) lab is included in the ARS. CMR may classify an extended number of patients with a scar presence [6,47], and convert all of them to ICD candidates. Following such a strategy, a large number needed to treat may not be avoided, and as it happened with the devices implanted for two decades according to the LVEF criterion, only a small portion will be appropriately activated. While mere CMR is probably insufficient to staunchly support the decision for appropriate patient selection before an ICD implantation, it represents an excellent NIRF for the first initial screening of a two-step, EP inclusive approach.

Electrophysiology study with PVS

Ventricular arrhythmias leading to SCD can be studied in the EP Lab and can be triggered or reproduced in patients prone to arrhythmia. Since 1971, when Wellens et al[49] introduced the PVS in



the investigation of arrhythmias, it has been known that malignant VT and VF may be triggered in the EP Lab, with the patient being fully conscious in the supine position. This triggering procedure involves an intracardiac catheter, which has been percutaneously inserted and intravenously advanced into the right ventricle, to contact the myocardium. After the external connection of the catheter to a suitable pulse generator, and the assessment of the effective refractory period of that point of the myocardium, PVS with a specific protocol follows. To increase the sensitivity and specificity of the study, the procedure is usually performed and repeated at two different sites, *i.e.*, at the apex and the right ventricle outflow tract, while NICM patients additionally receive intravenously b-agonists. Myocardial fibrosis forms the substrate for a reentrant mechanism which, during programmed ventricular stimulation with the extra stimuli addition, may be activated and generate monomorphic ventricular tachycardia. Multiple programmed ventricular stimuli may act on the triggering mechanism and they may also cause ventricular tachycardia. The laboratory result of an induced or non-induced sustained ventricular tachyarrhythmia provides unique and valuable information for the management of such patients. This information cannot be extracted through other modalities and requires patients to be subjected to this specific protocol, which in the controlled EP Lab setting, is absolutely safe. Given the importance of the question and the risk of possible future exposure to SCD, there is not a single doubt that a patient's subjection to this invasive procedure is worthwhile. Inducible sustained monomorphic VT has been repeatedly proved to be a predictor of SCD in prospective trials^[50]. In contrast, the existing data for polymorphic VT or VF induction are conflicting.

Some studies conclude that the induced polymorphic VT or VF are not associated with a high risk for SCD[50,51] but this point is conflicting, as other data support the aspect that such an arrhythmic response to PVS is also of prognostic value[13,14,52].

In addition, previous studies suggest a low risk of SCD in patients with relatively preserved left ventricular systolic function and LVEF > 40%, even in the presence of inducible VT[53], however, primary protection from major arrhythmic events was recently confirmed for these patients, when the implanted ICDs with the improved two-step, EP inclusive approach in PRESERVE EF study where appropriately activated [24]. In CAD, the ARS may be discerned at three different periods, considering the time pass after the myocardial infarction (MI): (1) the early phase (first 40 d); (2) the subacute phase (40 d-6 mo after the MI); and (3) the remote phase (> 6 mo after the MI).

Acute MI phase (< 40 d): Animal studies have shown that within two weeks after MI, the substrate for reentrant ventricular arrhythmias was formed in the myocardium. In terms of pathophysiology, the experimental results justify an early post-MI PVS investigation[54].

The BEST-ICD study [55] enrolled 143 survivors with left ventricular ejection fraction $\leq 35\%$ and either frequent VPBs > 10/h or depressed SDNN < 70 ms from heart rate variability or abnormal signalaveraged ECG within a month after an acute MI. Of these, 138 were randomized, in a 2:3 ratio, to conventional strategy (n = 59) or PVS guided/ICD strategy (n = 79), with 24 ICDs implanted in the inducible patients. A nonsignificant survival benefit of this early PVS-guided strategy of ICD implantation was shown, but the study was underpowered to provide a definite conclusion for the performance of such an approach. It must be noted that this was a two-step ARS study, with the preselected patients exhibiting a combination of a depressed LVEF \leq 35% and/or three basic NIRFS, while the PVS was performed after total sample randomization.

Two observational ICD studies found that a positive response on PVS is an efficient arrhythmia predictor. In the first one [56], which included ST-elevation MI patients who had received a primary percutaneous coronary intervention, a benefit from an early ICD implantation for the patients with an impaired LVEF and positive PVS was shown, while in the second one [57], which enrolled post-MI patients with a depressed left ventricular systolic function, the PVS study effectively discriminated - in the long term - patients with a protective ICD implantation (PVS positives) from the vast majority of those at significantly lower risk of arrhythmic events without a defibrillator (PVS negatives).

Furthermore, a negative PVS predicted survival in the absence of an ICD implantation[56]. Despite the negative results produced by IRIS and DINAMIT studies, whose design failed to detect the truly early post-MI high arrhythmic risk patients and, thus, failed to prove a survival benefit for the ICD recipients', consequently withholding such patients from an ICD implantation with a class III recommendation[10], the arrhythmic SCD risk in early post-MI phase exists and this is well known and described. The acknowledgment of this risk explains the paradox: while guidelines that are based on the IRIS and DINAMIT studies reject ICD implantation in early post-MI patients with a Class III recommendation[10], the same guidelines, propose screening these early post-MI patients at potential arrhythmic risk with PVS with a Class IIb recommendation. This specific clinical issue questioning the most appropriate ARS strategy is under investigation by the PROTECT-ICD trial[58], which recruits early post-MI patients with LVEF \leq 40% and randomizes them to either PVS-guided early ICD implantation or a control standard care arm.

Subacute and remote phases after MI phase (≥ 40 d): Data for the utility of PVS in remote phases after an MI comes from both randomized and observational studies. MADIT I study, 1996, included 196 post-MI patients at increased risk for ventricular tachyarrhythmias. Enrollment was focused on patients fulfilling the inclusion criteria of LVEF < 35%, non-sustained VT, and the inducibility of VT in PVS.



These patients were randomly assigned to receive either an implanted defibrillator (n = 95) or conventional medical therapy (n = 101). A 54% reduction in overall mortality was observed for the ICD treatment arm with a 27-mo follow-up. The MUSTT study[59], 1999, investigated a population at relatively increased arrhythmic risk consisting of patients with a prior MI, LVEF% < 40%, and nonsustained VT that was inducible in PVS (n = 704). After randomization, 351 of them were assigned to EP-guided therapy and 353 were assigned to no antiarrhythmic therapy. The five-year estimates of the incidence of the primary endpoint of cardiac arrest or death from arrhythmia were 25% for the EP guided therapy receivers and 32% for the patients assigned to no antiarrhythmic therapy with a relative risk: 0.73, representing a 27% risk reduction. In this study, a combination of LVEF<40% and inducibility in the PVS resulted in a greater reduction in mortality than the one observed in the MADIT II trial[1], which used the LVEF as the sole criterion for selecting patients for ICD implantation. These two randomized trials have demonstrated the utility of PVS in combination with a reduced LVEF and other variables in the appropriate selection of the candidates before an ICD implantation. MADIT II study[1] in 2002, extended the prophylactic use of an ICD to a broader post-MI patients spectrum under a less arrhythmic risk compared to the MUSST[59] population with an LVEF < 30% as the only preimplantation criterion. In the MADIT II trial[1], a PVS was not considered necessary for the initial study. These 1232 post-MI patients with significant heart failure were randomly assigned in a 3:2 ratio to receive either an ICD (n = 742) or conventional medical therapy (n = 490). An improvement in survival was observed in the ICD group during an average follow-up of 20 mo with a 0.69 hazard ratio. Although a PVS was not an inclusion criterion for patient selection in the initial study, its performance was examined in a MADIT II sub-study^[51] and inducibility was found to be related to subsequent ICDdetected arrhythmias. In that study, while an inducible monomorphic VT predicted future arrhythmic episodes, the induction of polymorphic VT or VF appeared less relevant. These data were retrospectively acquired, with many study-centers contributing only 2-4 cases and without having used a standardized PVS protocol. On the other hand, high PVS predictive accuracy was consistently shown when the EP study was performed in dedicated centers in the context of single-center studies, using standardized protocols[13,14,52]. The prospective observational Cardiac Arrhythmias and Risk Stratification After Acute Myocardial Infarction - CARISMA trial in 2009, investigated 312 post-MI phase patients with a mean LVEF of $31\% \pm 6\%$ with application of NIRFs (Heart rate variability/turbulence, ambient arrhythmias, signal-averaged electrocardiogram, T-wave alternans) and PVS, applying the NIRFs and the PVS rather independently in a parallel screening than in a two-step sequential approach. Induction of sustained monomorphic VT predicted the future occurrence of VT/VF (adjusted HR = 4.8, P = 0.003).

PVS in NICM and HCM

In NICM, the role of PVS has been disputed [60] for years. However, this view was recently challenged by a prospective study of 157 NICM patients [13,61,62], who were evaluated with PVS for primary prevention; during long-term follow-up, appropriate ICD intervention or SCD occurred significantly more frequently among PVS positive NICM patients. This PVS-guided approach was incorporated for the first time in current ESC guidelines[10], albeit at a class IIb recommendation. In HCM, the ESC guidelines[10] for the management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death, following ESC HCM guidelines that are based on an expert opinion level of evidence, do not recommend a PVS for ARS. However, recent results^[15] support its use in a study that investigated 203 HCM patients with \geq 1 NIRFs who were submitted to PVS and received an ICD. During a median follow-up period of 60 mo, the primary endpoint was observed in 20 patients, of whom 19 were inducible in a procedure that was proven safe and they had an ICD implanted. Inducibility at PVS predicted SCD or appropriate device therapy while non-inducibility was associated with prolonged event-free survival. The addition of an EP/PVS risk estimation[15], among HCM patients demonstrating one traditional risk factor, may improve the frequently observed rather poor performance[15,63] of either the American or the European guidelines in this subgroup of HCM patients. Considering the time course for the evolution of research in the field of SCD ARS, one could say that data from previous studies have now dried up, leaving significant gaps in the management of such patients[60], gaps that we do not know if and how they will be filled in by methods such as MRI [17] or Virtual PVS[64] in the future. Nevertheless, the latest results published[24] describe a two-step SCD ARS strategy: in the first step of this strategy, if the included bloodless non-invasive ECG markers (NIRFs) are positive, we proceed with the second step of PVS for the patient selection before an ICD implantation. Similar results based on a two-step, EP inclusive approach, were documented in patients across the entire spectrum of ischemic and organic cardiomyopathy, in post-MI patients with preserved LVEF[24], in patients with heart failure and moderately impaired left ventricular systolic function[65], in NICM[13], and HCM[15] patients, noteworthy with correct ICDs activation of the devices implanted. This strategy has been applied in sudden cardiac death ARS by the First Department of Cardiology and EP Lab, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens at Hippocration Hospital of Athens, Attica, Greece[66], over the last twenty years, thus contributing to the final decision for the appropriate patient selection for ICD implantation across all the ICM[24,65] and NICM[13] and HCM[15] patients' spectrum.



Table 1 Abnormal values and connection of every non-invasive risk factors with the arrhythmogenic mechanisms						
Non-invasive risk factors	Abnormal values	Mechanisms				
SAECG, LPs	2/3 positive criteria	Fibrotic areas, slow conduction, reentry				
QTc	≥ 440 ms (♂), ≥ 450 ms (♀)	Prolonged repolarization, EAD, DAD				
TWA	\geq 65 µV (2-channels)	APD and Ca^{2+} alternans, steep APDR and CVR, steep FSRCR				
VPBs	≥ 30/24 h	Automaticity (Ca ²⁺ oscillations), reentry				
NSVT	≥1 episode/24 h	Automaticity (Ca ²⁺ oscillations), reentry				
SDNN/HRV	≤75 ms	Enhanced sympathetic tone, autonomic imbalance				
DC/HRT	DC ≤ 4.5 ms	Vagal and sympathetic ANS dysfunction				
	HRT onset $\geq 0\%$					
	HRT slope ≤ 2.5ms					

ANS: Autonomic nervous system; APD: Action potential duration; APDR: Action potential duration restitution; CVR: Conduction velocity restitution; DAD: Delayed afterdepolarization; DC: Deceleration capacity from heart rate dynamics; EAD: Early afterdepolarization; FSRCR: Fractional sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ release; HRT: Heart rate turbulence; LPs: Late potentials from signal-averaged electrocardiogram; NSVT: Non-sustained ventricular tachycardia; QTc: Corrected according to Fridericia formula QT interval; SAECG: Signal-averaged electrocardiogram; SDNN: Standard deviation of normal to normal beats from heart rate variability analysis; TWA: T wave alternans; VPBs: Ventricular premature beats.

TWO-STEP, NON-INVASIVE RISK FACTORS ELECTROPHYSIOLOGY STUDY INCLUSIVE, **RISK STRATIFICATION ALGORITHM**

Initially, the concept of the two-step multifactorial, EP inclusive approach had been successfully introduced for the risk stratification and management of post-MI patients, incorporating NIRFs such as heart rate variability, LVEF, late potentials, and complex ventricular arrhythmias[67,68]. Indeed, such studies identified a high-risk group of post-MI patients, predominantly among those with reduced LVEF that are usually offered an ICD, based on current guidelines. This strategy was further refined and improved in the PRESERVE EF study[24] applying an accurate algorithm with multiple advanced ECG markers[9] that reflect the presence and activity of diverse arrhythmic mechanisms to detect high-risk post-MI patients after a limited myocardial injury without any evidence of ongoing myocardial ischemia or significant left ventricular dysfunction. In the first step, the advanced form of the algorithm [24] determined the presence of seven NIRFs, while in its simplified, yet equally effective form[65], it appears to be working well even in the simple presence of only three fundamental NIRFs. Upon detecting the presence of at least one of the NIRFs, patients are referred for PVS. The advantage of ARS using multiple NIRFs during the first step is that they reflect the presence and activity of multiple different arrhythmogenic mechanisms, such as fibrotic areas with late conduction properties predisposing for re-entry (SAECG late potentials)[23], prolonged action potential repolarization duration (QTc)[24], electrical instability with T wave alternations during repolarization (TWA)[29], increased sympathetic tone (SDNN)[25], decreased parasympathetic tone (DC[26] and HRT[27,28]), triggered activity on a substrate that predisposes to and maintains ventricular arrhythmias (VPBs and NSVT)[24]. The pathophysiological connection for every NIRF with the arrhythmogenic mechanisms[22] is presented in Table 1, while its prevalence in the total sample, in the truly high-risk group that was detected after the two-step, EP inclusive approach, and in the 9 patient subgroup with SCD equivalent major arrhythmic events during a 32 mo of follow-up, as investigated in the PRESERVE EF study [24], are presented in Table 2. The results of the implementation of this two-step risk stratification strategy were described in this study in 575 post-MI, relatively not aged (mean age = 57 years) with preserved left ventricular systolic function (LVEF = 50.8%) patients. In this study, 9 major arrhythmic events (MAEs) were observed during a 32 mo follow-up. The MAE prevalence in the total sample of 575 patients was 1.5%. The implementation of the first step of the algorithm determined an intermediate risk subpopulation of 204 patients out of 575 patients in total, with at least one NIRF present. In this intermediate-risk subpopulation with positive NIRFs, who were risk-stratified using the first step, the MAE prevalence increased from 1.5% to 4.4%. When this subpopulation underwent PVS as per the second step, 41 out of 152 patients developed arrhythmia (out of the 204 patients of the intermediaterisk group who gave their informed consent to participate in the EP study). This third group of 41 PVSpositive patients represented the subpopulation at actual high risk with the MAE prevalence accounting for 22% (Figure 1). It is realistically feasible that by this approach, out of the general population of the ischemic, the NICM and the HCM patients, the subpopulation at actual high risk for SCD who could undergo ICD implantation can be defined in 2 steps, whereas the rest of the patients can safely be excluded from implantation[24,60,69]. This approach will be tested in NICM patients in the



Table 2 Prevalence of non-invasive risk factors in the total sample, in the truly high-risk group, detected after the two-step, electrophysiology inclusive approach, and in patients with major arrhythmic events during a 32-mo follow-up, as investigated in the PRESERVE EF study[24]

NIRF	Prevalence in the total preserve-EF study (<i>n</i> = 577)	Prevalence in the high-risk group (<i>n</i> = 41)	Prevalence in 9 MAE/SCD patients
LPs (%)	13.8	51.2	78 (7/9)
NSVT (%)	8.6	46.3	66 (6/9)
QTc (%)	13.6	36.6	55 (5/9)
VPBs (%)	10.8	39	33 (3/9)
TWA (%)	6.8	24.4	11 (1/9)
SDNN (%)	2.8	9.8	0 (0/9)
HRT and DC (%)	2.8	9.8	0 (0/9)

DC: Deceleration capacity from heart rate dynamics; HRT: Heart rate turbulence from heart rate dynamics; LPs: Late potentials from signal-averaged electrocardiogram; MAE: Major arrhythmic event; NIRF: Non-invasive risk factor; NSVT: Non-sustained ventricular tachycardia; QTc: Corrected according to Fridericia formula QT interval; SDNN: Standard deviation of normal to normal beats from heart rate variability analysis; TWA: T wave alternans; VPBs: Ventricular premature beats.



Figure 1 The PRESERVE EF[24] study's two-step arrhythmic risk stratification algorithm. In the total sample of patients the estimated prevalence of major arrhythmic events (MAE) during the 32-mo follow-up was 1.5%. Implementation of the algorithm with the detection of the NIRFs in the first step determines the intermediate-risk subpopulation, with the MAE prevalence accounting for 4.4%. In the second step, the Programmed Ventricular Stimulation determines the actual high-risk subpopulation, with a prevalence reaching 22%. Of the 37 patients with implantable cardioverter defibrillator, there were 9 true activations during the 32-mo follow-up. Neither sudden cardiac death(SCD) nor inappropriate ICD activations were observed during follow-up. (Modified with permission from EHJ[24]).

ReCONSIDER study[70]. An overview of a two-step, non-invasive, EP inclusive ARS approach, for ICM, NICM, and HCM is depicted in Figure 2.

Baishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Emerging new sudden cardiac death risk stratification paradigm. It is based on newer evidence, incorporating competing mortality assessments, as well as non-invasive and invasive tests. Non-invasive tests are performed before programmed ventricular stimulation (PVS) to assess the likelihood of functional circuit formation. PVS is pivotal in determining the potential for arrhythmia sustainability and guiding treatment, especially in intermediate and lowIrisk patients. "Observe and Followiup" involves repeating tests for NIRF annually and PVS every 3-5 yr. NIRFs (noninvasive ECG risk factors) including the presence of late potentials (≥ 2/3 criteria), frequent premature ventricular contractions (≥ 30/h), non-sustained VT (≥ 1/24 h), abnormal heart rate turbulence (onset ≥ 0% and slope ≤ 2.5ms) and reduced deceleration capacity (≤ 4.5 ms), positive T wave alternans (≥ 65 µV), decreased heart rate variability (SDNN < 70ms), prolonged QT_c interval (> 440 ms in males and > 450 ms in females). (Modified after permission from ANE[60]).

CONCLUSION

The arrhythmic risk stratification for SCD in Ischemic, Non-Ischemic, and Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy for ICD implantation patient selection may be improved with the proposed two-step algorithm. This broad spectrum of patients shares arrhythmogenic mechanisms. Appropriate screening of all these patients with basic and advanced electrocardiographic indices in the first step may detect the subpopulation of intermediate SCD risk. When this subpopulation is subjected to programmed ventricular stimulation in the second step, the truly high SCD risk patients may be detected and effectively protected with an ICD.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Arsenos P and Gatzoulis KA wrote the article; Dilaveris P, Kordalis A, Tsiachris D, Antoniou CK, Sideris S, Sotiropoulos I, Archontakis S and Skiadas I made critical revisions related to the important intellectual content of the manuscript; Toutouzas K, Vlachopoulos C, Tousoulis D, Tsioufis K and Gatzoulis KA approved the final manuscript for publication.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Authors declare no conflict of interests for this article. PRESERVE EF is a physicianinitiated study that received unrestricted funding by Medtronic Hellas SA.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution-Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Greece

ORCID number: Petros Arsenos 0000-0003-4426-8407; Konstantinos A Gatzoulis 0000-0002-6628-0303; Dimitrios Tsiachris 0000-0003-4531-9712; Polychronis Dilaveris 0000-0003-0399-4111; Skevos Sideris 0000-0003-3165-224X; Ilias Sotiropoulos 0000-0001-7272-9042; Stefanos Archontakis 0000-0001-6905-5788; Christos-Konstantinos Antoniou 0000-0003-4861-2404;



Athanasios Kordalis 0000-0003-4093-4601; Ioannis Skiadas 0000-0002-4964-0266; Konstantinos Toutouzas 0000-0001-9099-1554; Charalambos Vlachopoulos 0000-0002-9904-3558; Dimitrios Tousoulis 0000-0001-7492-4984; Konstantinos Tsioufis 0000-0002-7636-6725.

S-Editor: Ma YJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Ma Y

REFERENCES

- 1 Moss AJ, Zareba W, Hall WJ, Klein H, Wilber DJ, Cannom DS, Daubert JP, Higgins SL, Brown MW, Andrews ML; Multicenter Automatic Defibrillator Implantation Trial II Investigators. Prophylactic implantation of a defibrillator in patients with myocardial infarction and reduced ejection fraction. N Engl J Med 2002; 346: 877-883 [PMID: 11907286 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa013474]
- Kadish A, Dyer A, Daubert JP, Quigg R, Estes NA, Anderson KP, Calkins H, Hoch D, Goldberger J, Shalaby A, Sanders WE, Schaechter A, Levine JH; Defibrillators in Non-Ischemic Cardiomyopathy Treatment Evaluation (DEFINITE) Investigators. Prophylactic defibrillator implantation in patients with nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy. N Engl J Med 2004; 350: 2151-2158 [PMID: 15152060 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa033088]
- 3 Elliott PM, Gimeno JR, Thaman R, Shah J, Ward D, Dickie S, Tome Esteban MT, McKenna WJ. Historical trends in reported survival rates in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Heart 2006; 92: 785-791 [PMID: 16216855 DOI: 10.1136/hrt.2005.068577]
- 4 Bayés de Luna A, Coumel P, Leclercq JF. Ambulatory sudden cardiac death: mechanisms of production of fatal arrhythmia on the basis of data from 157 cases. Am Heart J 1989; 117: 151-159 [PMID: 2911968 DOI: 10.1016/0002-8703(89)90670-4
- Disertori M, Masè M, Ravelli F. Myocardial fibrosis predicts ventricular tachyarrhythmias. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2017; 5 27: 363-372 [PMID: 28262437 DOI: 10.1016/j.tcm.2017.01.011]
- Halliday BP, Gulati A, Ali A, Guha K, Newsome S, Arzanauskaite M, Vassiliou VS, Lota A, Izgi C, Tayal U, Khalique Z, 6 Stirrat C, Auger D, Pareek N, Ismail TF, Rosen SD, Vazir A, Alpendurada F, Gregson J, Frenneaux MP, Cowie MR, Cleland JGF, Cook SA, Pennell DJ, Prasad SK. Association Between Midwall Late Gadolinium Enhancement and Sudden Cardiac Death in Patients With Dilated Cardiomyopathy and Mild and Moderate Left Ventricular Systolic Dysfunction. Circulation 2017; 135: 2106-2115 [PMID: 28351901 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116.026910]
- 7 Maron MS. Clinical utility of cardiovascular magnetic resonance in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson 2012; 14: 13 [PMID: 22296938 DOI: 10.1186/1532-429X-14-13]
- Ikeda T, Yoshino H, Sugi K, Tanno K, Shimizu H, Watanabe J, Kasamaki Y, Yoshida A, Kato T. Predictive value of microvolt T-wave alternans for sudden cardiac death in patients with preserved cardiac function after acute myocardial infarction: results of a collaborative cohort study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006; 48: 2268-2274 [PMID: 17161258 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2006.06.075]
- Arsenos P, Gatzoulis K, Dilaveris P, Manis G, Tsiachris D, Archontakis S, Vouliotis AI, Sideris S, Stefanadis C. Arrhythmic sudden cardiac death: substrate, mechanisms and current risk stratification strategies for the post-myocardial infarction patient. Hellenic J Cardiol 2013; 54: 301-315 [PMID: 23912922]
- 10 Priori SG, Blomström-Lundqvist C, Mazzanti A, Blom N, Borggrefe M, Camm J, Elliott PM, Fitzsimons D, Hatala R, Hindricks G, Kirchhof P, Kjeldsen K, Kuck KH, Hernandez-Madrid A, Nikolaou N, Norekvål TM, Spaulding C, Van Veldhuisen DJ; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2015 ESC Guidelines for the management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death: The Task Force for the Management of Patients with Ventricular Arrhythmias and the Prevention of Sudden Cardiac Death of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Endorsed by: Association for European Paediatric and Congenital Cardiology (AEPC). Eur Heart J 2015; 36: 2793-2867 [PMID: 26320108 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv316]
- 11 Ezekowitz JA, Armstrong PW, McAlister FA. Implantable cardioverter defibrillators in primary and secondary prevention: a systematic review of randomized, controlled trials. Ann Intern Med 2003; 138: 445-452 [PMID: 12639076 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-138-6-200303180-00007]
- 12 O'Mahony C, Jichi F, Pavlou M, Monserrat L, Anastasakis A, Rapezzi C, Biagini E, Gimeno JR, Limongelli G, McKenna WJ, Omar RZ, Elliott PM; Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy Outcomes Investigators. A novel clinical risk prediction model for sudden cardiac death in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM risk-SCD). Eur Heart J 2014; 35: 2010-2020 [PMID: 24126876 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/eht439]
- Gatzoulis KA, Vouliotis AI, Tsiachris D, Salourou M, Archontakis S, Dilaveris P, Gialernios T, Arsenos P, Karystinos G, Sideris S, Kallikazaros I, Stefanadis C. Primary prevention of sudden cardiac death in a nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy population: reappraisal of the role of programmed ventricular stimulation. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2013; 6: 504-512 [PMID: 23588627 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCEP.113.000216]
- 14 Gatzoulis KA, Tsiachris D, Dilaveris P, Archontakis S, Arsenos P, Vouliotis A, Sideris S, Trantalis G, Kartsagoulis E, Kallikazaros I, Stefanadis C. Implantable cardioverter defibrillator therapy activation for high risk patients with relatively well preserved left ventricular ejection fraction. Does it really work? Int J Cardiol 2013; 167: 1360-1365 [PMID: 22534047 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2012.04.005]
- Gatzoulis KA, Georgopoulos S, Antoniou CK, Anastasakis A, Dilaveris P, Arsenos P, Sideris S, Tsiachris D, Archontakis 15 S, Sotiropoulos E, Theopistou A, Skiadas I, Kallikazaros I, Stefanadis C, Tousoulis D. Programmed ventricular stimulation predicts arrhythmic events and survival in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Int J Cardiol 2018; 254: 175-181 [PMID: 29407088 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.10.033]



- 16 Monfredi O, Calkins H. Was a mistake made when programmed electrical stimulation was eliminated as a sudden death risk marker in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy? Int J Cardiol 2018; 254: 238-239 [PMID: 29407097 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.12.019
- 17 Kariki O, Antoniou CK, Mavrogeni S, Gatzoulis KA. Updating the Risk Stratification for Sudden Cardiac Death in Cardiomyopathies: The Evolving Role of Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging. An Approach for the Electrophysiologist. Diagnostics (Basel) 2020; 10 [PMID: 32751773 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics10080541]
- 18 Myerburg RJ, Kessler KM, Castellanos A, Sudden cardiac death: epidemiology, transient risk, and intervention assessment. Ann Intern Med 1993; 119: 1187-1197 [PMID: 8239250 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-119-12-199312150-00006]
- 19 Pillarisetti J, Emert M, Biria M, Chotia R, Guda R, Bommana S, Pimentel R, Vacek J, Raghuveer D, Berenbom L, Dawn B, Lakkireddy D. Under-Utilization of Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillators in Patients with Heart Failure - The Current State of Sudden Cardiac Death Prophylaxis. Indian Pacing Electrophysiol J 2015; 15: 20-29 [PMID: 25852239 DOI: 10.1016/S0972-6292(16)30838-5
- European Society of Cardiology. The EHRA White Book, 10th Edition. Available from: https://www.escardio.org/Subspecialty-communities/European-Heart-Rhythm-Association-(EHRA)/Research-and-Publications/ The-EHRA-White-Books
- Rubart M, Zipes DP. Mechanisms of sudden cardiac death. J Clin Invest 2005; 115: 2305-2315 [PMID: 16138184 DOI: 21 10.1172/JCI26381]
- Qu Z, Weiss JN. Mechanisms of ventricular arrhythmias: from molecular fluctuations to electrical turbulence. Annu Rev Physiol 2015; 77: 29-55 [PMID: 25340965 DOI: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-021014-071622]
- 23 Gatzoulis KA, Arsenos P, Trachanas K, Dilaveris P, Antoniou C, Tsiachris D, Sideris S, Kolettis TM, Tousoulis D. Signalaveraged electrocardiography: Past, present, and future. J Arrhythm 2018; 34: 222-229 [PMID: 29951136 DOI: 10.1002/ioa3.12062
- 24 Gatzoulis KA, Tsiachris D, Arsenos P, Antoniou CK, Dilaveris P, Sideris S, Kanoupakis E, Simantirakis E, Korantzopoulos P, Goudevenos I, Flevari P, Iliodromitis E, Sideris A, Vassilikos V, Fragakis N, Trachanas K, Vernardos M, Konstantinou I, Tsimos K, Xenogiannis I, Vlachos K, Saplaouras A, Triantafyllou K, Kallikazaros I, Tousoulis D. Arrhythmic risk stratification in post-myocardial infarction patients with preserved ejection fraction: the PRESERVE EF study. Eur Heart J 2019; 40: 2940-2949 [PMID: 31049557 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehz260]
- 25 Kleiger RE, Miller JP, Bigger JT Jr, Moss AJ. Decreased heart rate variability and its association with increased mortality after acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 1987; 59: 256-262 [PMID: 3812275 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9149(87)90795-8]
- 26 Bauer A, Kantelhardt JW, Barthel P, Schneider R, Mäkikallio T, Ulm K, Hnatkova K, Schömig A, Huikuri H, Bunde A, Malik M, Schmidt G. Deceleration capacity of heart rate as a predictor of mortality after myocardial infarction: cohort study. Lancet 2006; 367: 1674-1681 [PMID: 16714188 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68735-7]
- Schmidt G, Malik M, Barthel P, Schneider R, Ulm K, Rolnitzky L, Camm AJ, Bigger JT Jr, Schömig A. Heart-rate 27 turbulence after ventricular premature beats as a predictor of mortality after acute myocardial infarction. Lancet 1999; 353: 1390-1396 [PMID: 10227219 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(98)08428-1]
- 28 Bauer A, Barthel P, Müller A, Ulm K, Huikuri H, Malik M, Schmidt G. Risk prediction by heart rate turbulence and deceleration capacity in postinfarction patients with preserved left ventricular function retrospective analysis of 4 independent trials. J Electrocardiol 2009; 42: 597-601 [PMID: 19853731 DOI: 10.1016/j.jelectrocard.2009.07.013]
- Verrier RL, Nearing BD, La Rovere MT, Pinna GD, Mittleman MA, Bigger JT Jr, Schwartz PJ; ATRAMI Investigators. 29 Ambulatory electrocardiogram-based tracking of T wave alternans in postmyocardial infarction patients to assess risk of cardiac arrest or arrhythmic death. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2003; 14: 705-711 [PMID: 12930249 DOI: 10.1046/j.1540-8167.2003.03118.x
- 30 Kwong RY. Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Imaging; Humana Press Inc.: Totowa, NJ, USA, 2008
- Mavrogeni S, Apostolou D, Argyriou P, Velitsista S, Papa L, Efentakis S, Vernardos E, Kanoupaki M, Kanoupakis G, 31 Manginas A. T1 and T2 Mapping in Cardiology: "Mapping the Obscure Object of Desire". Cardiology 2017; 138: 207-217 [PMID: 28813699 DOI: 10.1159/000478901]
- 32 Moon JC, Messroghli DR, Kellman P, Piechnik SK, Robson MD, Ugander M, Gatehouse PD, Arai AE, Friedrich MG, Neubauer S, Schulz-Menger J, Schelbert EB; Society for Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Imaging; Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Working Group of the European Society of Cardiology. Myocardial T1 mapping and extracellular volume quantification: a Society for Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance (SCMR) and CMR Working Group of the European Society of Cardiology consensus statement. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson 2013; 15: 92 [PMID: 24124732 DOI: 10.1186/1532-429X-15-92
- Xiao YD, Paudel R, Liu J, Ma C, Zhang ZS, Zhou SK. MRI contrast agents: Classification and application (Review). Int J 33 Mol Med 2016; 38: 1319-1326 [PMID: 27666161 DOI: 10.3892/ijmm.2016.2744]
- Moran JM, Kehoe RF, Loeb JM, Lichtenthal PR, Sanders JH Jr, Michaelis LL. Extended endocardial resection for the treatment of ventricular tachycardia and ventricular fibrillation. Ann Thorac Surg 1982; 34: 538-552 [PMID: 7138122 DOI: 10.1016/s0003-4975(10)63001-9]
- Zhang Y, Guallar E, Weiss RG, Stillabower M, Gerstenblith G, Tomaselli GF, Wu KC. Associations between scar 35 characteristics by cardiac magnetic resonance and changes in left ventricular ejection fraction in primary prevention defibrillator recipients. Heart Rhythm 2016; 13: 1661-1666 [PMID: 27108939 DOI: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2016.04.013]
- Scott PA, Rosengarten JA, Curzen NP, Morgan JM. Late gadolinium enhancement cardiac magnetic resonance imaging for 36 the prediction of ventricular tachyarrhythmic events: a meta-analysis. Eur J Heart Fail 2013; 15: 1019-1027 [PMID: 23558217 DOI: 10.1093/eurjhf/hft053]
- 37 Martin R, Maury P, Bisceglia C, Wong T, Estner H, Meyer C, Dallet C, Martin CA, Shi R, Takigawa M, Rollin A, Frontera A, Thompson N, Kitamura T, Vlachos K, Wolf M, Cheniti G, Duchâteau J, Massoulié G, Pambrun T, Denis A, Derval N, Hocini M, Della Bella P, Haïssaguerre M, Jaïs P, Dubois R, Sacher F. Characteristics of Scar-Related Ventricular Tachycardia Circuits Using Ultra-High-Density Mapping: A Multi-Center Study. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2018; 11: e006569 [PMID: 30354406 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCEP.118.006569]
- 38 Fenoglio JJ Jr, Pham TD, Harken AH, Horowitz LN, Josephson ME, Wit AL. Recurrent sustained ventricular tachycardia:



structure and ultrastructure of subendocardial regions in which tachycardia originates. Circulation 1983; 68: 518-533 [PMID: 6223722 DOI: 10.1161/01.cir.68.3.518]

- 39 Roes SD, Borleffs CJ, van der Geest RJ, Westenberg JJ, Marsan NA, Kaandorp TA, Reiber JH, Zeppenfeld K, Lamb HJ, de Roos A, Schalij MJ, Bax JJ. Infarct tissue heterogeneity assessed with contrast-enhanced MRI predicts spontaneous ventricular arrhythmia in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy and implantable cardioverter-defibrillator. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging 2009; 2: 183-190 [PMID: 19808591 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.108.826529]
- 40 Chen Z, Sohal M, Voigt T, Sammut E, Tobon-Gomez C, Child N, Jackson T, Shetty A, Bostock J, Cooklin M, O'Neill M, Wright M, Murgatroyd F, Gill J, Carr-White G, Chiribiri A, Schaeffter T, Razavi R, Rinaldi CA. Myocardial tissue characterization by cardiac magnetic resonance imaging using T1 mapping predicts ventricular arrhythmia in ischemic and non-ischemic cardiomyopathy patients with implantable cardioverter-defibrillators. Heart Rhythm 2015; 12: 792-801 [PMID: 25533585 DOI: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2014.12.020]
- 41 Becker MAJ, Cornel JH, van de Ven PM, van Rossum AC, Allaart CP, Germans T. The Prognostic Value of Late Gadolinium-Enhanced Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Nonischemic Dilated Cardiomyopathy: A Review and Meta-Analysis. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2018; 11: 1274-1284 [PMID: 29680351 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2018.03.006]
- Di Marco A, Anguera I, Schmitt M, Klem I, Neilan TG, White JA, Sramko M, Masci PG, Barison A, Mckenna P, Mordi I, 42 Haugaa KH, Leyva F, Rodriguez Capitán J, Satoh H, Nabeta T, Dallaglio PD, Campbell NG, Sabaté X, Cequier Á. Late Gadolinium Enhancement and the Risk for Ventricular Arrhythmias or Sudden Death in Dilated Cardiomyopathy: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. JACC Heart Fail 2017; 5: 28-38 [PMID: 28017348 DOI: 10.1016/j.jchf.2016.09.017
- Halliday BP, Baksi AJ, Gulati A, Ali A, Newsome S, Izgi C, Arzanauskaite M, Lota A, Tayal U, Vassiliou VS, Gregson J, 43 Alpendurada F, Frenneaux MP, Cook SA, Cleland JGF, Pennell DJ, Prasad SK. Outcome in Dilated Cardiomyopathy Related to the Extent, Location, and Pattern of Late Gadolinium Enhancement. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2019; 12: 1645-1655 [PMID: 30219397 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2018.07.015]
- 44 aus dem Siepen F, Buss SJ, Messroghli D, Andre F, Lossnitzer D, Seitz S, Keller M, Schnabel PA, Giannitsis E, Korosoglou G, Katus HA, Steen H. T1 mapping in dilated cardiomyopathy with cardiac magnetic resonance: quantification of diffuse myocardial fibrosis and comparison with endomyocardial biopsy. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2015; 16: 210-216 [PMID: 25246502 DOI: 10.1093/ehjci/jeu183]
- 45 Barison A, Del Torto A, Chiappino S, Aquaro GD, Todiere G, Vergaro G, Passino C, Lombardi M, Emdin M, Masci PG. Prognostic significance of myocardial extracellular volume fraction in nonischaemic dilated cardiomyopathy. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown) 2015; 16: 681-687 [PMID: 26090916 DOI: 10.2459/JCM.00000000000275]
- 46 Adabag AS, Maron BJ, Appelbaum E, Harrigan CJ, Buros JL, Gibson CM, Lesser JR, Hanna CA, Udelson JE, Manning WJ, Maron MS. Occurrence and frequency of arrhythmias in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy in relation to delayed enhancement on cardiovascular magnetic resonance. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008; 51: 1369-1374 [PMID: 18387438 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.11.071]
- 47 Zegard A, Okafor O, de Bono J, Kalla M, Lencioni M, Marshall H, Hudsmith L, Qiu T, Steeds R, Stegemann B, Leyva F. Myocardial Fibrosis as a Predictor of Sudden Death in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2021; 77: 29-41 [PMID: 33413938 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.10.046]
- Selvanayagam JB, Hartshorne T, Billot L, Grover S, Hillis GS, Jung W, Krum H, Prasad S, McGavigan AD. Cardiovascular magnetic resonance-GUIDEd management of mild to moderate left ventricular systolic dysfunction (CMR GUIDE): Study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol 2017; 22 [PMID: 28117536 DOI: 10.1111/anec.12420]
- Wellens HJ, Brugada P, Stevenson WG. Programmed electrical stimulation of the heart in patients with life-threatening ventricular arrhythmias: what is the significance of induced arrhythmias and what is the correct stimulation protocol? Circulation 1985; 72: 1-7 [PMID: 4006120 DOI: 10.1161/01.cir.72.1.1]
- 50 Bourke JP, Richards DA, Ross DL, McGuire MA, Uther JB. Does the induction of ventricular flutter or fibrillation at electrophysiologic testing after myocardial infarction have any prognostic significance? Am J Cardiol 1995; 75: 431-435 [PMID: 7863984 DOI: 10.1016/s0002-9149(99)80576-1]
- 51 Daubert JP, Zareba W, Hall WJ, Schuger C, Corsello A, Leon AR, Andrews ML, McNitt S, Huang DT, Moss AJ; MADIT II Study Investigators. Predictive value of ventricular arrhythmia inducibility for subsequent ventricular tachycardia or ventricular fibrillation in Multicenter Automatic Defibrillator Implantation Trial (MADIT) II patients. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006; 47: 98-107 [PMID: 16386671 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2005.08.049]
- De Ferrari GM, Rordorf R, Frattini F, Petracci B, De Filippo P, Landolina M. Predictive value of programmed ventricular 52 stimulation in patients with ischaemic cardiomyopathy: implications for the selection of candidates for an implantable defibrillator. Europace 2007; 9: 1151-1157 [PMID: 17947251 DOI: 10.1093/europace/eum230]
- Buxton AE, Marchlinski FE, Waxman HL, Flores BT, Cassidy DM, Josephson ME. Prognostic factors in nonsustained 53 ventricular tachycardia. Am J Cardiol 1984; 53: 1275-1279 [PMID: 6711427 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9149(84)90078-x]
- 54 Kontonika M, Barka E, Roumpi M, La Rocca V, Lekkas P, Daskalopoulos EP, Vilaeti AD, Baltogiannis GG, Vlahos AP, Agathopoulos S, Kolettis TM. Prolonged intra-myocardial growth hormone administration ameliorates post-infarction electrophysiologic remodeling in rats. Growth Factors 2017; 35: 1-11 [PMID: 28264596 DOI: 10.1080/08977194.2017.1297432]
- 55 Raviele A, Bongiorni MG, Brignole M, Cappato R, Capucci A, Gaita F, Gulizia M, Mangiameli S, Montenero AS, Pedretti RF, Uriarte JA, Sermasi S, Nisam S; BEST + ICD Trial Investigators. Early EPS/ICD strategy in survivors of acute myocardial infarction with severe left ventricular dysfunction on optimal beta-blocker treatment. The BEta-blocker STrategy plus ICD trial. Europace 2005; 7: 327-337 [PMID: 16028343 DOI: 10.1016/j.eupc.2005.03.003]
- Zaman S, Sivagangabalan G, Narayan A, Thiagalingam A, Ross DL, Kovoor P. Outcomes of early risk stratification and targeted implantable cardioverter-defibrillator implantation after ST-elevation myocardial infarction treated with primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Circulation 2009; 120: 194-200 [PMID: 19581496 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.836791
- Kumar S, Sivagangabalan G, Zaman S, West EB, Narayan A, Thiagalingam A, Kovoor P. Electrophysiology-guided



defibrillator implantation early after ST-elevation myocardial infarction. Heart Rhythm 2010; 7: 1589-1597 [PMID: 20650333 DOI: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2010.07.019]

- 58 Zaman S, Taylor AJ, Stiles M, Chow C, Kovoor P. Programmed Ventricular Stimulation to Risk Stratify for Early Cardioverter-Defibrillator Implantation to Prevent Tachyarrhythmias following Acute Myocardial Infarction (PROTECT-ICD): Trial Protocol, Background and Significance. Heart Lung Circ 2016; 25: 1055-1062 [PMID: 27522511 DOI: 10.1016/j.hlc.2016.04.007
- 59 Buxton AE, Lee KL, Fisher JD, Josephson ME, Prystowsky EN, Hafley G. A randomized study of the prevention of sudden death in patients with coronary artery disease. Multicenter Unsustained Tachycardia Trial Investigators. N Engl J Med 1999; 341: 1882-1890 [PMID: 10601507 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199912163412503]
- 60 Gatzoulis KA, Sideris A, Kanoupakis E, Sideris S, Nikolaou N, Antoniou CK, Kolettis TM. Arrhythmic risk stratification in heart failure: Time for the next step? Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol 2017; 22 [PMID: 28252256 DOI: 10.1111/anec.12430
- Dilaveris P, Antoniou CK, Gatzoulis KA. Arrhythmic risk stratification in non-ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy: Where do 61 we stand after DANISH? Trends Cardiovasc Med 2017; 27: 542-555 [PMID: 28709811 DOI: 10.1016/j.tcm.2017.06.003]
- 62 Mitrani RD, Goldberger JJ. Editorial Commentary: Where do we stand after DANISH? Trends Cardiovasc Med 2017; 27: 556-557 [PMID: 28709813 DOI: 10.1016/j.tcm.2017.06.014]
- Mattos BPE, Scolari FL, Garbin HI. Discrepancy between International Guidelines on the Criteria for Primary Prevention 63 of Sudden Cardiac Death in Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy. Arq Bras Cardiol 2020; 115: 197-204 [PMID: 32876184 DOI: 10.36660/abc.20190161
- 64 Arevalo HJ, Vadakkumpadan F, Guallar E, Jebb A, Malamas P, Wu KC, Trayanova NA. Arrhythmia risk stratification of patients after myocardial infarction using personalized heart models. Nat Commun 2016; 7: 11437 [PMID: 27164184 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms11437
- 65 Arsenos P, Gatzoulis KA, Doundoulakis I, Dilaveris P, Antoniou CK, Stergios S, Sideris S, Ilias S, Tousoulis D. Arrhythmic risk stratification in heart failure mid-range ejection fraction patients with a non-invasive guiding to programmed ventricular stimulation two-step approach. J Arrhythm 2020; 36: 890-898 [PMID: 33024466 DOI: 10.1002/joa3.12416]
- 66 Tousoulis D. CardioAthena Meeting 2018, Greece. Eur Heart J 2018; 39: 2123-2125 [PMID: 29905814 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehy260
- Pedretti R, Etro MD, Laporta A, Sarzi Braga S, Carù B. Prediction of late arrhythmic events after acute myocardial 67 infarction from combined use of noninvasive prognostic variables and inducibility of sustained monomorphic ventricular tachycardia. Am J Cardiol 1993; 71: 1131-1141 [PMID: 8480637 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9149(93)90635-p]
- Schmitt C, Barthel P, Ndrepepa G, Schreieck J, Plewan A, Schömig A, Schmidt G. Value of programmed ventricular 68 stimulation for prophylactic internal cardioverter-defibrillator implantation in postinfarction patients preselected by noninvasive risk stratifiers. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001; 37: 1901-1907 [PMID: 11401129 DOI: 10.1016/s0735-1097(01)01246-3
- Xenogiannis I, Gatzoulis KA, Flevari P, Ikonomidis I, Iliodromitis E, Trachanas K, Vlachos K, Arsenos P, Tsiachris D, Tousoulis D, Brilakis ES, Alexopoulos D. Temporal changes of noninvasive electrocardiographic risk factors for sudden cardiac death in post-myocardial infarction patients with preserved ejection fraction: Insights from the PRESERVE-EF study. Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol 2020; 25: e12701 [PMID: 31605453 DOI: 10.1111/anec.12701]
- Gatzoulis KA, Dilaveris P, Arsenos P, Tsiachris D, Antoniou CK, Sideris S, Kolettis T, Kanoupakis E, Sideris A, Flevari P, Vassilikos V, Kappos K, Maounis T, Katsivas A, Kotsakis A, Karvounis H, Kossyvakis C, Leventopoulos G, Kalpakos D, Tousoulis D; ReCONSIDER study Investigators. Arrhythmic risk stratification in nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy: The ReCONSIDER study design - A two-step, multifactorial, electrophysiology-inclusive approach. Hellenic J Cardiol 2021; 62: 169-172 [PMID: 32330568 DOI: 10.1016/j.hjc.2020.03.008]



WJC

World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2022 March 26; 14(3): 152-169

DOI: 10.4330/wic.v14.i3.152

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

REVIEW

Climatic influences on cardiovascular diseases

Maurizio Giuseppe Abrignani, Alberto Lombardo, Annabella Braschi, Nicolò Renda, Vincenzo Abrignani

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Ou CL, China

Received: April 16, 2021 Peer-review started: April 16, 2021 First decision: July 27, 2021 Revised: August 23, 2021 Accepted: March 6, 2022 Article in press: March 6, 2022 Published online: March 26, 2022



Maurizio Giuseppe Abrignani, Alberto Lombardo, Operative Unit of Cardiology, Department of Medicine, S. Antonio Abate Hospital of Trapani, ASP Trapani, Trapani 91100, Italy

Annabella Braschi, Department of Internal Medicine, Department of Psychology, Educational Science and Human Movement, University of Palermo, Palermo 90100, Italy

Nicolò Renda, Department of Mental Health, ASP Trapani, Trapani 91100, Italy

Vincenzo Abrignani, School of Medicine, University of Bologna, Bologna 40126, Italy

Corresponding author: Maurizio Giuseppe Abrignani, MD, Doctor, Operative Unit of Cardiology, Department of Medicine, S. Antonio Abate Hospital of Trapani, ASP Trapani, Trapani 91100, Italy. maur.abri@alice.it

Abstract

Classical risk factors only partially account for variations in cardiovascular disease incidence; therefore, also other so far unknown features, among which meteorological factors, may influence heart diseases (mainly coronary heart diseases, but also heart failure, arrhythmias, aortic dissection and stroke) rates. The most studied phenomenon is ambient temperature. The relation between mortality, as well as cardiovascular diseases incidence, and temperature appears graphically as a "U" shape. Exposure to cold, heat and heat waves is associated with an increased risk of acute coronary syndromes. Other climatic variables, such as humidity, atmospheric pressure, sunlight hours, wind strength and direction and rain/snow precipitations have been hypothesized as related to fatal and nonfatal cardiovascular diseases incidence. Main limitation of these studies is the unavailability of data on individual exposure to weather parameters. Effects of weather may vary depending on other factors, such as population disease profile and age structure. Climatic stress may increase direct and indirect risks to human health via different, complex pathophysiological pathways and exogenous and endogenous mechanisms. These data have attracted growing interest because of the recent earth's climate change, with consequent increasing ambient temperatures and climatic fluctuations. This review evaluates the evidence base for cardiac health consequences of climate conditions, and it also explores potential further implications.

Key Words: Weather; Climate; Meteorology; Cardiovascular diseases; Myocardial infarction; Angina pectoris

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Climatic stress may determine some risks to human health via complex pathophysiological pathways. Meteorological factors may influence coronary heart diseases, but also heart failure, arrhythmias, aortic dissection and stroke rates. The most studied phenomenon is temperature. The relation between mortality, as well as cardiovascular diseases incidence, and temperature appears graphically as a "U" shape. Other variables, such as humidity, atmospheric pressure, sunlight hours, wind strength and direction and rain/snow precipitations have been studied. These data have attracted growing interest because of the recent earth's climate change. This review evaluates the evidence for cardiac health consequences of climate conditions.

Citation: Abrignani MG, Lombardo A, Braschi A, Renda N, Abrignani V. Climatic influences on cardiovascular diseases. World J Cardiol 2022; 14(3): 152-169

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v14/i3/152.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.152

INTRODUCTION

Despite considerable advances in identifying the conditions that may predispose to atherosclerosis, less information is known about the incident events leading to plaque rupture. Classical risk factors only partially account for variations in cardiovascular disease incidence and mortality. Therefore, also other so far unknown features, among which meteorological factors, may influence cardiovascular diseases rates.

AMBIENT TEMPERATURE AND MORTALITY

Seasonal peaks in respiratory, cardiovascular, and cerebrovascular mortality, with a winter increase in deaths, have been reported in different countries, referred to as "excess winter mortality" [1-3]. This phenomenon has been strongly linked to changes in temperature[4-8].

The relation between environmental temperature and health has been known for a very long time. Several disorders, such as heat stroke and hypothermia, are directly linked to temperature extremes. Low seasonal temperatures increase the odds of mortality [9,10]. An association between extreme high temperatures and mortality has also been demonstrated[11,12], as confirmed by recent data[13-16]. Actually, a number of ecological time-series studies suggest that the relation between mortality and ambient temperature appears graphically as a "U" shape, with mortality rates lower on days in which the average temperatures range between 15° to 25°C, rising progressively as the ambient temperature becomes hotter or colder[17-20]. Most of mortality linked to heat occurs during first days after temperature increase, while the effect of cold has been prolonged for several weeks[21-23]. Spatial and temporal differences have been described in this phenomenon[24-27]. Many heat-related deaths occur in people before they come to medical attention[28]. Investigations carried out in a large number of cities have shown that temperature level corresponding to the minimum mortality varies from place to place and country to country according to the usual climate (heat thresholds were generally higher in communities closer to the equator), probably reflecting adaptations of the population to the usual range of temperature[29]. High respiratory, cardiovascular and influenza mortality in winter leads to lower temperature effects in the following summer[30]. There was a progressive reduction in temperature related deaths over the 20th century, despite an aging population[31-33]. This trend is likely to reflect improvements in social, environmental, behavioural, and health-care factors[34,35]. In the recent COVID-19 pandemic, there was a negative correlation between the cumulative relative risk of death and temperature[36]. Table 1 shows main studies on the relations between weather and general mortality.

In particular, various epidemiological studies have reported greater coronary heart disease (CHD) and acute myocardial infarction (AMI) mortality both in winter[37-40] and in extremely hot summers [25,41,42]. Many authors have postulated that weather-related variables may also explain these seasonal trends, as well as substantial geographic variations in CHD mortality. Cold climate is independently associated to coronary mortality^[43-45], but a U-shaped relationship between ambient temperature and cardiovascular mortality has been also described even in milder regions, where either low temperatures or heat waves are exceptional [46-48], with few exceptions [49]. Consensus is lacking, however, on whether this phenomenon reflects variations in incidence or in case fatality rate. Cold effect seems delayed, whereas heat effect is acute, both of which last for several days[34,46,50]. The delay between peak of cold is lower for all-cause mortality and CHD causes than for respiratory ones[51]. Mean temperature had better predictive ability than minimum and maximum one[35,46]. Table 2 shows main studies on the relations between weather and cardiovascular mortality.



Table 1 Main studies on the relations between weather and general mortality

Ref.	Setting and population	Year	Main results
Chung et al [<mark>11</mark>]	Fifteen cities in Northeast Asia	1972-2010	Cold effects had longer time lags (5–11 d) than heat effects, which were immediate (1–3 d). Both cold and heat effects were more significant for cardiorespiratory mortality than for other causes of death
Curriero et al[4]	Eleven large eastern United States cities	1973-1994	Current and recent days' temperatures were the weather components most strongly predictive of mortality. Mortality risk generally decreased as temperature increased from the coldest days to a certain threshold temperature, which varied by latitude, above which mortality risk increased as temperature increased. Strong association of the temperature-mortality relation with latitude, with a greater effect of colder temperatures on mortality risk in more-southern cities and of warmer temperatures in more-northern cities
Fernández- Raga <i>et al</i> [<mark>18]</mark>	Castile-Leòn, Spain	1980-1988	Temperatures with lower death risk for patients with cardiovascular diseases (16.8°C) are apparently lower than those for patients with respiratory diseases (18.1°C)
Achebak et al <mark>[31</mark>]	47 major cities in Spain	1980-2015	Reduction in relative risks of cause-specific and cause-sex mortality across the whole range of summer temperatures
Gemmel <i>et</i> al[<mark>2</mark>]	Scotland, United Kingdom	1981-1993	A 1°C decrease in mean temperature was associated with a 1% increase in deaths 1 wk later
Guo et al[<mark>15</mark>]	400 communities from 18 countries/regions	1984-2013	Heat waves had significant cumulative associations with mortality but varied by community. The higher the temperature threshold used to define heat waves, the higher heat wave associations on mortality. The association between heat waves and mortality appeared acutely and lasted for 3 and 4 d. Heat waves had higher associations with mortality in moderate areas than in cold and hot areas
Gasparrini et al[<mark>22</mark>]	305 locations in 9 countries: Australia, Canada, China, Italy, Japan, South Korea, Spain, United Kingdom, and United States	1985-2012	Strong evidence of a reduction in risk over the season. Relative risks for the 99 th percentile versus the minimum mortality temperature were in the range of 1.15–2.03 in early summer. In late summer, the excess was substantially reduced or abated, with relative risks in the range of 0.97–1.41
Gasparrini et al[27]	384 locations in Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, Italy, Japan, South Korea, Spain, Sweden, Taiwan, Thailand, United Kingdom, and United States	1985-2012	7.71% (95%CI: 7.43–7.91) of mortality was attributable to non-optimum temperature in the selected countries within the study period, with substantial differences between countries, ranging from 3.37% (3.06 to 3.63) in Thailand to 11.00% (9.29 to 12.47) in China. The temperature percentile of minimum mortality varied from roughly the $60^{\rm th}$ percentile in tropical areas to about the 80–90 th percentile in temperate regions
Aylin <i>et al</i> [5]	Great Britain	1986-1996	Significant association between mortality and temperature with 1.5 higher odds of dying for every 1°C reduction in winter temperature
The Eurowinter Group[1]	Men and women aged 50-59 and 65-74 in north Finland, south Finland, Baden- Württemburg, the Netherlands, London, and north Italy	1988-1992	Percentage increases in all-cause mortality per 1°C fall in temperature below 18°C were greater in warmer regions than in colder regions. High indices of cold-related mortality were associated with high mean winter temperatures ($P < 0.01$ for all-cause mortality and respiratory mortality; $P > 0.05$ for mortality from ischaemic heart disease and cerebrovascular disease)
Rocklöv <i>et al</i> [<mark>30</mark>]	Stockholm, Sweden	1990-2002	A high rate of respiratory and cardiovascular mortality in winter reduced the heat effect the following summer. The cumulative effect per 1°C increase was 0.95% below and 0.89% above a threshold (21.3°C) after a winter with low cardiovascular and respiratory mortality, but -0.23% below and 0.21% above the threshold after a winter with high cardiovascular and respiratory mortality
Ragettli <i>et al</i> [<mark>32</mark>]	Switzerland	1995-2013	Significant temperature-mortality relationships were found for maximal (1.15; 1.08–1.22); mean (1.16; 1.09–1.23), and minimal (1.23; 1.15–1.32) temperature. Mortality risks were higher at the beginning of the summer. Recent non-significant reduction in the effect of high temperatures on mortality
Chen <i>et al</i> [10]	All deaths among residents in Ontario, Canada	1996-2010	In warm seasons, each 5°C increase in daily mean temperature was associated with a 2.5% increase in nonaccidental deaths (95%CI: 1.3%-3.8%) on the day of exposure (lag 0). In cold seasons, each 5°C decrease in daily temperature was associated with a 3.0% (95%CI: 1.8%-4.2%) increase in nonaccidental deaths, which persisted over 7 d. Cold-related effects were stronger for cardiovascular-related deaths (any cardiovascular death: 4.1%, 95%CI: 2.3%-5.9%; CHD: 5.8%, 95%CI: 3.6%-8.1%). Each 5°C change in daily temperature was estimated to induce 7 excess deaths per day in cold seasons and 4 excess deaths in warm seasons
Oudin Åström <i>et al</i> [24]	Eastern Esthonia	1997-2013	Immediate increase in mortality associated with temperatures exceeding the 75 th percentile of summer maximum temperatures, corresponding to approximately 23°C. This increase lasted for a couple of days
Bell et al[21]	Mexico City, Mexico; Sao Paulo, Brazil; Santiago, Chile	1998-2002	Elevated temperatures (in particular same and previous day apparent temperature) are associated with mortality risk
Chan <i>et al</i> [12]	Hong Kong, China	1998-2006	An average 18°C increase in daily mean temperature above 28.2°C was associated with a 1.8% increase in mortality. Non-cancer related causes such as cardiovascular and respiratory infection-related deaths were more sensitive to high temperature



Xu et al[<mark>34</mark>]	Barcelona, Spain	1999-2006	The effect of three consecutive hot days was a 30% increase in all-cause mortality (RR = 1.30, 95%CI: 1.24-1.38)
Guo et al[<mark>23</mark>]	Chiang Mai city, Thailand	1999-2008	Both hot and cold temperatures resulted in immediate increase in all mortality types and age groups. Generally, the hot effects on all mortality types and age groups were short-term, while the cold effects lasted longer. The relative risk of mortality associated with cold temperature (19.35°C, 1 st centile) relative to 24.7°C (25 th centile) was 1.29 (95% CI: 1.16, 1.44) for lags 0-21. The relative risk of mortality associated with high temperature (31.7°C, 99 th centile) relative to 28°C (75 th centile) was 1.11 (95% CI: 1.00, 1.24) for lags 0-21
Oudin Åström <i>et al</i> [<mark>24</mark>]	Population over 50 years in Rome, Italy, and Stockholm, Sweden	2000-2008	The percent increase in daily mortality during heat waves as compared to normal summer days was 22% (95%CI: 18%-26%) in Rome and 8% (95%CI: 3%-12%) in Stockholm
Zafeiratou et al <mark>[8]</mark>	42 Municipalities within the Greater Athens Area, Greece	2000-2012	Significant effects of daily temperature increase on all-cause, cardiovascular, and respiratory mortality (<i>e.g.</i> , for all ages 4.16% (95%CI: 3.73%, 4.60%) per 1 C increase in daily temperature (lags 0–3)
Fu et al[14]	India	2001-2013	Mortality from all medical causes, stroke, and respiratory diseases showed excess risks at moderately cold temperature and hot temperature. Moderately cold temperature was estimated to have higher attributable risks [6.3% (95% empirical CI 1.1 to 11.1) for all medical deaths, 27.2% (11.4 to 40.2) for stroke, 9.7% (3.7 to 15.3) for IHD, and 6.5% (3.5 to 9.2) for respiratory diseases] than extremely cold, moderately hot, and extremely hot temperatures
Zeng et al[9]	15973 elderly residents of 866 counties and cities, China	2002-2005	Low seasonal temperatures increase the odds of mortality
Argaud <i>et al</i> [<mark>25</mark>]	Lyon, France	2003	Independent contribution to mortality from heatstroke if patients used long-term antihyper- tensive medication (HR, 2.17; 95%CI: 1.17-4.05), or presented at admission with cardiovascular failure (HR, 2.43; 95%CI: 1.14-5.17)
Zhang et al [35]	Wuhan, China	2003-2006	U-shaped relationship between temperature and mortality. Cold effect was delayed, whereas hot effect was acute, both of which lasted for several days. For cold effects over lag 0–21 d, a 1°C decrease in mean temperature below cold thresholds was associated with a 2.39% (95%CI: 1.71, 3.08) increase in non-accidental mortality, 3.65% (95%CI: 2.62, 4.69) increase in cardiovascular mortality, 3.87% (95%CI: 1.57, 6.22) increase in respiratory mortality, 3.13% (95%CI: 1.88, 4.38) increase in stroke mortality, and 21.57% (95%CI: 1.259, 31.26) increase in CHD mortality. For hot effects over lag 0–7 d, a 1 °C increase in mean temperature above the hot thresholds was associated with a 25.18% (95%CI: 18.74, 31.96) increase in non-accidental mortality, 34.10% (95%CI: 25.63, 43.16) increase in cardiovascular mortality, 24.27% (95%CI: 7.55, 43.59) increase in respiratory mortality, 30% (95%CI: 7.91, 26.87) increase in CHD mortality
Gómez- Acebo <i>et al</i> [<mark>7</mark>]	Cantabria (northern Spain)	2003-2006	Raising maximum or minimum temperatures by 1°C was associated with a 2% excess in mortality risk throughout the warm period. No effect in mortality on the cold season
Gómez- Acebo <i>et al</i> [<mark>17</mark>]	Cantabria (northern Spain)	2004-2005	The higher OR for cancer mortality was seen on the first day of exposure (OR = 4.91 ; 95%CI: 1.65–13.07 in the whole population). Cardiovascular (OR = 2.63 ; 95%CI: 1.88–3.67) and respiratory mortality (OR = 2.72 ; 95%CI: 1.46–5.08) showed a weaker effect
Analitis <i>et al</i> [26]	9 European cities	2004-2010	In the warm season, the percentage increase in all deaths from natural causes per °C increase in ambient temperature tended to be greater during high ozone days. For the cold period, no evidence for synergy was found.
McMichael et al[19]	Urban populations in Delhi, Monterrey, Mexico City, Chiang Mai, Bangkok, Salvador, Sao Paulo, Santiago, Cape Town, Ljubljana, Bucharest and Sofia.	2007	Most cities showed a U-shaped temperature-mortality relationship, with clear evidence of increasing death rates at colder temperatures and with increasing heat. Heat thresholds were generally higher in cities with warmer climates, while cold thresholds were unrelated to climate
Rabczenko et al[20]	Warsaw, Poland	2008-2013	Analysis of dependence between temperature and mortality for whole population as well as for subpopulations with respect to sex and age demonstrated its similar U-shape. Comfort varied between 20 and 24°C, with slight tendency to be higher for woman
Can et al[13]	Istanbul, Turkey	2013-2017	Three extreme heat waves in summer months of 2015, 2016, and 2017, which covered 14 days in total, significantly increased the mortality rate and caused 419 excess deaths in 23 d of exposure
Oray et al [<mark>16</mark>]	Izmir province, Turkey	2016	During the study period, the mean number of ED visits and mortality rates were significantly higher than the previous year's same period [$320 \pm 30/d vs 269 \pm 27/d$, ($P < 0.01$), and 1.6% $vs 0.7\%$, ($P < 0.01$)]. Although the admission rate was similar between the study period and the other 21 d of June 2016 [$320 \pm 30/d vs 310 \pm 32/d$, ($P = 0.445$)] in-hospital mortality rate was significantly higher [1.6% $vs 0.7\%$, ($P < 0.01$)]

CHD: Coronary heart disease; CI: Confidence interval; OR: Odds ratio.

Baisbideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

AMBIENT TEMPERATURE AND CARDIOVASCULAR AND NON-CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES

Weather exposure beyond certain thresholds affects human health negatively [52]. Both cold and heat temperature significantly increased risk of hospitalization for several diseases[53]. However, heat waves have documented a higher impact on mortality than on morbidity (hospital admissions)[41,54,55]. This phenomenon could be explained by the hypothesis that deaths from circulatory disease occur rapidly patients reach a hospital [56]. There are relationships between temperature (in particular its short-term variability) and hospital admissions due to various forms of heart disease [57-61]. Hot and cold temperature are a risk factor for a wide range of cardiovascular, respiratory, and psychiatric illness; yet, in few studies, the increase in temperature reduced the risk of hospital admissions for pulmonary embolism and angina pectoris[62]. Table 3 shows main studies on the relations between weather and hospital admissions.

AMBIENT TEMPERATURE AND ACUTE CORONARY SYNDROMES

Seasonal variations in emergency admission rates and trial recruitment of patients suffering from acute coronary syndromes (ACS) are well described^[37], and a number of epidemiological studies have reported a greater winter ACS incidence, with similar seasonal trends in all studied cohorts, including men and women, middle-aged and elderly patients, and patients from northern and southern hemispheres[4].

Over the past few decades, a growing body of epidemiological studies found the effects of ambient temperature on cardiovascular disease, including risk for ACS[63-66]. Inverse relationship between temperature and ACS is well known[67-71], even regardless of season[37,72,73]. In a previous study, we correlated the daily number of AMI cases admitted to a western Sicily hospital and weather conditions on a day-to-day basis over twelve years, showing a significant association between daily number of ACS hospital admission and minimal daily temperature[74]. Effects of low temperature on total ACS cases were more pronounced in years with higher average temperatures and also during summer, suggesting not a pure "cold effect" but an influence of unusual temperature decreases[64,75].

This relation, moreover, could be actually U-shaped, with higher short-term risk of ACS also in extremely hot summer[67,76-79]. Very few studies failed to demonstrate an association between temperature and ACS incidence[80]. A recent meta-analysis, however, confirmed that cold exposure, heat exposure, and exposure to heat waves were associated with an increased risk of ACS[81].

It has been hypothesized that angina's worsening occurs in cold weather, but few studies have investigated variations in hospitalizations due to angina pectoris in relation to climatic variables[3,59]. We showed a significant association between daily number of angina hospital admission and temperature [82]. Table 4 shows main studies on the relations between weather and hospital admissions for ACS.

Main limitation of these studies is the unavailability of data on individual exposure to temperature variability^[57]. These seasonal changes, besides, do not seem universal^[43,76], as they are absent near the equator or in subpolar regions, with less temperature fluctuations than in temperate regions. For this reason, it seems inadequate to extrapolate results to different environments.

ACS AND OTHER METEOROLOGICAL PHENOMENA BEYOND TEMPERATURE

Ambient humidity

We observed a negative significant relationship between the number of ACS admissions and maximal humidity^[74]. This was confirmed as regards angina admissions only in males, in whom we showed also a positive significant relationship between angina and minimal humidity [82]. Previous data for ACS were confounding: although some studies showed an association with low humidity [83,84], and other no association [69], more researches showed high humidity being related to CHD in northern countries[68,76] and in other Mediterranean[48,78], Asian[75], and Oceanian[54] settings. Fernández-Raga et al [18] suggested as the optimal relative humidity 24% for patients with respiratory diseases, and 45% for cardiovascular ones.

Atmospheric pressure.

Consequences of atmospheric pressure on cardiovascular diseases have been studied less frequently. Associations between an increase in CHD occurrence and low atmospheric temperatures have been reported from mortality data and hospital admission registries. A morbidity registry (Lille-WHO MONICA Project) detected a linear V-shaped relationship with a minimum at 1016 mbar: a 10-mbar decrease and a 10-mbar increase were associated with significant 12% and 11% increase in event rates, respectively[73]. Ambient pressure had a statistical impact on the incidence of angina or ACS also in Sweden[72], Serbia[83], Slovenia[68], Lithuania[85], and Switzerland[86], but in Mediterranean



Table 2 Main studies on the relations between weather and cardiovascular mortality					
Ref.	Population and setting	Year	Main results		
Gyllerup <i>et al</i> [44]	Men aged 40-64 from 259 municipalities in Sweden	1975-1984	Coronary mortality is more strongly associated with cold climate than with other explanatory factors such as cholesterol, socioeconomic factors, or tobacco		
Crawford <i>et al</i> [43]	Deaths in Northern Ireland, United Kingdom	1979-1998	Low temperature is associated with highest mortality rates from myocardial infarction		
Gerber <i>et al</i> [45]	Olmsted County, Minnesota, United States	1979-2002	RR of sudden death, but not of myocardial infarction, was increased in low temperatures (1.20, 95%CI: 1.07-1.35, for temperatures below 0°C <i>vs</i> 18°C-30°C). These associations were stronger for unexpected sudden death ($P < 0.05$)		
Wichmann et al[49]	Gothenburg, Sweden	1985-2010	No evidence of association between temperature and CHD deaths in the entire year, warm or cold periods		
Enquselassie et al[3]	Australian community- based register of heart disease (the WHO MONICA Project)	1992	Coronary deaths were more likely to occur on days of low temperature (and to a much lesser extent, of high temperature. Patterns of sudden and non-sudden deaths were not associated with weather conditions. Both longer-term seasonal effects and daily temperature effects exist		
Dilaveris <i>et al</i> [48]	AMI deaths in Athens, Greece	2001	The best predictor was the average temperature of the previous 7 d; the relation between daily myocardial infarction deaths and 7-d average temperature (R2 0.109, $P < 0.001$) was U-shaped		
Zhang et al [35]	District of Wuhan, China	2003-2010	For cold effects over lag 0-21 d, a 1°C decrease in mean temperature below the cold thresholds was associated with a 3.65% (95%CI: 2.62, 4.69) increase in cardiovascular mortality and 21.57% (95%CI: 12.59, 31.26) increase in CHD mortality. For hot effects over lag 0-7 d, a 1°C increase in mean temperature above the hot thresholds was associated with a 34.10% (95%CI: 25.63, 43.16) increase in cardiovascular mortality and 17.00% (95%CI: 7.91, 26.87) increase in CHD mortality		
Wang X et al [<mark>47</mark>]	Beijing and Shanghai, China	2007-2009	The cold effects on cause-specific cardiovascular mortality reached the strongest at lag 0–27, while the hot effects reached the strongest at lag 0–14 $$		
Yang J et al <mark>[6</mark>]	Nine Chinese mega-cities	2007-2013	Statistically significant nonlinear associations between temperature and mortality were observed, with a total of 50658 deaths from myocardial infarction attributable to non-optimal temperatures		
Yin Q, Wang J[<mark>50</mark>]	Beijing, China	2010-2012	When extremely high temperatures occur continuously, at varying temperature thresholds and durations, adverse effects on CVD mortality vary significantly. The longer the heat wave lasts, the greater the mortality risk is. When the daily maximum temperature exceeded 35 °C from the fourth day onward, the RR attributed to consecutive days' high temperature exposure saw an increase to about 10% ($P < 0.05$), and at the 5 th day, the RR reached 51%		

AMI: Acute myocardial infarction; CHD: Coronary heart disease; CVD: Cardiovascular diseases; CI: Confidence Interval; OR: Odds ratio; RR: Relative risk.

population we did not observe any significant relation[82].

Sunlight

The amount of sunlight hours seems inversely related to winter mortality and ACS risk[72]. Our study in a Mediterranean area did not confirm any relation between sunlight hours and ACS daily admissions [74].

Wind, rain, and snow

ACS incidence during southern wind periods seems significantly greater than during the northern ones [75]. Also, the amount of rain and wind speed seems inversely related to winter mortality and ACS incidence[72,75,85,86]. We, however, failed to observe any significant relationship between wind force and direction, rain, and the number of hospital ACS admissions[74], suggesting these variables are not strong triggers, according to other authors[43]. It is likely that rain intermixed with snow may trigger increased mortality from cardiovascular disease. Snow is somewhat more significant in triggering deaths from heart disease than is air temperature, influencing mortality, mainly in males[87,88]. Snow fall exceeding 2 cm/d was identified as a significant predictor for ACS admission rates[89]. Snow- and rainfall had inconsistent effects in another study[87].

Combination of weather factors

The assessment of air temperature does not allow evaluation of actual discomfort perception caused by the combination of different meteorological parameters. Alternative biometeorological approaches consider Apparent Temperature Index in summer and New United States/Canada Wind Chill Temperature Index in winter, which combine air temperature, relative humidity and wind velocity[90], the presence of anticyclonic and cyclonic air mass[91], as well as specific local climatic conditions, such as the Arctic Oscillation[92].

Boishidena® WJC https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 3 Main studies on the relations between weather and hospital admissions						
Ref.	Population and setting	Year	Main results			
Ebi <i>et al</i> [<mark>59</mark>]	Three Californian regions, United States	1983- 1998	Association between temperature and hospitalizations varied by region, age, and gender			
Michelozzi <i>et</i> al[<mark>41</mark>]	Twelve European cities participating in the Assessment and Prevention of Acute Health Effects of Weather Conditions in Europe (PHEWE) project	1990- 2001	For an 18°C increase in maximum apparent temperature above a threshold, respiratory admissions increased by 14.5% (95% CI: 1.9–7.3) and 13.1% (95% CI: 0.8–5.5) in Mediterranean and North-Continental cities, respectively. In contrast, the association between temperature and cardiovascular and cerebrovascular admissions tended to be negative and did not reach statistical significance			
Vaneckova and Bambrick [52]	Sidney, Australia	1991- 2009	On hot days, hospital admissions increased for all major categories. This increase was not shared homogeneously across all diseases. Admissions due to some major categories increased one to three days after a hot day (e.g., respiratory and cardiovascular diseases) and on two and three consecutive days			
Goldie <i>et al</i> [<mark>54</mark>]	Darwin, Australia	1993- 2011	Nighttime humidity was the most statistically significant predictor ($P < 0.001$), followed by daytime temperature ($P < 0.05$). Hot days appeared to have higher admission rates when they were preceded by high nighttime humidity			
Linares and Diaz[<mark>28</mark>]	Daily emergency admissions between May and September in the Hospital General Universitario Gregorio Maranòn, Madrid, Spain	1995- 2000	The temperature above which hospital admissions soar coincides with the temperature limit above which mortality sharply rises, which, in turn, coincides with 95 th percentile of the maximum daily temperature series			
Chan et al[53]	Hong Kong, China	1998- 2009	During summer, admissions increased by 4.5% for every increase of 1°C above 29°C; during winter, admissions increased by 1.4% for every decrease of 1°C within the 8.2–26.9 °C range. Admissions for respiratory and infectious diseases increased during extreme heat and cold, but cardiovascular disease admissions increased only during cold temperatures. During winter, for every decrease of 1°C within the 8.2–26.9 °C range, admissions for cardiovascular diseases rose by 2.1%			
Yitshak-Sade et al <mark>[61]</mark>	Respiratory, cardiac and stroke admissions of adults ≥ 65 (2015660), New England, United States	2001- 2011	The short-term temperature effect was higher in months of higher temperature variability as well. For cardiac admissions, the PM2.5 effect was larger on colder days (0.56% versus -0.30%) and in months of higher temperature variability (0.99% $vs -0.56\%$)			
van Loenhout et al[55]	the Netherlands	2002- 2007	Positive relationship between increasing temperatures above 21 °C and the risk for urgent emergency room admissions for respiratory diseases. For admissions for circulatory diseases, there is only a small significant increase of risk within the 85+ age group for moderate heat, but not for extreme heat			
Ponjoan <i>et al</i> [<mark>58</mark>]	Catalonia, Spain	2006- 2016	The overall incidence of cardiovascular hospitalizations significantly increased during cold spells (RR = 1.120; 95% CI: 1.10–1.30) and the effect was even stronger in the 7 d after the cold spell (RR = 1.29; 95% CI: 1.22–1.36). Conversely, cardiovascular hospitalizations did not increase during heatwaves			
Shiue <i>et al</i> [60]	Ten percent of daily hospital admissions across Germany	2009- 2011	Admissions due to diseases of pericardium, nonrheumatic mitral and aortic valve disorders, cardiomyopathy, atrioventricular block, other conduction disorders, atrial fibrillation and flutter, and other cardiac arrhythmias peaked when physiologically equivalent temperature was between 0 and 10°C			
Tian <i>et al</i> [57]	184 cities in China	2014- 2017	a 1°C increase in short-term temperature variability (calculated from the SD of daily minimum and maximum temperatures) at 0-1 days was associated with a 0.44% (0.32%-0.55%), 0.31% (0.20%-0.43%), 0.48% (0.01%-0.96%), 0.34% (0.01%-0.67%), and 0.82% (0.59%-1.05%) increase in hospital admissions for cardiovascular disease, ischemic heart disease, heart failure, heart rhythm disturbances, and ischemic stroke, respectively			

CHD: Coronary heart disease; CVD: Cardiovascular diseases; CI: Confidence interval; PM: Particulate matter; RR: Relative risk; SD: Standard deviation.

WEATHER AND OTHER CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE BEYOND CHD

Heart failure

Environmental exposure is an important, but underappreciated, risk factor contributing to development and severity of heart failure. In European warm period (from June to October), there are significant less admissions than that in the cold period (from December to March). Air temperature is the most significant environmental factor related to heart failure hospital admissions, showing an inversed correlation[93,94]. Heart failure admissions peaked when temperature was between 0 and -10°C[68]. Every 1°C decrease in mean temperature and every 1hPa decrease in air pressure were associated, respectively, with an increase in the daily number of emergency admissions for heart failure by 7.83% (95%CI: 2.06-13.25) and 3.56% (95%CI: 1.09-5.96)[71]. Some other features, such as precipitation, are also relevant[94].

Raishidena® WJC https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 4 Main	studies on the relations between weather and a	icute corc	onary syndromes
Ref.	Population and setting	Year	Main results
Mirić et al[78]	Coastal part of middle Dalmatia (Croatia)	1981- 1987	Significant association of acute myocardial infarction incidence with increased air temperature four days before, and on the day of the incident ($P < 0.05$)
Danet <i>et al</i> [73]	Morbidity registry (Lille-WHO MONICA Project) monitoring 257000 men Aged 25-64 years.	1985- 1994	The events rate decreased linearly with increasing atmospheric temperature: a 10°C decrease was associated with a 13% increase in event rates
Wichmann <i>et</i> al[49]	AMI hospitalisationsin Gothenburg, Sweden	1985- 2010	A linear exposure-response corresponding to a 3% and 7% decrease in AMI hospitalisations was observed for an inter-quartile range increase in the 2-d cumulative average of temperature during the entire year and the warm period, respectively
Abrignani et al[74]	Hospital admissions for acute myocardial infarction in Trapani, Italy	1987- 1998	Significant association as regards the incidence relative ratio between daily number of myocardial infarction hospital admission and minimal daily temperature
Abrignani <i>et</i> al[82]	Hospital admissions for angina pectoris in Trapani, Italy	1987- 1998	Significant association between daily number of angina hospital admission and temperature. Significant incidence relative ratios (95%CI) were, in males, 0.988 (0.980–0.996) ($P < 0.004$) for minimal temperature. The corresponding values in females were 0.973 (0.951–0.995) ($P < 0.017$) for maximal temperature and 1.024 (1.001–1.048) ($P < 0.037$) for minimal temperature
Marchant et al[37]	633 consecutive patients with myocardial infarction admitted to a coronary care unit in London, United Kingdom	1988- 1991	Excess of infarctions on colder days in both winter and summer
Bayentin <i>et al</i> [77]	Quebec, Canada	1989- 2006	Cold temperatures during winter and hot episodes during summer are associated with an increase of up to 12% in the daily hospital admission rate for CHD. In most regions, exposure to a continuous period of cold or hot temperature was more harmful than just one isolated day of extreme weather
Wolf et al[64]	Myocardial infarctions and coronary deaths in the Monitoring Trends and Determinants on Cardiovascular Diseases/Cooperative Health Research in Augsburg (MONICA/KORA) Registry, Germany	1995- 2004	A 10°C decrease in 5-d average temperature was associated with a relative risk of 1.10 (95%CI: 1.04-1.15). Effect of temperature on the occurrence of nonfatal events showed a delayed pattern, whereas the association with fatal forms was more immediate
Madrigano <i>et</i> al[70]	Patients with a possible discharge diagnosis of AMI in 11 acute care general hospitals serving residents of the Worcester metropolitan area (Worcester Heart Attack Study), United Kingdom	1995, 1997, 1999, 2001, 2003	A decrease in an interquartile range in apparent temperature was associated with an increased risk of acute myocardial infarction on the same day [HR = 1.15 (95%CI: 1.01–1.31)]. Extreme cold during the 2 d prior was associated with an increased risk of acute myocardial infarction [1.36 (1.07–1.74)]. Exposure to heat increased the risk of dying after an AMI
Mohammad et al[72]	All myocardial infarctions reported to the Swedish Web-System for Enhancement and Development of Evidence-Based Care in Heart Disease Evaluated According to Recommended Therapies (SWEDEHEART)	1998- 2013	The most pronounced association was observed for air temperature, where a 1-SD increase (7.4°C) was associated with a 2.8% reduction in risk of myocardial infarction (incidence ratio, 0.972; 95%CI: 0.967-0.977; $P < 0.001$). Results were consistent for non-ST-elevation as well as ST-elevation myocardial infarction and across a large range of subgroups and health care regions
Messner <i>et al</i> [<mark>76</mark>]	Subarctic area of Northern Sweden	2001	A 1°C temperature rise was associated with an 1.5% increase in the number of nonfatal acute myocardial infarctions
Chang et al [<mark>69</mark>]	Myocardial infarctions among women aged 15–49 from 17 different countries in Africa, Asia, Europe, Latin America, and the Caribbean	2003	Overall, a 5°C drop in temperature was associated with a 12% increase in admissions for heart attack (incidence rate ratio 0.88 (95%CI: 0.8-0.97)
Misailidou <i>et</i> al[<mark>65</mark>]	Five rural Greek regions (Karditsa, Lamia, Chalkida, Kalamata and Zakinthos)	2003- 2004	For an 18°C decrease in temperature there was a 1.6% (95% CI: 0.9%–2.2%) increase in admissions for CHD
Bhaskaran <i>et</i> al[63]	84010 hospital admissions for myocardial infarction in the Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit Project (15 conurbations in England and Wales, United Kingdom)	2003- 2006	Broadly linear relation between temperature and myocardial infarction, without a threshold: each 1°C reduction in daily mean temperature was associated with a 2.0% (95%CI: 1.1%-2.9%) cumulative increase in risk of myocardial infarction over the current and following 28 d, the strongest effects being estimated at intermediate lags of 2-7 and 8-14 d. Heat had no detrimental effect
Nastos <i>et al</i> [80]	Crete, Greece	2004- 2007	The impact of weather variability on the ACS incidence is not statistically significant
Ravljen <i>et al</i> [68]	ACS treated with coronary emergency catheter interventions in Slovenia	2008- 2011	Daily average temperature, atmospheric pressure and relative humidity all have relevant and significant influences on ACS incidences for the entire population. However, the ACS incidence for population over 65 is only affected by daily average temperature



Abrignani MG et al. Climatic influences on cardiovascular diseases

Hori et al[71]	Japan	2010	Every 1°C decrease in mean temperature was associated with an increase in the daily number of emergency admissions for ACS by 7.83% (95%CI: 2.06-13.25)
García-Lledó <i>et al</i> [66]	Madrid, Spain	2013- 2017	The minimum incidence rate of myocardial infarction was observed at the maximum temperature of 18°C. Warmer temperatures were not associated with a higher incidence (RR, 1.03; 95%CI: 0.76-1.41), whereas colder temperatures were significantly associated with an increased risk (IRR, 1.25; 95%CI: 1.02-1.54)
Lin <i>et al</i> [67]	Hospitalizations for CHD in New York State, United States	2015	Extremely low universal apparent temperature in winter was associated with increased risk of AMI, especially during lag4-lag6
Sharif Nia et al <mark>[75</mark>]	Hospital admission for AMI in Mazandaran Province, Iran	2015- 2016	Daily minimum temperature correlated with ACS events [RR = 0.942 (95%CI: 0.927-0.958), $P < 0.001$]

ACS: Acute coronary syndromes; AMI: Acute myocardial infarction; CHD: Coronary heart disease; CI: Confidence interval; RR: Relative risk; SD: Standard deviation

Arrhythmias

Current paradigm in sudden cardiac death (SCD) requires an abnormal myocardial substrate and an internal or external transient factor (such as a cold spell, an unusually cold weather event) that triggers cardiac arrest. An increased risk of ischaemic SCD was significantly associated with a preceding cold spell[95], and cardiac arrest admissions peaked when temperatures were between 0° and -10°C[60]. These associations were stronger for unexpected SCD than for SCD with prior CHD[45]. However, also higher average daily temperature and larger variation in humidity were associated with increase in appropriate ICD interventions in patients with arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy[96].

Aortic dissection

Days with spontaneous type A aortic dissections were significantly colder than those without dissections[97]. There appears to be a significant correlation between mean low monthly pressures and rupture incidence[98].

Stroke

Significant associations between temperature and hospital admission rates for stroke were apparent and generally stronger than in other cardiovascular disease[99-101]. Both increases and decreases in temperature had a marked relationship with stroke deaths, while hospital admissions were only associated with low temperature [102,103]. Overall, a 5°C drop in temperature was significantly associated with a 7% increase in admissions for stroke[69]. Every 1°C increase in mean temperature during the preceding 24 h was associated with a significant 2.1% increase in ischaemic stroke admissions. A fall in atmospheric pressure over the preceding 48 h was associated with increased rate of haemorrhagic stroke admissions. Higher maximum daily temperature gave a significant increase in lacunar stroke admissions than in other ischaemic strokes [100]. In another study, every 1°C decrease in mean temperature was associated with an increase in the daily number of emergency admissions by 35.57% for intracerebral haemorrhage and by 11.71% for cerebral infarction. An increase of emergency admissions due to intracerebral haemorrhage was observed at every 1 hPa decrease in air pressure[71]. A recent metanalysis, finally, confirmed that lower mean ambient temperature is significantly associated with the risk of intracerebral haemorrhage, but not with ischemic stroke and subarachnoid haemorrhage [104].

AGE, SEX, OTHER FACTORS AND CLIMATIC VARIABLES

Effects of weather vary depending on other factors, such as the population disease profile and age structure[19,74]. People with pre-existing medical conditions such as cardiovascular disease or carrying out physically demanding work, and the elderly, particularly those in nursing and care homes, are particularly vulnerable[68,105-108].

Mortality's increase with cold or heat was greater for older age groups[21,63,109]. Diurnal temperature range are related to hospital admissions for all cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease among elderly, namely in males [59,83,110]. In the elderly, cardiovascular disease curve was U-shaped, showing higher values for cold stress than for heat one[107,109,111,112]. In general, longer duration of heat waves increases the risks of cardiovascular mortality for the elderly [113]. Main predictors of death are: The use of home public-integrated assistance, a higher comorbidity, a higher degree of disability [114], lack of thermal insulation and sleeping right under the roof[113], being confined to bed or unable to care for oneself and pre-existing cardiovascular diseases[115]. Home air-conditioning, visiting cool

environments, dressing lightly, and increasing social contact were instead strongly associated with better outcomes[113,115]. Weak correlation between atmospheric air wind speed and ACS morbidity in older populations was determined[111].

Diurnal temperature range was significantly associated with hospital admissions for all cardiovascular disease, ischemic heart disease and cerebrovascular disease among elderly females[110]. We showed that, in females, a reduction in maximal temperature is associated with more hospital angina admissions^[82], whereas the number of angina admissions is positively correlated with an increase in minimal temperature, as observed also by Ebi[59]. Increased outside temperature and sunshine hours were identified as strong positive predictors for ACS occurrence in women^[89], as they tend to present with AMI at a later age than men, they will tend to exhibit a more marked seasonal variation[107-109]. A weak correlation between atmospheric air wind speed and MI morbidity in women was determined^[111]. Snow fall was identified as a positive predictor for ACS admission rates with a significant effect in men, but not in women[89]. Other studies failed to detect significant difference according to sex[65].

Risk of heat-related death was significantly higher among Black people[112,116] and Australian indigens[105].

Heat-related mortality varied with sociodemographic characteristics such as in people living in low socioeconomic districts[12,106,107,117].

People living in areas with high PM2.5 concentration showed higher vulnerabilities to cold-ACS effects than other groups did[67].

MECHANISMS

Up to date, there are not clear pathophysiological links between weather and cardiovascular diseases. Climatic stress may increase direct and indirect risks to human health via different, complex pathophysiological pathways and exogenous and endogenous mechanisms. The pattern of well-known conventional risk factors (such as blood pressure, serum lipids, haematological and coagulation factors, body weight, glucose tolerance), a number of hormones including steroids, environmental factors (such as air pollution) as well as acute infections shows a marked seasonal variation, with a winter clustering of peak values [118,119]. In addition, humans display different seasonal behaviour in diet, activity, housing and smoking habits, psychosocial factors and mood disorders in winter[120]. Other factors, such as overindulgence, or stress on Christmas holidays, might also contribute[121].

Cold

Mechanisms leading to possible influence of cold on ACS or angina onset are most likely multifactorial. Different heart and circulation adjustments occur when humans are acutely exposed to low outdoor temperatures. Increase in circulating levels of catecholamines, secondary to cutaneous thermoreceptor activation[122]. lead to peripheral vasoconstriction and then to increase in blood pressure[123], heart rate, and left ventricular end-diastolic pressure and volume[3,124,125] with, in turn, increased cardiac work and peripheral resistance, greater heart oxygen requirement and reduction of ischemic threshold [3]; they may be clinically relevant when coronary circulation is already compromised[126]. People with normal cardiovascular function, in fact, are unaffected by cold stress, whereas those with IHD may be crippled, although rarely, by exposure to cold, especially if they perform physical work[122]. At the same time, reduced myocardial perfusion may lead to earlier ischemia, angina, and impaired performance. Also having a heart failure deteriorates submaximal and maximal performance in cold conditions [127]. In cold conditions also a greater sodium intake lead to an increase in blood pressure. Cold-induced vasoconstriction results in an early return of reflected pressure waves from the periphery and an increase in central aortic systolic pressure, with increase of central aortic augmentation index [128]. Endothelial dysfunction may be another mechanism. Brachial flow-mediated dilation would vary by temperature (in the Framingham Offspring cohort it was highest in the warmest and lowest in the coldest outdoor temperature quartiles)[129]. Moreover, coronary artery spasm could occur if vasoconstriction extends to the heart vessels. Cold-intolerant patients had a steeper heart rate response in cold conditions and developed ischemia and angina earlier. In cold-tolerant patients, this increase may be offset by a reduction in heart rate if baroreceptor function is normal. Baroreceptor function was impaired in cold-intolerant patients. If baroreceptor function is abnormal, heart rate may not decrease in response to a cold-induced increase in blood pressure. This mechanism may account for some of the variability in tolerance to cold exposure that affects patients with exertional angina[124].

More dramatic events, such as sudden death, may be due to increased frequency of cardiac arrhythmias, or, perhaps through rises in blood pressure, to abrupt rupture of atherosclerotic plaques [3]

Cold, besides, exerts other biological negative effects on inflammatory markers, haemostasis, rheological factors, and lipids (probably related to haemoconcentration), alcohol consumption, and body weight gain[40,124,125,130,131]. A 10°C decrease in temperature led to an increase in platelet counts and fibrinogen and a decrease in C-reactive protein in CHD patients[131]. In cold weather, a



greater tendency to clot in circulatory system has been demonstrated [119,132,133]. This could be related to plasma volume contraction (haemoconcentration) [119,126,134], induced by peripheral vasoconstriction, which can in part also explain the increase in serum lipids. These acute responses to cold conditions could trigger ACS.

Cold conditions may increase also the risk of respiratory infections through suppression of immune responses and direct effects on respiratory tree, and although no association can be claimed between respiratory infections and coronary deaths during cold season[124], a theory links pulmonary inflammation to stroke[99].

Finally, other causes hypothesized to explain the impact of cold are socioeconomic, mainly housing conditions[12,34].

Heat

During summer, ACS patients working outdoors show abnormal hemorheology (high haematocrit and blood viscosity)[135], as dehydration is more likely to occur[29]. Outdoor heat is associated with decreasing blood pressure, and cardiovascular vulnerability may vary primarily by central air conditioning[136]. Higher ambient temperature is associated with decreases in heart rate variability during warm season but not during cold one[137]. Hot weather is associated with an increase in systolic pressure at night in treated elderly hypertensive subjects, likely because of a nocturnal blood pressure escape from effects of a lighter summertime drug regimen[133].

Humidity

When air contains a high percentage of humidity, perspiration and the processes of temperature homeostasis may be hindered, making more difficult the automatic processes of internal temperature control, thus increasing respiratory fatigue and heart rate. However, this mechanism may be important only in more severe ischemic forms.

Rain and wind

A reduction of outdoor excursions when it is raining and windy prevents outdoor cold stress.

Sunshine

Several studies have demonstrated significantly lower levels of vitamin D, synthesized by skin following exposure to ultraviolet radiation, in subjects with CHD, particularly in winter[138]. It has been suggested that vitamin D may be a confounding factor in the association between cholesterol, structurally like it, and CHD risk. This is corroborated by findings of a strong, positive association between latitude and mean blood cholesterol, and a strong negative association between hours of sunshine and CHD mortality[120]. Association between vitamin D levels and CHD, however, has been shown to be independent of total serum cholesterol[138].

Age

With increasing age, winter peak increased. This is likely to reflect a combination of factors: poorer temperature autonomic control, lower physical activity levels, less use of protective clothing, greater time spent at home, more sensitivity to seasonal influenza and blood pressure changes, and poorer household heating and insulation. The predominance of effects of meteorological factors in the elderly could be also explained by the lower impact of genetic AMI determinants.

Sex

Different effects of weather on women may be related to different coronary anatomy in the female sex, as woman have less extensive coronary atherosclerosis, lower coronary size, and lower collateral circulation than males.

Pollution

Interaction between air pollution and weather is often missed in literature^[139]. Studies show that ambient temperature and air pollution may interact to affect cardiovascular events via autonomic nervous system dysfunction[137]. Much higher PM10 effects on mortality were observed during warmer days[26,140-142], and the hypothesis that such an effect is attributable to enhanced exposure to particles in summer could not be rejected[143].

CONCLUSION

Implications and conclusions

Weather influences on heart diseases remind us that climatic stress can be considered as a new potential risk factor for cardiovascular events and even mortality[3,125]. Such an understanding has several potential implications for developing civil protection policy towards allocation of public healthcare



resources and planning appropriate measures to prevent cardiovascular events [59,116]. Weather-related health effects have sharply attracted growing interest because of the recent observed and predicted earth's climate change, with consequent increasing ambient temperatures and climatic fluctuations, extremes of precipitation (floods and droughts), air pollution, and infectious diseases. Contrary to current predictions, this may mean a paradoxical increase in seasonal cycle of events with greater winter peaks, even as overall global temperatures rise[93]. Thus, increases in heat-related mortality due to global warming are unlikely to be compensated by decreases in cold-related mortality [112]. In a global environment of rapid and extreme climatic events, more populations will be exposed to conditions they are not readily adapted to from a bio-behavioural perspective [60,144]. Adaptation to such changes, that are expected to further increase, would seem to be imperative for medical professionals, health institutions, and general public^[41,70].

Public health educational, behavioural and social measures [28,43] have been proposed to reduce adverse cardiovascular consequences of climate variability. We wish here to summarize the most important ones.

High risk identification: Prevention programs must be based around rapid identification of high-risk conditions and people, such as frails with cardiovascular disease, or the elderly [53,107]. Protective measures, in fact, should be directed towards susceptible groups, rather than the population as a whole, with the creation of an up-to-date database and care of vulnerable high-risk individuals[21,24,110,114].

Specific interventions: In the community, at home, and in institutions that care for elderly or vulnerable people, such as hospitals, a comfortable temperature should be granted[63,65]. Educational measures should be suggested to high-risk people. During the passing atmospheric front, as well as in extreme ambient temperature periods, i.e., coronary patients should stay at home, and avoid both physical and psychological stress[78].

Provision of targeted advice: Many weather-related diseases may be preventable by and appropriate response to emergencies. Operative health weather watch/warning systems link public health actions to meteorological forecasts of dangerous weather. We need development of a short-term forecast system of daily demand using weather variables.

Remodulation of health services offer: During severe climatic conditions, it should be granted a greater deployment of ambulance services and an adequate reinforcement of health personnel in order to meet the unexpected increase in demands, and to avoid potential mismatch between the occurrence of acute cardiovascular events and medical service capacities [108].

Future perspectives: In the long term, improvements in infrastructures, residential architecture, working environment and urban planning must be adapted[113].

In conclusion, the problem of climate change is serious, urgent and getting worse[144]. Fairly obvious connections between climate change and cardiovascular health have been outlined in this article. Medical professionals, and societies of medical professionals, easily capable of understanding the physical and statistical methods used by climatologists, are in a good position to give politicians and leaders in industry and agriculture their necessary support[144].

Further large, exhaustive, population-based cohort research with consistent methodology over long periods in geographical areas with homogeneous meteorological variables should be carried out to further clarify climatic influences on CHD occurrence, to identify underlying pathophysiological mechanisms, to show vulnerable populations and individuals and to develop cost-effective strategies to promote resilience against provocations of climate change[86,113].

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Abrignani MG was responsible for the conception and design of the manuscript and he wrote the first original draft; Lombardo A, Braschi A, Renda N, and Abrignani V contributed to the design of the manuscript and in making critical revisions related to the important intellectual content of the manuscript; and all authors gave final approval of the version of the article to be published.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors have nothing to disclose.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Maurizio Giuseppe Abrignani 0000-0002-0237-7157; Alberto Lombardo 0000-0002-4527-2507; Annabella



Braschi 0000-0003-1972-7595; Nicolò Renda 0000-0002-8785-0627; Vincenzo Abrignani 0000-0002-7035-8900.

S-Editor: Ma YJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Ma YJ

REFERENCES

- Cold exposure and winter mortality from ischaemic heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, respiratory disease, and all 1 causes in warm and cold regions of Europe. The Eurowinter Group. Lancet 1997; 349: 1341-1346 [PMID: 9149695 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(96)12338-2
- Gemmell I, McLoone P, Boddy FA, Dickinson GJ, Watt GC. Seasonal variation in mortality in Scotland. Int J Epidemiol 2 2000; 29: 274-279 [PMID: 10817125 DOI: 10.1093/ije/29.2.274]
- Enquselassie F, Dobson AJ, Alexander HM, Steele PL. Seasons, temperature and coronary disease. Int J Epidemiol 1993; 22: 632-636 [PMID: 8225736 DOI: 10.1093/ije/22.4.632]
- Curriero FC, Heiner KS, Samet JM, Zeger SL, Strug L, Patz JA. Temperature and mortality in 11 cities of the eastern 4 United States. Am J Epidemiol 2002; 155: 80-87 [PMID: 11772788 DOI: 10.1093/aje/155.1.80]
- Aylin P, Morris S, Wakefield J, Grossinho A, Jarup L, Elliott P. Temperature, housing, deprivation and their relationship 5 to excess winter mortality in Great Britain, 1986-1996. Int J Epidemiol 2001; 30: 1100-1108 [PMID: 11689529 DOI: 10.1093/ije/30.5.1100
- 6 Yang J, Zhou M, Ou CQ, Yin P, Li M, Tong S, Gasparrini A, Liu X, Li J, Cao L, Wu H, Liu Q. Seasonal variations of temperature-related mortality burden from cardiovascular disease and myocardial infarction in China. Environ Pollut 2017; 224: 400-406 [PMID: 28222981 DOI: 10.1016/j.envpol.2017.02.020]
- 7 Gómez-Acebo I, Llorca J, Rodríguez-Cundín P, Dierssen-Sotos T. Extreme temperatures and mortality in the North of Spain. Int J Public Health 2012; 57: 305-313 [PMID: 21229285 DOI: 10.1007/s00038-010-0229-1]
- 8 Zafeiratou S, Analitis A, Founda D, Giannakopoulos C, Varotsos KV, Sismanidis P, Keramitsoglou I, Katsouyanni K. Spatial Variability in the Effect of High Ambient Temperature on Mortality: An Analysis at Municipality Level within the Greater Athens Area. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019; 16 [PMID: 31575034 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph16193689]
- Zeng Y, Gu D, Purser J, Hoenig H, Christakis N. Associations of environmental factors with elderly health and mortality 9 in China. Am J Public Health 2010; 100: 298-305 [PMID: 20019314 DOI: 10.2105/AJPH.2008.154971]
- Chen H, Wang J, Li O, Yagouti A, Lavigne E, Foty R, Burnett RT, Villeneuve PJ, Cakmak S, Copes R. Assessment of the 10 effect of cold and hot temperatures on mortality in Ontario, Canada: a population-based study. CMAJ Open 2016; 4: E48-E58 [PMID: 27280114 DOI: 10.9778/cmajo.20150111]
- 11 Chung Y, Lim YH, Honda Y, Guo YL, Hashizume M, Bell ML, Chen BY, Kim H. Mortality related to extreme temperature for 15 cities in northeast Asia. Epidemiology 2015; 26: 255-262 [PMID: 25643105 DOI: 10.1097/EDE.00000000000229]
- Chan EY, Goggins WB, Kim JJ, Griffiths SM. A study of intracity variation of temperature-related mortality and 12 socioeconomic status among the Chinese population in Hong Kong. J Epidemiol Community Health 2012; 66: 322-327 [PMID: 20974839 DOI: 10.1136/jech.2008.085167]
- 13 Can G, Şahin Ü, Sayılı U, Dubé M, Kara B, Acar HC, İnan B, Aksu Sayman Ö, Lebel G, Bustinza R, Küçükali H, Güven U, Gosselin P. Excess Mortality in Istanbul during Extreme Heat Waves between 2013 and 2017. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019; 16 [PMID: 31703402 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph16224348]
- 14 Fu SH, Gasparrini A, Rodriguez PS, Jha P. Mortality attributable to hot and cold ambient temperatures in India: a nationally representative case-crossover study. PLoS Med 2018; 15: e1002619 [PMID: 30040816 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002619
- 15 Guo Y, Gasparrini A, Armstrong BG, Tawatsupa B, Tobias A, Lavigne E, Coelho MSZS, Pan X, Kim H, Hashizume M, Honda Y, Guo YL, Wu CF, Zanobetti A, Schwartz JD, Bell ML, Scortichini M, Michelozzi P, Punnasiri K, Li S, Tian L, Garcia SDO, Seposo X, Overcenco A, Zeka A, Goodman P, Dang TN, Dung DV, Mayvaneh F, Saldiva PHN, Williams G, Tong S. Heat Wave and Mortality: A Multicountry, Multicommunity Study. Environ Health Perspect 2017; 125: 087006 [PMID: 28886602 DOI: 10.1289/EHP1026]
- 16 Oray NC, Oray D, Aksay E, Atilla R, Bayram B. The impact of a heat wave on mortality in the emergency department. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2018; **97**: e13815 [PMID: 30593174 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000013815]
- 17 Gómez-Acebo I, Llorca J, Dierssen T. Cold-related mortality due to cardiovascular diseases, respiratory diseases and cancer: a case-crossover study. Public Health 2013; 127: 252-258 [PMID: 23433803 DOI: 10.1016/j.puhe.2012.12.014]
- 18 Fernández-Raga M, Tomás C, Fraile R. Human mortality seasonality in Castile-León, Spain, between 1980 and 1998: the influence of temperature, pressure and humidity. Int J Biometeorol 2010; 54: 379-392 [PMID: 20107841 DOI: 10.1007/s00484-009-0289-1
- McMichael AJ, Wilkinson P, Kovats RS, Pattenden S, Hajat S, Armstrong B, Vajanapoom N, Niciu EM, Mahomed H, 19 Kingkeow C, Kosnik M, O'Neill MS, Romieu I, Ramirez-Aguilar M, Barreto ML, Gouveia N, Nikiforov B. International study of temperature, heat and urban mortality: the 'ISOTHURM' project. Int J Epidemiol 2008; 37: 1121-1131 [PMID: 18522981 DOI: 10.1093/ije/dyn086]
- 20 Rabczenko D, Wojtyniak B, Kuchcik M, Szymalski W, Seroka W, Żmudzka E. Association between high temperature and mortality of Warsaw inhabitants, 2008-2013. Przegl Epidemiol 2016; 70: 629-640 [PMID: 28233965]
- 21 Bell ML, O'Neill MS, Ranjit N, Borja-Aburto VH, Cifuentes LA, Gouveia NC. Vulnerability to heat-related mortality in Latin America: a case-crossover study in Sao Paulo, Brazil, Santiago, Chile and Mexico City, Mexico. Int J Epidemiol 2008; 37: 796-804 [PMID: 18511489 DOI: 10.1093/ije/dyn094]



- 22 Gasparrini A, Guo Y, Hashizume M, Lavigne E, Tobias A, Zanobetti A, Schwartz JD, Leone M, Michelozzi P, Kan H, Tong S, Honda Y, Kim H, Armstrong BG. Changes in Susceptibility to Heat During the Summer: A Multicountry Analysis. Am J Epidemiol 2016; 183: 1027-1036 [PMID: 27188948 DOI: 10.1093/aje/kwv260]
- 23 Guo Y, Punnasiri K, Tong S. Effects of temperature on mortality in Chiang Mai city, Thailand: a time series study. Environ Health 2012; 11: 36 [PMID: 22613086 DOI: 10.1186/1476-069X-11-36]
- 24 Oudin Åström D, Schifano P, Asta F, Lallo A, Michelozzi P, Rocklöv J, Forsberg B. The effect of heat waves on mortality in susceptible groups: a cohort study of a mediterranean and a northern European City. Environ Health 2015; 14: 30 [PMID: 25889290 DOI: 10.1186/s12940-015-0012-0]
- Argaud L, Ferry T, Le QH, Marfisi A, Ciorba D, Achache P, Ducluzeau R, Robert D. Short- and long-term outcomes of 25 heatstroke following the 2003 heat wave in Lyon, France. Arch Intern Med 2007; 167: 2177-2183 [PMID: 17698677 DOI: 10.1001/archinte.167.20.ioi70147]
- 26 Analitis A, De' Donato F, Scortichini M, Lanki T, Basagana X, Ballester F, Astrom C, Paldy A, Pascal M, Gasparrini A, Michelozzi P, Katsouyanni K. Synergistic Effects of Ambient Temperature and Air Pollution on Health in Europe: Results from the PHASE Project. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2018; 15 [PMID: 30154318 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph15091856]
- Gasparrini A, Guo Y, Hashizume M, Lavigne E, Zanobetti A, Schwartz J, Tobias A, Tong S, Rocklöv J, Forsberg B, 27 Leone M, De Sario M, Bell ML, Guo YL, Wu CF, Kan H, Yi SM, de Sousa Zanotti Stagliorio Coelho M, Saldiva PH, Honda Y, Kim H, Armstrong B. Mortality risk attributable to high and low ambient temperature: a multicountry observational study. Lancet 2015; 386: 369-375 [PMID: 26003380 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)62114-0]
- Linares C, Díaz J. Impact of high temperatures on hospital admissions: comparative analysis with previous studies about 28 mortality (Madrid). Eur J Public Health 2008; 18: 317-322 [PMID: 18045814 DOI: 10.1093/eurpub/ckm108]
- 29 Rocklöv J, Ebi K, Forsberg B. Mortality related to temperature and persistent extreme temperatures: a study of causespecific and age-stratified mortality. Occup Environ Med 2011; 68: 531-536 [PMID: 20962034 DOI: 10.1136/oem.2010.058818
- Rocklöv J, Forsberg B, Ebi K, Bellander T. Susceptibility to mortality related to temperature and heat and cold wave 30 duration in the population of Stockholm County, Sweden. Glob Health Action 2014; 7: 22737 [PMID: 24647126 DOI: 10.3402/gha.v7.22737]
- Achebak H, Devolder D, Ballester J. Heat-related mortality trends under recent climate warming in Spain: A 36-year 31 observational study. PLoS Med 2018; 15: e1002617 [PMID: 30040838 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002617]
- Ragettli MS, Vicedo-Cabrera AM, Schindler C, Röösli M. Exploring the association between heat and mortality in 32 Switzerland between 1995 and 2013. Environ Res 2017; 158: 703-709 [PMID: 28735231 DOI: 10.1016/j.envres.2017.07.021
- Bobb JF, Peng RD, Bell ML, Dominici F. Heat-related mortality and adaptation to heat in the United States. Environ 33 Health Perspect 2014; 122: 811-816 [PMID: 24780880 DOI: 10.1289/ehp.1307392]
- Xu Y, Dadvand P, Barrera-Gómez J, Sartini C, Marí-Dell'Olmo M, Borrell C, Medina-Ramón M, Sunyer J, Basagaña X. 34 Differences on the effect of heat waves on mortality by sociodemographic and urban landscape characteristics. J Epidemiol Community Health 2013; 67: 519-525 [PMID: 23443960 DOI: 10.1136/jech-2012-201899]
- 35 Zhang Y, Li C, Feng R, Zhu Y, Wu K, Tan X, Ma L. The Short-Term Effect of Ambient Temperature on Mortality in Wuhan, China: A Time-Series Study Using a Distributed Lag Non-Linear Model. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2016; 13 [PMID: 27438847 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph13070722]
- Zhu G, Zhu Y, Wang Z, Meng W, Wang X, Feng J, Li J, Xiao Y, Shi F, Wang S. The association between ambient 36 temperature and mortality of the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in Wuhan, China: a time-series analysis. BMC Public Health 2021; 21: 117 [PMID: 33430851 DOI: 10.1186/s12889-020-10131-7]
- Marchant B, Ranjadayalan K, Stevenson R, Wilkinson P, Timmis AD. Circadian and seasonal factors in the pathogenesis 37 of acute myocardial infarction: the influence of environmental temperature. Br Heart J 1993; 69: 385-387 [PMID: 8518058 DOI: 10.1136/hrt.69.5.385]
- 38 Wilkinson P, Pattenden S, Armstrong B, Fletcher A, Kovats RS, Mangtani P, McMichael AJ. Vulnerability to winter mortality in elderly people in Britain: population based study. BMJ 2004; 329: 647 [PMID: 15315961 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.38167.589907.55]
- Meal AG, Pringle M, Hammersley V. Time changes in new cases of ischaemic heart disease in general practice. Fam 39 Pract 2000; 17: 394-400 [PMID: 11021898 DOI: 10.1093/fampra/17.5.394]
- Pell JP, Cobbe SM. Seasonal variations in coronary heart disease. QJM 1999; 92: 689-696 [PMID: 10581331 DOI: 40 10.1093/gjmed/92.12.689
- Michelozzi P, Accetta G, De Sario M, D'Ippoliti D, Marino C, Baccini M, Biggeri A, Anderson HR, Katsouyanni K, 41 Ballester F, Bisanti L, Cadum E, Forsberg B, Forastiere F, Goodman PG, Hojs A, Kirchmayer U, Medina S, Paldy A, Schindler C, Sunyer J, Perucci CA; PHEWE Collaborative Group. High temperature and hospitalizations for cardiovascular and respiratory causes in 12 European cities. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2009; 179: 383-389 [PMID: 19060232 DOI: 10.1164/rccm.200802-217OC]
- 42 Tian Z, Li S, Zhang J, Guo Y. The characteristic of heat wave effects on coronary heart disease mortality in Beijing, China: a time series study. PLoS One 2013; 8: e77321 [PMID: 24098818 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0077321]
- 43 Crawford VL, McCann M, Stout RW. Changes in seasonal deaths from myocardial infarction. OJM 2003; 96: 45-52 [PMID: 12509648 DOI: 10.1093/qjmed/hcg005]
- 44 Gyllerup S, Lanke J, Lindholm LH, Schersten B. Cold climate is an important factor in explaining regional differences in coronary mortality even if serum cholesterol and other established risk factors are taken into account. Scott Med J 1993; 38: 169-172 [PMID: 8146634 DOI: 10.1177/003693309303800604]
- Gerber Y, Jacobsen SJ, Killian JM, Weston SA, Roger VL. Seasonality and daily weather conditions in relation to 45 myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death in Olmsted County, Minnesota, 1979 to 2002. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006; **48**: 287-292 [PMID: 16843177 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2006.02.065]
- Zhang Y, Peng M, Wang L, Yu C. Association of diurnal temperature range with daily mortality in England and Wales: A 46 nationwide time-series study. Sci Total Environ 2018; 619-620: 291-300 [PMID: 29154047 DOI:



10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.11.056

- 47 Wang X, Li G, Liu L, Westerdahl D, Jin X, Pan X. Effects of Extreme Temperatures on Cause-Specific Cardiovascular Mortality in China. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2015; 12: 16136-16156 [PMID: 26703637 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph121215042
- 48 Dilaveris P, Synetos A, Giannopoulos G, Gialafos E, Pantazis A, Stefanadis C. CLimate Impacts on Myocardial infarction deaths in the Athens TErritory: the CLIMATE study. Heart 2006; 92: 1747-1751 [PMID: 16840509 DOI: 10.1136/hrt.2006.091884]
- 49 Wichmann J, Rosengren A, Sjöberg K, Barregard L, Sallsten G. Association between ambient temperature and acute myocardial infarction hospitalisations in Gothenburg, Sweden: 1985-2010. PLoS One 2013; 8: e62059 [PMID: 23646115 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0062059]
- Yin Q, Wang J. The association between consecutive days' heat wave and cardiovascular disease mortality in Beijing, 50 China. BMC Public Health 2017; 17: 223 [PMID: 28228117 DOI: 10.1186/s12889-017-4129-7]
- 51 Chen K, Wolf K, Breitner S, Gasparrini A, Stafoggia M, Samoli E, Andersen ZJ, Bero-Bedada G, Bellander T, Hennig F, Jacquemin B, Pekkanen J, Hampel R, Cyrys J, Peters A, Schneider A; UF&HEALTH Study Group. Two-way effect modifications of air pollution and air temperature on total natural and cardiovascular mortality in eight European urban areas. Environ Int 2018; 116: 186-196 [PMID: 29689465 DOI: 10.1016/j.envint.2018.04.021]
- 52 Vaneckova P, Bambrick H. Cause-specific hospital admissions on hot days in Sydney, Australia. PLoS One 2013; 8: e55459 [PMID: 23408986 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0055459]
- Chan EY, Goggins WB, Yue JS, Lee P. Hospital admissions as a function of temperature, other weather phenomena and 53 pollution levels in an urban setting in China. Bull World Health Organ 2013; 91: 576-584 [PMID: 23940405 DOI: 10.2471/BLT.12.113035
- 54 Goldie J, Sherwood SC, Green D, Alexander L. Temperature and Humidity Effects on Hospital Morbidity in Darwin, Australia. Ann Glob Health 2015; 81: 333-341 [PMID: 26615068 DOI: 10.1016/j.aogh.2015.07.003]
- 55 van Loenhout JAF, Delbiso TD, Kiriliouk A, Rodriguez-Llanes JM, Segers J, Guha-Sapir D. Heat and emergency room admissions in the Netherlands. BMC Public Health 2018; 18: 108 [PMID: 29304777 DOI: 10.1186/s12889-017-5021-1]
- Mastrangelo G, Hajat S, Fadda E, Buja A, Fedeli U, Spolaore P. Contrasting patterns of hospital admissions and 56 mortality during heat waves: are deaths from circulatory disease a real excess or an artifact? Med Hypotheses 2006; 66: 1025-1028 [PMID: 16413137 DOI: 10.1016/j.mehy.2005.09.053]
- Tian Y, Liu H, Si Y, Cao Y, Song J, Li M, Wu Y, Wang X, Xiang X, Juan J, Chen L, Wei C, Gao P, Hu Y. Association 57 between temperature variability and daily hospital admissions for cause-specific cardiovascular disease in urban China: A national time-series study. PLoS Med 2019; 16: e1002738 [PMID: 30689640 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002738]
- 58 Ponjoan A, Blanch J, Alves-Cabratosa L, Martí-Lluch R, Comas-Cufí M, Parramon D, Del Mar Garcia-Gil M, Ramos R, Petersen I. Effects of extreme temperatures on cardiovascular emergency hospitalizations in a Mediterranean region: a self-controlled case series study. Environ Health 2017; 16: 32 [PMID: 28376798 DOI: 10.1186/s12940-017-0238-0]
- Ebi KL, Exuzides KA, Lau E, Kelsh M, Barnston A. Weather changes associated with hospitalizations for cardiovascular 59 diseases and stroke in California, 1983-1998. Int J Biometeorol 2004; 49: 48-58 [PMID: 15138867 DOI: 10.1007/s00484-004-0207-5]
- Shiue I, Perkins DR, Bearman N. Relationships of physiologically equivalent temperature and hospital admissions due to 60 130-I51 other forms of heart disease in Germany in 2009-2011. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 2016; 23: 6343-6352 [PMID: 26620859 DOI: 10.1007/s11356-015-5727-5]
- Yitshak-Sade M, Bobb JF, Schwartz JD, Kloog I, Zanobetti A. The association between short and long-term exposure to 61 PM_{2.5} and temperature and hospital admissions in New England and the synergistic effect of the short-term exposures. Sci Total Environ 2018; 639: 868-875 [PMID: 29929325 DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.05.181]
- de Miguel-Díez J, Jiménez-García R, López de Andrés A, Hernández-Barrera V, Carrasco-Garrido P, Monreal M, 62 Jiménez D, Jara-Palomares L, Álvaro-Meca A. Analysis of environmental risk factors for pulmonary embolism: A casecrossover study (2001-2013). Eur J Intern Med 2016; 31: 55-61 [PMID: 27012471 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejim.2016.03.001]
- Bhaskaran K, Hajat S, Haines A, Herrett E, Wilkinson P, Smeeth L. Short term effects of temperature on risk of 63 myocardial infarction in England and Wales: time series regression analysis of the Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit Project (MINAP) registry. BMJ 2010; 341: c3823 [PMID: 20699305 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.c3823]
- 64 Wolf K, Schneider A, Breitner S, von Klot S, Meisinger C, Cyrys J, Hymer H, Wichmann HE, Peters A; Cooperative Health Research in the Region of Augsburg Study Group. Air temperature and the occurrence of myocardial infarction in Augsburg, Germany. Circulation 2009; 120: 735-742 [PMID: 19687361 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.815860]
- Misailidou M, Pitsavos C, Panagiotakos DB, Chrysohoou C, Stefanadis C. Short-term effects of atmospheric temperature 65 and humidity on morbidity from acute coronary syndromes in free of air pollution rural Greece. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2006; 13: 846-848 [PMID: 17001228 DOI: 10.1097/01.hjr.0000221857.04168.06]
- 66 García-Lledó A, Rodríguez-Martín S, Tobías A, Alonso-Martín J, Ansede-Cascudo JC, de Abajo FJ. Heat waves, ambient temperature, and risk of myocardial infarction: an ecological study in the Community of Madrid. Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed) 2020; 73: 300-306 [PMID: 31678071 DOI: 10.1016/j.rec.2019.05.016]
- Lin S, Soim A, Gleason KA, Hwang SA. Association Between Low Temperature During Winter Season and 67 Hospitalizations for Ischemic Heart Diseases in New York State. J Environ Health 2016; 78: 66-74 [PMID: 26867294]
- 68 Ravljen M, Bilban M, Kajfež-Bogataj L, Hovelja T, Vavpotič D. Influence of daily individual meteorological parameters on the incidence of acute coronary syndrome. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2014; 11: 11616-11626 [PMID: 25396770 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph111111616]
- Chang CL, Shipley M, Marmot M, Poulter N. Lower ambient temperature was associated with an increased risk of hospitalization for stroke and acute myocardial infarction in young women. J Clin Epidemiol 2004; 57: 749-757 [PMID: 15358404 DOI: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2003.10.016]
- 70 Madrigano J, Mittleman MA, Baccarelli A, Goldberg R, Melly S, von Klot S, Schwartz J. Temperature, myocardial infarction, and mortality: effect modification by individual- and area-level characteristics. Epidemiology 2013; 24: 439-



446 [PMID: 23462524 DOI: 10.1097/EDE.0b013e3182878397]

- 71 Hori A, Hashizume M, Tsuda Y, Tsukahara T, Nomiyama T. Effects of weather variability and air pollutants on emergency admissions for cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases. Int J Environ Health Res 2012; 22: 416-430 [PMID: 22384943 DOI: 10.1080/09603123.2011.650155]
- 72 Mohammad MA, Koul S, Rylance R, Fröbert O, Alfredsson J, Sahlén A, Witt N, Jernberg T, Muller J, Erlinge D. Association of Weather With Day-to-Day Incidence of Myocardial Infarction: A SWEDEHEART Nationwide Observational Study. JAMA Cardiol 2018; 3: 1081-1089 [PMID: 30422202 DOI: 10.1001/jamacardio.2018.3466]
- 73 Danet S, Richard F, Montaye M, Beauchant S, Lemaire B, Graux C, Cottel D, Marécaux N, Amouyel P. Unhealthy effects of atmospheric temperature and pressure on the occurrence of myocardial infarction and coronary deaths. A 10-year survey: the Lille-World Health Organization MONICA project (Monitoring trends and determinants in cardiovascular disease). Circulation 1999; 100: E1-E7 [PMID: 10393689 DOI: 10.1161/01.cir.100.1.e1]
- 74 Abrignani MG, Corrao S, Biondo GB, Renda N, Braschi A, Novo G, Di Girolamo A, Braschi GB, Novo S. Influence of climatic variables on acute myocardial infarction hospital admissions. Int J Cardiol 2009; 137: 123-129 [PMID: 18694607 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2008.06.036]
- Sharif Nia H, Chan YH, Froelicher ES, Pahlevan Sharif S, Yaghoobzadeh A, Jafari A, Goudarzian AH, Pourkia R, 75 Haghdoost AA, Arefinia F, Nazari R. Weather fluctuations: predictive factors in the prevalence of acute coronary syndrome. Health Promot Perspect 2019; 9: 123-130 [PMID: 31249799 DOI: 10.15171/hpp.2019.17]
- 76 Messner T, Lundberg V, Wikström B. A temperature rise is associated with an increase in the number of acute myocardial infarctions in the subarctic area. Int J Circumpolar Health 2002; 61: 201-207 [PMID: 12369109 DOI: 10.3402/ijch.v61i3.17453
- Bayentin L, El Adlouni S, Ouarda TB, Gosselin P, Doyon B, Chebana F. Spatial variability of climate effects on ischemic 77 heart disease hospitalization rates for the period 1989-2006 in Quebec, Canada. Int J Health Geogr 2010; 9: 5 [PMID: 20144187 DOI: 10.1186/1476-072X-9-5]
- Mirić D, Rumboldt Z. The impact of meteorological factors on the onset of myocardial infarction in the coastal region of 78 middle Dalmatia. G Ital Cardiol 1993; 23: 655-660 [PMID: 8405831]
- 79 Bhaskaran K, Hajat S, Haines A, Herrett E, Wilkinson P, Smeeth L. Effects of ambient temperature on the incidence of myocardial infarction. Heart 2009; 95: 1760-1769 [PMID: 19635724 DOI: 10.1136/hrt.2009.175000]
- 80 Nastos PT, Giaouzaki KN, Kampanis NA, Matzarakis A. Acute coronary syndromes related to bio-climate in a Mediterranean area. The case of Ierapetra, Crete Island, Greece. Int J Environ Health Res 2013; 23: 76-90 [PMID: 22774800 DOI: 10.1080/09603123.2012.699031]
- 81 Sun Z, Chen C, Xu D, Li T. Effects of ambient temperature on myocardial infarction: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Environ Pollut 2018; 241: 1106-1114 [PMID: 30029319 DOI: 10.1016/j.envpol.2018.06.045]
- 82 Abrignani MG, Corrao S, Biondo GB, Lombardo RM, Di Girolamo P, Braschi A, Di Girolamo A, Novo S. Effects of ambient temperature, humidity, and other meteorological variables on hospital admissions for angina pectoris. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2012; 19: 342-348 [PMID: 21450571 DOI: 10.1177/1741826711402741]
- Bijelović S, Dragić N, Bijelović M, Kovačević M, Jevtić M, Ninkovic Mrđenovački O. Impact of climate conditions on 83 hospital admissions for subcategories of cardiovascular diseases. Med Pr 2017; 68: 189-197 [PMID: 28345679 DOI: 10.13075/mp.5893.00606]
- 84 Cheng TO. Myocardial infarction and the weather: a significant positive correlation between the onset of heart infarct and 28 KHz atmospherics--a pilot study. Clin Cardiol 1985; 8: 510 [PMID: 4053428 DOI: 10.1002/clc.4960081002]
- Vencloviene J, Babarskiene R, Dobozinskas P, Siurkaite V. Effects of weather conditions on emergency ambulance calls 85 for acute coronary syndromes. Int J Biometeorol 2015; 59: 1083-1093 [PMID: 25344902 DOI: 10.1007/s00484-014-0921-6]
- Goerre S, Egli C, Gerber S, Defila C, Minder C, Richner H, Meier B. Impact of weather and climate on the incidence of 86 acute coronary syndromes. Int J Cardiol 2007; 118: 36-40 [PMID: 16904213 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2006.06.015]
- Baker-Blocker A. Winter weather and cardiovascular mortality in Minneapolis-St. Paul. Am J Public Health 1982; 72: 87 261-265 [PMID: 7058966 DOI: 10.2105/ajph.72.3.261]
- 88 Auger N, Potter BJ, Smargiassi A, Bilodeau-Bertrand M, Paris C, Kosatsky T. Association between quantity and duration of snowfall and risk of myocardial infarction. CMAJ 2017; 189: E235-E242 [PMID: 28202557 DOI: 10.1503/cmaj.161064]
- Gebhard C, Gebhard CE, Stähli BE, Maafi F, Bertrand MJ, Wildi K, Fortier A, Galvan Onandia Z, Toma A, Zhang ZW, 89 Smith DC, Spagnoli V, Ly HQ. Weather and risk of ST-elevation myocardial infarction revisited: Impact on young women. PLoS One 2018; 13: e0195602 [PMID: 29630673 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0195602]
- 90 Morabito M, Modesti PA, Cecchi L, Crisci A, Orlandini S, Maracchi G, Gensini GF. Relationships between weather and myocardial infarction: a biometeorological approach. Int J Cardiol 2005; 105: 288-293 [PMID: 16274770 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2004.12.047]
- Morabito M, Crisci A, Grifoni D, Orlandini S, Cecchi L, Bacci L, Modesti PA, Gensini GF, Maracchi G. Winter air-91 mass-based synoptic climatological approach and hospital admissions for myocardial infarction in Florence, Italy. Environ Res 2006; 102: 52-60 [PMID: 16460725 DOI: 10.1016/j.envres.2005.12.007]
- 92 Messner T, Lundberg V, Wikström B. The Arctic Oscillation and incidence of acute myocardial infarction. J Intern Med 2003; 253: 666-670 [PMID: 12755963 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2796.2003.01153.x]
- 93 Stewart S, Moholdt TT, Burrell LM, Sliwa K, Mocumbi AO, McMurray JJ, Keates AK, Hawley JA. Winter Peaks in Heart Failure: An Inevitable or Preventable Consequence of Seasonal Vulnerability? Card Fail Rev 2019; 5: 83-85 [PMID: 31179017 DOI: 10.15420/cfr.2018.40.2]
- Escolar V, Lozano A, Larburu N, Kerexeta J, Álvarez R, Juez B, Echebarria A, Azcona A, Artola G. Impact of 94 environmental factors on heart failure decompensations. ESC Heart Fail 2019; 6: 1226-1232 [PMID: 31483570 DOI: 10.1002/ehf2.12506]
- 95 Ryti NR, Mäkikyrö EM, Antikainen H, Junttila MJ, Hookana E, Ikäheimo TM, Kortelainen ML, Huikuri HV, Jaakkola JJ. Cold spells and ischaemic sudden cardiac death: effect modification by prior diagnosis of ischaemic heart disease and



cardioprotective medication. Sci Rep 2017; 7: 41060 [PMID: 28106161 DOI: 10.1038/srep41060]

- Chung FP, Li HR, Chong E, Pan CH, Lin YJ, Chang SL, Lo LW, Hu YF, Tuan TC, Chao TF, Liao JN, Lin WY, Shaw 96 KP, Chen SA. Seasonal variation in the frequency of sudden cardiac death and ventricular tachyarrhythmia in patients with arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy: the effect of meteorological factors. Heart Rhythm 2013; 10: 1859-1866 [PMID: 24080066 DOI: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2013.09.069]
- 97 Benouaich V, Soler P, Gourraud PA, Lopez S, Rousseau H, Marcheix B. Impact of meteorological conditions on the occurrence of acute type A aortic dissections. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2010; 10: 403-406 [PMID: 20008897 DOI: 10.1510/icvts.2009.219873]
- 98 Kordzadeh A, Askari A, Panayiotopoulos Y. Atmospheric pressure and infra-renal abdominal aortic aneurysm rupture: a single observational study and a comprehensive review of literature. Int J Surg 2013; 11: 458-462 [PMID: 23619334 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2013.04.008]
- 99 Low RB, Bielory L, Qureshi AI, Dunn V, Stuhlmiller DF, Dickey DA. The relation of stroke admissions to recent weather, airborne allergens, air pollution, seasons, upper respiratory infections, and asthma incidence, September 11, 2001, and day of the week. Stroke 2006; 37: 951-957 [PMID: 16527994 DOI: 10.1161/01.STR.0000214681.94680.66]
- Dawson J, Weir C, Wright F, Bryden C, Aslanyan S, Lees K, Bird W, Walters M. Associations between meteorological 100 variables and acute stroke hospital admissions in the west of Scotland. Acta Neurol Scand 2008; 117: 85-89 [PMID: 18184342 DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2007.00916.x]
- 101 Matsumoto M, Ishikawa S, Kajii E. Cumulative effects of weather on stroke incidence: a multi-community cohort study in Japan. J Epidemiol 2010; 20: 136-142 [PMID: 20037258 DOI: 10.2188/jea.je20090103]
- 102 Royé D, Zarrabeitia MT, Riancho J, Santurtún A. A time series analysis of the relationship between apparent temperature, air pollutants and ischemic stroke in Madrid, Spain. Environ Res 2019; 173: 349-358 [PMID: 30953949 DOI: 10.1016/j.envres.2019.03.065
- 103 Ravljen M, Bajrović F, Vavpotič D. A time series analysis of the relationship between ambient temperature and ischaemic stroke in the Ljubljana area: immediate, delayed and cumulative effects. BMC Neurol 2021; 21: 23 [PMID: 33446129 DOI: 10.1186/s12883-021-02044-81
- 104 Wang X, Cao Y, Hong D, Zheng D, Richtering S, Sandset EC, Leong TH, Arima H, Islam S, Salam A, Anderson C, Robinson T, Hackett ML. Ambient Temperature and Stroke Occurrence: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2016; 13 [PMID: 27420077 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph13070698]
- 105 Webb L, Bambrick H, Tait P, Green D, Alexander L. Effect of ambient temperature on Australian northern territory public hospital admissions for cardiovascular disease among indigenous and non-indigenous populations. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2014; 11: 1942-1959 [PMID: 24531121 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph110201942]
- Kwon BY, Lee E, Lee S, Heo S, Jo K, Kim J, Park MS. Vulnerabilities to Temperature Effects on Acute Myocardial 106 Infarction Hospital Admissions in South Korea. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2015; 12: 14571-14588 [PMID: 26580643 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph121114571]
- 107 Hajat S, Kovats RS, Lachowycz K. Heat-related and cold-related deaths in England and Wales: who is at risk? Occup Environ Med 2007; 64: 93-100 [PMID: 16990293 DOI: 10.1136/oem.2006.029017]
- 108 Wong HT, Lai PC. Weather inference and daily demand for emergency ambulance services. Emerg Med J 2012; 29: 60-64 [PMID: 21030546 DOI: 10.1136/emj.2010.096701]
- 109 Grech V, Aquilina O, Pace J. Gender differences in seasonality of acute myocardial infarction admissions and mortality in a population-based study. J Epidemiol Community Health 2001; 55: 147-148 [PMID: 11154255 DOI: 10.1136/jech.55.2.147]
- Zheng S, Wang M, Li B, Wang S, He S, Yin L, Shang K, Li T. Gender, Age and Season as Modifiers of the Effects of 110 Diurnal Temperature Range on Emergency Room Admissions for Cause-Specific Cardiovascular Disease among the Elderly in Beijing. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2016; 13 [PMID: 27128931 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph13050447]
- 111 Radišauskas R, Bernotienė G, Bacevičienė M, Ustinavičienė R, Kirvaitienė J, Krančiukaitė-Butylkinienė D. Trends of myocardial infarction morbidity and its associations with weather conditions. Medicina (Kaunas) 2014; 50: 182-189 [PMID: 25323547 DOI: 10.1016/j.medici.2014.08.003]
- 112 Medina-Ramón M, Zanobetti A, Cavanagh DP, Schwartz J. Extreme temperatures and mortality: assessing effect modification by personal characteristics and specific cause of death in a multi-city case-only analysis. Environ Health Perspect 2006; 114: 1331-1336 [PMID: 16966084 DOI: 10.1289/ehp.9074]
- 113 Vandentorren S, Bretin P, Zeghnoun A, Mandereau-Bruno L, Croisier A, Cochet C, Ribéron J, Siberan I, Declercq B, Ledrans M. August 2003 heat wave in France: risk factors for death of elderly people living at home. Eur J Public Health 2006; 16: 583-591 [PMID: 17028103 DOI: 10.1093/eurpub/ckl063]
- 114 Foroni M, Salvioli G, Rielli R, Goldoni CA, Orlandi G, Zauli Sajani S, Guerzoni A, Maccaferri C, Daya G, Mussi C. A retrospective study on heat-related mortality in an elderly population during the 2003 heat wave in Modena, Italy: the Argento Project. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2007; 62: 647-651 [PMID: 17595422 DOI: 10.1093/gerona/62.6.647]
- 115 Bouchama A, Dehbi M, Mohamed G, Matthies F, Shoukri M, Menne B. Prognostic factors in heat wave related deaths: a meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med 2007; 167: 2170-2176 [PMID: 17698676 DOI: 10.1001/archinte.167.20.ira70009]
- Kaiser R, Le Tertre A, Schwartz J, Gotway CA, Daley WR, Rubin CH. The effect of the 1995 heat wave in Chicago on 116 all-cause and cause-specific mortality. Am J Public Health 2007; 97 Suppl 1: S158-S162 [PMID: 17413056 DOI: 10.2105/AJPH.2006.100081]
- Marí-Dell'Olmo M, Tobías A, Gómez-Gutiérrez A, Rodríguez-Sanz M, García de Olalla P, Camprubí E, Gasparrini A, 117 Borrell C. Social inequalities in the association between temperature and mortality in a South European context. Int J Public Health 2019; 64: 27-37 [PMID: 29577171 DOI: 10.1007/s00038-018-1094-6]
- 118 Crawford VL, McNerlan SE, Stout RW. Seasonal changes in platelets, fibrinogen and factor VII in elderly people. Age Ageing 2003; 32: 661-665 [PMID: 14600009 DOI: 10.1093/ageing/afg113]
- Ockene IS, Chiriboga DE, Stanek EJ 3rd, Harmatz MG, Nicolosi R, Saperia G, Well AD, Freedson P, Merriam PA, Reed 119 G, Ma Y, Matthews CE, Hebert JR. Seasonal variation in serum cholesterol levels: treatment implications and possible mechanisms. Arch Intern Med 2004; 164: 863-870 [PMID: 15111372 DOI: 10.1001/archinte.164.8.863]



- 120 Sher L. Seasonal distribution of myocardial infarction and seasonal mood changes. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999; 33: 2088-2089 [PMID: 10362222 DOI: 10.1016/s0735-1097(99)00124-2]
- Kloner RA, Poole WK, Perritt RL. When throughout the year is coronary death most likely to occur? *Circulation* 1999; 100: 1630-1634 [PMID: 10517734 DOI: 10.1161/01.cir.100.15.1630]
- 122 Houdas Y, Deklunder G, Lecroart JL. Cold exposure and ischemic heart disease. Int J Sports Med 1992; 13 Suppl 1: S179-S181 [PMID: 1483767 DOI: 10.1055/s-2007-1024632]
- 123 Giaconi S, Ghione S, Palombo C, Genovesi-Ebert A, Marabotti C, Fommei E, Donato L. Seasonal influences on blood pressure in high normal to mild hypertensive range. *Hypertension* 1989; 14: 22-27 [PMID: 2737734 DOI: 10.1161/01.hyp.14.1.22]
- 124 Marchant B, Donaldson G, Mridha K, Scarborough M, Timmis AD. Mechanisms of cold intolerance in patients with angina. J Am Coll Cardiol 1994; 23: 630-636 [PMID: 8113545 DOI: 10.1016/0735-1097(94)90747-1]
- 125 Cheng X, Su H. Effects of climatic temperature stress on cardiovascular diseases. *Eur J Intern Med* 2010; 21: 164-167 [PMID: 20493415 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejim.2010.03.001]
- 126 De Lorenzo F, Kadziola Z, Mukherjee M, Saba N, Kakkar VV. Haemodynamic responses and changes of haemostatic risk factors in cold-adapted humans. QJM 1999; 92: 509-513 [PMID: 10627870 DOI: 10.1093/qjmed/92.9.509]
- 127 Ikäheimo TM. Cardiovascular diseases, cold exposure and exercise. *Temperature (Austin)* 2018; 5: 123-146 [PMID: 30377633 DOI: 10.1080/23328940.2017.1414014]
- 128 Edwards DG, Gauthier AL, Hayman MA, Lang JT, Kenefick RW. Acute effects of cold exposure on central aortic wave reflection. J Appl Physiol (1985) 2006; 100: 1210-1214 [PMID: 16223975 DOI: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01154.2005]
- 129 Widlansky ME, Vita JA, Keyes MJ, Larson MG, Hamburg NM, Levy D, Mitchell GF, Osypiuk EW, Vasan RS, Benjamin EJ. Relation of season and temperature to endothelium-dependent flow-mediated vasodilation in subjects without clinical evidence of cardiovascular disease (from the Framingham Heart Study). *Am J Cardiol* 2007; 100: 518-523 [PMID: 17659939 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2007.03.055]
- 130 Hiramatsu K, Yamada T, Katakura M. Acute effects of cold on blood pressure, renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, catecholamines and adrenal steroids in man. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* 1984; 11: 171-179 [PMID: 6378465 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1681.1984.tb00254.x]
- 131 Hampel R, Breitner S, Rückerl R, Frampton MW, Koenig W, Phipps RP, Wichmann HE, Peters A, Schneider A. Air temperature and inflammatory and coagulation responses in men with coronary or pulmonary disease during the winter season. *Occup Environ Med* 2010; 67: 408-416 [PMID: 19884649 DOI: 10.1136/oem.2009.048660]
- 132 Elwood PC, Beswick A, O'Brien JR, Renaud S, Fifield R, Limb ES, Bainton D. Temperature and risk factors for ischaemic heart disease in the Caerphilly prospective study. *Br Heart J* 1993; 70: 520-523 [PMID: 7506563 DOI: 10.1136/hrt.70.6.520]
- 133 Modesti PA, Morabito M, Bertolozzi I, Massetti L, Panci G, Lumachi C, Giglio A, Bilo G, Caldara G, Lonati L, Orlandini S, Maracchi G, Mancia G, Gensini GF, Parati G. Weather-related changes in 24-hour blood pressure profile: effects of age and implications for hypertension management. *Hypertension* 2006; 47: 155-161 [PMID: 16380524 DOI: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000199192.17126.d4]
- 134 Hassi J, Rintamäki H, Ruskoaho H, Leppäluoto J, Vuolteenaho O. Plasma levels of endothelin-1 and atrial natriuretic peptide in men during a 2-hour stay in a cold room. Acta Physiol Scand 1991; 142: 481-485 [PMID: 1835249 DOI: 10.1111/j.1748-1716.1991.tb09183.x]
- 135 Kolar J, Bhatnagar SK, Hudak A, Smid J, al-Yusuf AR. The effect of a hot dry climate on the haemorrheology of healthy males and patients with acute myocardial infarction. *J Trop Med Hyg* 1988; 91: 77-82 [PMID: 3379656]
- 136 Gronlund CJ, Sheppard L, Adar SD, O'Neill MS, Auchincloss A, Madrigano J, Kaufman J, Diez Roux AV. Vulnerability to the Cardiovascular Effects of Ambient Heat in Six US Cities: Results from the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). *Epidemiology* 2018; 29: 756-764 [PMID: 30113342 DOI: 10.1097/EDE.000000000000910]
- 137 Ren C, O'Neill MS, Park SK, Sparrow D, Vokonas P, Schwartz J. Ambient temperature, air pollution, and heart rate variability in an aging population. *Am J Epidemiol* 2011; **173**: 1013-1021 [PMID: 21385834 DOI: 10.1093/aje/kwq477]
- 138 Scragg R, Jackson R, Holdaway IM, Lim T, Beaglehole R. Myocardial infarction is inversely associated with plasma 25hydroxyvitamin D3 levels: a community-based study. Int J Epidemiol 1990; 19: 559-563 [PMID: 2262248 DOI: 10.1093/ije/19.3.559]
- 139 Ren C, Williams GM, Mengersen K, Morawska L, Tong S. Temperature enhanced effects of ozone on cardiovascular mortality in 95 large US communities, 1987-2000: Assessment using the NMMAPS data. Arch Environ Occup Health 2009; 64: 177-184 [PMID: 19864220 DOI: 10.1080/19338240903240749]
- Burkart K, Canário P, Breitner S, Schneider A, Scherber K, Andrade H, Alcoforado MJ, Endlicher W. Interactive short-term effects of equivalent temperature and air pollution on human mortality in Berlin and Lisbon. *Environ Pollut* 2013; 183: 54-63 [PMID: 23941745 DOI: 10.1016/j.envpol.2013.06.002]
- 141 Willers SM, Jonker MF, Klok L, Keuken MP, Odink J, van den Elshout S, Sabel CE, Mackenbach JP, Burdorf A. High resolution exposure modelling of heat and air pollution and the impact on mortality. *Environ Int* 2016; 89-90: 102-109 [PMID: 26826367 DOI: 10.1016/j.envint.2016.01.013]
- 142 Scortichini M, De Sario M, de'Donato FK, Davoli M, Michelozzi P, Stafoggia M. Short-Term Effects of Heat on Mortality and Effect Modification by Air Pollution in 25 Italian Cities. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2018; 15 [PMID: 30126130 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph15081771]
- 143 Qin RX, Xiao C, Zhu Y, Li J, Yang J, Gu S, Xia J, Su B, Liu Q, Woodward A. The interactive effects between high temperature and air pollution on mortality: A time-series analysis in Hefei, China. *Sci Total Environ* 2017; 575: 1530-1537 [PMID: 28029451 DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.10.033]
- 144 Faergeman O. Climate change and preventive medicine. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2007; 14: 726-729 [PMID: 18043291 DOI: 10.1097/HJR.0b013e3282f30097]

WJC

World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2022 March 26; 14(3): 170-176

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.170

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Predictors of persistence of functional mitral regurgitation after cardiac resynchronization therapy: Review of literature

Eleonora Russo, Giulio Russo, Maurizio Braccio, Mauro Cassese

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Hong X, China; Sawalha K, United States

Received: April 18, 2021 Peer-review started: April 18, 2021 First decision: September 2, 2021 Revised: October 10, 2021 Accepted: March 4, 2022 Article in press: March 4, 2022 Published online: March 26, 2022



Eleonora Russo, Maurizio Braccio, Mauro Cassese, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Casa Sollievo della Sofferenza Hospital, IRCCS, San Giovanni Rotondo 71013, Italy

Giulio Russo, Institute of Cardiology, Catholic University of the Sacred Heart, Rome 00168, Italy

Corresponding author: Eleonora Russo, MD, PhD, Doctor, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Casa Sollievo della Sofferenza Hospital, IRCCS, Viale Cappuccini 1, San Giovanni Rotondo 71013, Italy. elerusso81@hotmail.it

Abstract

Functional mitral regurgitation is a common finding among heart failure patients with ischemic and non-ischemic dilated cardiomyopathies. The presence of moderate or severe mitral regurgitation is associated with higher morbidity and mortality. Heart failure patients meeting electrocardiogram and left ventricle function criteria are good candidates for cardiac resynchronization therapy, which may reduce the degree of functional mitral regurgitation in the short and long term, specifically targeting myocardial dyssynchrony and inducing left ventricle reverse remodeling. In this article, we analyze data from the literature about predictors of mitral regurgitation improvement after cardiac resynchronization therapy implantation.

Key Words: Functional mitral regurgitation; Cardiac resynchronization therapy; Predictors; Mitral regurgitation improvement; Dyssynchrony

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Functional mitral regurgitation is a common finding among heart failure patients and, if moderate or severe, is associated with higher morbidity and mortality. Cardiac resynchronization therapy, as a therapy for a subset of heart failure patients, may determine a reduction of the degree of functional mitral regurgitation specifically targeting myocardial dyssynchrony and inducing left ventricle reverse remodeling. Here, we analyze predictors of mitral regurgitation improvement after cardiac resynchronization therapy implantation.



Citation: Russo E, Russo G, Braccio M, Cassese M. Predictors of persistence of functional mitral regurgitation after cardiac resynchronization therapy: Review of literature. *World J Cardiol* 2022; 14(3): 170-176 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v14/i3/170.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.170

INTRODUCTION

Functional mitral regurgitation (FMR) is a common finding of left ventricular (LV) dysfunction and remodeling, occurring both in ischemic and non-ischemic heart disease[1]. The prevalence of FMR varies from 20% to 50% of heart failure (HF) patients[2,3], with 40% of patients presenting with moderate or severe mitral regurgitation (MR)[4]. Data from the literature suggest that any degree of FMR is associated with increased morbidity and reduced survival in patients with LV dysfunction[3-5]. In this setting, there is no conclusive evidence for a survival benefit after mitral valve intervention. The limited data regarding FMR result in a low level of evidence for treatment recommendations and highlight the importance of decision-making by the patient's heart team. According to the latest guidelines, surgery is indicated in patients with severe secondary mitral regurgitation undergoing coronary artery bypass graft and LV ejection fraction > 30%[6,7]. When revascularization is not indicated, optimal medical therapy in line with the HF guidelines should be the first step. Furthermore, patients with HF and FMR eligible for cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT) could benefit from resynchronization in terms of reduction of the degree of FMR[8,9]. Unlike medical therapy, CRT specifically targets myocardial dyssynchrony, which is an important factor of FMR onset. However, in a subset of CRT patients, significant MR persists and may even worsen.

The purpose of this paper is to provide a comprehensive review on predictors of improvement in FMR after CRT.

ACUTE AND LONG-TERM EFFECTS OF CRT ON FMR IN THE PRESENCE OF DYSS-YNCHRONY

FMR results from multiple factors: ventricular remodeling, decreased contractility, impairment of mitral annular function, imbalance between tethering and closing forces, and mechanical dyssynchrony. LV mechanical dyssynchrony could be a potential contributing factor to FMR through several mechanisms. First, LV dilatation due to dyssynchrony leads to displacement of papillary muscles with consequent lack of leaflet coaptation. Second, uncoordinated regional mechanical activation due to dyssynchrony results in distorted mitral valve apparatus geometry[10]. Lastly, LV dyssynchrony generates a positive pressure gradient between the LV and the left atrium, leading to a diastolic FMR during incomplete mitral valve closure[11].

CRT effects may be distinguished as acute or chronic. Acute, short-term FMR reduction occurs suddenly after CRT implantation, while chronic, long-term FMR reduction occurs weeks to months after CRT implantation. Immediately after CRT device implantation, global LV contraction efficiency improves and closing forces increase consequently. Breithardt *et al*[12] first showed that an increase in LV dP/dt after CRT is directly correlated to MR reduction. Indeed an increase in LV dP/dt leads to an increase in transmitral pressure gradients that facilitate mitral valve leaflet coaptation. Furthermore, CRT acutely determines resynchronization of the papillary muscles leading to a shortening of MR duration and later onset of MR. Indeed, Kanzaki *et al*[13] showed that the inter-papillary muscleactivation time delay is the main determining factor related to MR in HF patients with left bundle branch block and that this delay is immediately improved by CRT.

Data from the literature suggest that short-term reduction in FMR after CRT implantation predicts a favorable clinical response, whereas FMR persistence is associated with reduced survival[14]. In addition to the early effect of CRT on FMR, long-term beneficial effects on FMR have been described. They are mainly represented by the increase of the closing forces and the global LV remodeling. Specifically, LV dimensions, shape and function are main determinants of FMR, and CRT attenuates LV remodeling, which therefore improves FMR. These results could be achieved after 3–6 mo of CRT on top of optimized medical treatment and are even more evident during longer follow-up[15].

Large randomized trials have confirmed short and long-term reduction of FMR following CRT implantation, although the magnitude of this reduction is modest (20%–35% using different quantification methods)[16,17]. In 20%–25% of CRT patients, significant MR persists and may even worsen in 10%-15%. Specifically, this concerns patients with grade \geq 2 FMR who have a significantly worse outcome than other CRT patients. This subset of patients is often found to be CRT non-responders, and the reasons why these patients do not benefit from CRT are still unclear.

Zaishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

PREDICTORS OF IMPROVEMENT OF FMR AFTER CRT IMPLANTATION

Data from the literature show that reductions in MR occur mainly in patients with response to CRT. However, FMR reduction was also demonstrated in CRT non-responders. Porciani et al[18] reported that FMR may improve even in CRT non-responders because of the reversal of LV dyssynchrony. Reversal of LV mechanical dyssynchrony, especially at the papillary muscle level, has been suggested as one of the mechanisms implicated in CRT-induced FMR improvement^[19]. Reviewing the literature, several predictors of MR improvement in CRT patients were found and can be distinguished by patient, clinical, imaging and electric-targeting LV lead-related predictors.

PATIENT-RELATED PREDICTORS

Karaca et al^[20] analyzed142 patients who received biventricular pacemaker devices and found that ΔQRS (baseline - paced) after CRT [hazard ratio (HR): 1.242, 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.019-1.465, P = 0.028] was associated with LV reverse remodeling and reduced FMR at 6 mo. There were also lower rates of death or hospitalization at midterm follow-up. The cut-off AQRS value to predict FMR response after CRT was 20 mo, with a sensitivity of 72% and a specificity of 85%. Multivariate analysis found that ΔQRS was an independent predictor of FMR response at 6 mo. The same authors observed that nonischemic HF etiology [odds ratio (OR): 3.13, 95% CI: 1.169-8.380, P = 0.021] and the baseline presence of left bundle branch block morphology (OR: 2.49, 95%CI: 1.086-5.714, P = 0.032) were independent predictors of "reverse mitral remodeling" and predictors of MR amelioration[21]. The abovementioned preoperative features are those that the majority of previous CRT studies found as "classical" predictors of CRT response.

Sadeghian et al[22], in a small study of 69 patients, found that independent predictors of early MR improvement (48 h after CRT implantation) were older age and longer baseline QRS duration. Among the MR improvement group, the mean age was 60 ± 7 years (vs 55 \pm 12 years in the no MR improvement group), and baseline QRS width was 172 ± 31 ms (vs 147 ± 28 ms).

Profibrotic biomarkers were also evaluated as potential predictors of FMR reduction. It was found that at the time of CRT device implantation, elevated concentrations of gal-3, a protein (lectin family) upregulated in HF that is involved in fibrogenesis, are associated with a lack of MR amelioration (OR: 0.14, 95% CI: 0.03-0.58, P = 0.007 [23]. These result are consistent with molecular changes in HF settings where fibroblast proliferation and collagen production have a pivotal role on LV remodeling and consequently in mitral annulus dilatation/dysfunction.

IMAGING-RELATED PREDICTORS

Sitges *et al*^[24] found that baseline mitral valve tenting area, as a remodeling parameter of the mitral valve, was a powerful independent predictor of MR reduction with CRT(OR: 8.05, 95%CI: 1.15-56.60, P = 0.03). A cut-off value > 3.8 cm²yielded sensitivity of 53% and specificity of 89% to predict the absence of a significant reduction in MR with CRT. Similar results have been reported for predicting the success of restrictive annuloplasty in patients with functional MR who undergo surgery. Indeed, Magne et al[25] reported that a tenting area > 2.5 cm² was associated with failed mitral valve repair in these patients. Results described by Sitges et al[24] were confirmed subsequently by Karaca et al[21]. In that study, baseline tenting area was identified as an independent predictor of FMR response at 6 mo (HR: 2.011, 95% CI: 1.268-2.754, P = 0.012). Values of tenting area differed significantly in FMR responders compared with non-responders (4.68 \pm 1.02 cm²vs 3.22 \pm 0.88 cm², P = 0.002). These data suggest that the more advanced the LV remodeling and the more distorted the LV geometry, the lower the probability of effective treatment for functional MR.

Subsequently, studies were performed with tissue Doppler imaging (TDI) and speckle tracking echocardiography to elucidate the role of myocardial dyssynchrony in the genesis of FMR in HF patients. Sadeghian et al^[22] showed that septolateral delay by TDI was a significant predictor of MR improvement. In a previous small study with moderate/severe MR patients, Karvounis et al[26] showed that inferior papillary muscle time delay ($R^2 = 0.945$, P = 0.04) together with an increase in posterior papillary muscle longitudinal negative strain ($R^2 = 0.727$, P = 0.01) (both evaluated with TDI) were significant predictors of reduction in MR volume post-CRT implantation.

Naqvi *et al*^[27] found that septolateral delay of > 60 ms was a univariate but not a multivariate predictor of MR reduction and demonstrated that the combined presence of delayed longitudinal strain in the mid inferior LV segment along with preserved systolic strain in the basal and mid posterior segments predicted reduction in MR severity post-CRT. The sensitivity and specificity of this composite variable to predict follow-up MR was 88% and 93%, respectively. These aforementioned findings added important information about acute MR reduction post-CRT. Indeed, patients who developed significant MR reduction had discoordination at the mid ventricle level. Therefore, the mid anterolateral segments were the earliest, and the mid inferoposterior segments were the most delayed as well as viable



segments. This suggested delayed posterior papillary muscle compared to anterior papillary muscle contraction resulted in malcoaptation of mitral leaflets and MR. Therefore, CRT in the MR improvement group probably reduced MR by correcting the mid inferoposterior wall delay and by improving function in these viable segments as assessed by strain and strain rate.

Unlike these studies, Goland *et al* [28] evaluated radial instead of longitudinal strain and used a twodimensional method of strain assessment instead of TDI. It was found on multivariable logistic analysis that time to peak two-dimensional radial strain between inferior and anterior LV segments of > 110 ms (OR: 8.4, 95% CI: 8.4–54.0, P = 0.02) and two-dimensional radial strain in the posterior segment of > 18% were significant predictors of early post-CRT MR improvement (OR: 7.6, 95%CI: 1.2–72.4, P = 0.006). These results confirmed the role of viability and dyssynchrony of the areas adjacent to posterior papillary muscle. Obviously, the presence of non-severe MR predicted MR reduction after CRT as suggested by MR jet area/Left area ratio (OR: 8.1, 95%CI: 1.2–52.4, P = 0.02).

Onishi et al^[29], in a large series, showed that anteroseptal to posterior wall radial strain dyssynchrony > 200 ms (OR: 2.65, 95% CI:1.11–6.30, P = 0.0277) and end systolic dimension index < 29 mm/m² (OR: 2.53, 95% CI: 1.03–6.20, P = 0.0420) predicted MR improvement at 6 mo after CRT implantation. Therefore, the present study combined the presence of radial dyssynchrony and lack of excessive LV dilatation (simply measured by end-systolic diameter index) with strong amelioration of significant MR. Furthermore, it added another important element: the lack of echocardiographic scar at the papillary muscle insertion site (wall motion score index \leq 2.5) that resulted as a significant predictor of MR improvement (OR: 2.59, 95% CI: 1.06–6.30, P = 0.0360).

An interesting study was recently conducted by Galand et al[30]. It included 54 HF patient candidates for CRT who underwent dual-source computed tomography (CT) scan imaging in order to guide the CRT implantation procedure. Cardiac dual-source computed tomography is an ideal non-invasive imaging modality with very fast features, so patients receive less radiation. It also creates sharper images. This study evaluated the impact of LV wall thickness using dual-source CT in response to CRT and MR improvement. In multivariable analysis, an area \geq 25% of LV wall thickness < 6 mm including at least one papillary muscle insertion was the only predictor of no MR improvement at 6 mo (OR: 16.82, 95% CI: 1.72–164.2, P = 0.015). The study confirmed the crucial role of papillary muscle insertion site and suggested that normal wall thickness could promote a mitral valve apparatus remodeling after CRT.

ELECTRIC-TARGETING LV LEAD-RELATED PREDICTORS

Among invasive electric predictors of the response to CRT, a commonly studied measure of electric delay is the QLV interval, which is the time from the onset of the QRS complex on the surface electrocardiogram to the local LV activation at the site of the LV lead[31]. Previous studies demonstrated the predictive value of QLV interval as a measure of LV electric delay for acute hemodynamic changes and clinical outcome with CRT[32]. Recently, Upadhyay et al[33] provided an interesting link between a simple electric measurement, such as QLV, and improvement in MR. They demonstrated that greater changes in MR were achieved by targeting the LV lead in regions of longer QLV at implant (multivariate β coefficient = 0.0040, P = 0.0072).

Chatterjee et al[34] analyzed data from patients enrolled in the SMART-AV study[29] and provided strong evidence of the association between baseline QLV and reduction in MR after CRT. After multivariable adjustment, increasing QLV was an independent predictor of MR reduction at 6 mo as reflected by an increased odds of MR response (OR: 1.13, 95%CI: 1.03–1.25/10 ms increase QLV, P = 0.02).

STUDY LIMITATIONS

This was not a systematic review. Heterogeneity among included studies was widespread. Studies included showed variations in study design, cohort characteristics and response definitions. Another source of heterogeneity is that CRT implantation techniques and indications have evolved over the last 20 years. These limitations are particularly important to consider in future research studies.

CONCLUSION

Over the past two decades, numerous invasive and non-invasive predictors of the response to CRT have been proposed, and it was shown that reductions in MR occurred mainly in patients with response to CRT (Table 1). However, not all CRT responders are "MR responders," and FMR reduction was also demonstrated in CRT non-responders, hence the importance of identifying MR improvement predictors after CRT implantation. Among "MR predictors" proposed, the possibility to recognize viability and dyssynchrony by imaging, especially near papillary muscles, is very useful. Also the measurement of



Table 1 Variables that predict mitral regurgitation improvement or lack of improvement								
Predictor category	Predictors of MR improvement	Ref.	HR	P value				
Clinical parameters	ΔQRS (at least 20 ms) after CRT	[<mark>20</mark>]	1.242	0.028				
	Non ischemic HF etiology	[20]	3.13	0.021				
	Baseline presence of LBBB morphology	[20]	2.49	0.032				
	QRS narrowing after CRT	[<mark>2</mark> 1]	NA	0.001				
	Older age	[23]	NA	0.001				
	Baseline longer QRS duration	[23]	NA	0.001				
Echo imaging	Septal-lateral delay by TDI	[23]	NA	0.001				
	Baseline tenting area < 3.8 cm ²	[24]	NA	0.02				
	Baseline tenting area	[<mark>2</mark> 1]	NA	0.01				
	Septal-lateral delay by TDI	[22]	NA	0.001				
	Baseline inferior papillary muscle time delay	[26]	NA	0.04				
	Increase in posterior papillary muscle longitudinal negative strain	[<mark>26</mark>]	NA	0.01				
	Combined presence of delayed longitudinal strain in the mid inferior LV segment and preserved systolic strain in the basal and mid posterior segments	[27]	NA	0.001				
	Time to- peak 2-DRS between inferior and anterior LV segments of > 110 ms	[28]	8.4	0.02				
	Preserved radial strain in posterior segments assessed by 2-DRS	[28]	7.6	0.006				
	MR jet area/left atrium area ratio < 40%	[28]	8.9	0.02				
	Anteroseptal to posterior wall radial strain dyssynchrony > 200 ms	[29]	NA	0.028				
	Lack of severe left ventricular dilatation (end-systolic dimension index < 29 mm/m^2)	[29]	NA	0.042				
	Lack of echocardiographic scar at papillary muscle insertion sites	[29]	NA	0.036				
Electric-Targeting LV Lead	Degree of delay at the LV lead site	[34]	1.13	0.02				
	Predictors of lack of MR improvement							
CT imaging	$\geq 25\%$ of LVWT < 6 mm inclusive of at least one papillary muscle insertion using CT	[<mark>30</mark>]	1.04	0.032				
Biomarkers	Higher levels of galectin 3	[23]	0.16	0.01				

CRT: Cardiac resyncronization therapy; TDI: Tissue Doppler imaging; 2DRS: 2D radial strain; MR: Mitral regurgitation; LVWT: Left ventricular wall thickness; CT: Computed tomography; LV: Left ventricular; NA: Not available.

> LV electric ventricular delay, such as QLV, is simple, does not require echocardiography or surface electrocardiographic measurements and has the potential to be measured automatically by devices that would further simplify lead optimization.

> The concept that more advanced LV remodeling remains valid. Therefore, the lower the probability of successful CRT treatment for FMR and other treatment strategies to reduce MR should be evaluated. Long-term results in a larger cohort together with new imaging techniques, such as three-dimensional imaging, are needed to keep track of the developments and the changes in this exciting field.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Russo E and Russo G contributed equally to this work and performed the conceptualization and writing of the original draft; Braccio M and Cassese M contributed to writing, reviewing and editing the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors declare that there are no any conflicts of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-



commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Eleonora Russo 0000-0001-6798-1219; Giulio Russo 0000-0002-6302-0135; Maurizio Braccio 0000-0003-3339-5478; Mauro Cassese 0000-0002-1691-4769.

S-Editor: Ma YJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Ma YJ

REFERENCES

- Enriquez-Sarano M, Akins CW, Vahanian A. Mitral regurgitation. Lancet 2009; 373: 1382-1394 [PMID: 19356795 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60692-9
- 2 Rossi A, Dini FL, Faggiano P, Agricola E, Cicoira M, Frattini S, Simioniuc A, Gullace M, Ghio S, Enriquez-Sarano M, Temporelli PL. Independent prognostic value of functional mitral regurgitation in patients with heart failure. A quantitative analysis of 1256 patients with ischaemic and non-ischaemic dilated cardiomyopathy. Heart 2011; 97: 1675-1680 [PMID: 21807656 DOI: 10.1136/hrt.2011.225789]
- 3 Grigioni F, Enriquez-Sarano M, Zehr KJ, Bailey KR, Tajik AJ. Ischemic mitral regurgitation: long-term outcome and prognostic implications with quantitative Doppler assessment. Circulation 2001; 103: 1759-1764 [PMID: 11282907 DOI: 10.1161/01.cir.103.13.1759
- Buja P, Tarantini G, Del Bianco F, Razzolini R, Bilato C, Ramondo A, Napodano M, Isabella G, Gerosa G, Iliceto S. Moderate-to-severe ischemic mitral regurgitation and multivessel coronary artery disease: Impact of different treatment on survival and rehospitalization. Int J Cardiol 2006; 111: 26-33 [PMID: 16061295 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2005.06.035]
- Agricola E, Stella S, Figini F, Piraino D, Oppizzi M, D'Amato R, Slavich M, Ancona MB, Margonato A. Non-ischemic 5 dilated cardiopathy: prognostic value of functional mitral regurgitation. Int J Cardiol 2011; 146: 426-428 [PMID: 21094544 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2010.10.096]
- 6 Baumgartner H, Falk V, Bax JJ, De Bonis M, Hamm C, Holm PJ, Iung B, Lancellotti P, Lansac E, Rodriguez Muñoz D, Rosenhek R, Sjögren J, Tornos Mas P, Vahanian A, Walther T, Wendler O, Windecker S, Zamorano JL; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2017 ESC/EACTS Guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease. Eur Heart J 2017; 38: 2739-2791 [PMID: 28886619 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx391]
- Writing Committee Members., Otto CM, Nishimura RA, Bonow RO, Carabello BA, Erwin JP 3rd, Gentile F, Jneid H, 7 Krieger EV, Mack M, McLeod C, O'Gara PT, Rigolin VH, Sundt TM 3rd, Thompson A, Toly C. 2020 ACC/AHA Guideline for the Management of Patients With Valvular Heart Disease: Executive Summary: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Joint Committee on Clinical Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 2021; 77: 450-500 [PMID: 33342587 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.11.035]
- 8 Cazeau S, Leclercq C, Lavergne T, Walker S, Varma C, Linde C, Garrigue S, Kappenberger L, Haywood GA, Santini M, Bailleul C, Daubert JC; Multisite Stimulation in Cardiomyopathies (MUSTIC) Study Investigators. Effects of multisite biventricular pacing in patients with heart failure and intraventricular conduction delay. N Engl J Med 2001; 344: 873-880 [PMID: 11259720 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM200103223441202]
- 9 Cleland JG, Daubert JC, Erdmann E, Freemantle N, Gras D, Kappenberger L, Tavazzi L; Cardiac Resynchronization-Heart Failure (CARE-HF) Study Investigators. The effect of cardiac resynchronization on morbidity and mortality in heart failure. N Engl J Med 2005; 352: 1539-1549 [PMID: 15753115 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa050496]
- 10 Nielsen SL, Nygaard H, Mandrup L, Fontaine AA, Hasenkam JM, He S, Yoganathan AP. Mechanism of incomplete mitral leaflet coaptation--interaction of chordal restraint and changes in mitral leaflet coaptation geometry. Insight from in vitro validation of the premise of force equilibrium. J Biomech Eng 2002; 124: 596-608 [PMID: 12405603 DOI: 10.1115/1.1500741]
- Ishikawa T, Kimura K, Miyazaki N, Tochikubo O, Usui T, Kashiwagi M, Ishii M. Diastolic mitral regurgitation in patients 11 with first-degree atrioventricular block. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1992; 15: 1927-1931 [PMID: 1279574 DOI: 10.1111/j.1540-8159.1992.tb02996.x]
- Breithardt OA, Sinha AM, Schwammenthal E, Bidaoui N, Markus KU, Franke A, Stellbrink C. Acute effects of cardiac 12 resynchronization therapy on functional mitral regurgitation in advanced systolic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003; 41: 765-770 [PMID: 12628720 DOI: 10.1016/s0735-1097(02)02937-6]
- Kanzaki H, Bazaz R, Schwartzman D, Dohi K, Sade LE, Gorcsan J 3rd. A mechanism for immediate reduction in mitral regurgitation after cardiac resynchronization therapy: insights from mechanical activation strain mapping. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004; 44: 1619-1625 [PMID: 15489094 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2004.07.036]
- 14 van Bommel RJ, Marsan NA, Delgado V, Borleffs CJ, van Rijnsoever EP, Schalij MJ, Bax JJ. Cardiac resynchronization therapy as a therapeutic option in patients with moderate-severe functional mitral regurgitation and high operative risk. Circulation 2011; 124: 912-919 [PMID: 21810666 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.009803]
- Solis J, McCarty D, Levine RA, Handschumacher MD, Fernandez-Friera L, Chen-Tournoux A, Mont L, Vidal B, Singh JP, 15 Brugada J, Picard MH, Sitges M, Hung J. Mechanism of decrease in mitral regurgitation after cardiac resynchronization therapy: optimization of the force-balance relationship. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging 2009; 2: 444-450 [PMID: 19920042 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.108.823732
- Di Biase L, Auricchio A, Mohanty P, Bai R, Kautzner J, Pieragnoli P, Regoli F, Sorgente A, Spinucci G, Ricciardi G, 16 Michelucci A, Perrotta L, Faletra F, Mlcochová H, Sedlacek K, Canby R, Sanchez JE, Horton R, Burkhardt JD, Moccetti T,



Padeletti L, Natale A. Impact of cardiac resynchronization therapy on the severity of mitral regurgitation. Europace 2011; 13: 829-838 [PMID: 21486916 DOI: 10.1093/europace/eur047]

- 17 Cipriani M, Lunati M, Landolina M, Proclemer A, Boriani G, Ricci RP, Rordorf R, Matassini MV, Padeletti L, Iacopino S, Molon G, Perego GB, Gasparini M; Italian ClinicalService Project Investigators. Prognostic implications of mitral regurgitation in patients after cardiac resynchronization therapy. Eur J Heart Fail 2016; 18: 1060-1068 [PMID: 27412374 DOI: 10.1002/ejhf.569]
- Porciani MC, Macioce R, Demarchi G, Chiostri M, Musilli N, Cappelli F, Lilli A, Ricciardi G, Padeletti L. Effects of 18 cardiac resynchronization therapy on the mechanisms underlying functional mitral regurgitation in congestive heart failure. Eur J Echocardiogr 2006; 7: 31-39 [PMID: 16378918 DOI: 10.1016/j.euje.2005.03.008]
- Vinereanu D. Mitral regurgitation and cardiac resynchronization therapy. Echocardiography 2008; 25: 1155-1166 [PMID: 19 18986402 DOI: 10.1111/j.1540-8175.2008.00781.x]
- 20 Karaca O, Omaygenc MO, Cakal B, Cakal SD, Gunes HM, Barutcu I, Boztosun B, Kilicaslan F. Effect of QRS Narrowing After Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy on Functional Mitral Regurgitation in Patients With Systolic Heart Failure. Am J Cardiol 2016; 117: 412-419 [PMID: 26721652 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2015.11.010]
- Karaca O, Cakal B, Omaygenc MO, Gunes HM, Kizilirmak F, Cakal SD, Naki DD, Barutcu I, Boztosun B, Kilicaslan F. 21 Effect of cardiac resynchronization therapy on mitral valve geometry: a novel aspect as "reversed mitral remodeling". Int J Cardiovasc Imaging 2018; 34: 1029-1040 [PMID: 29387972 DOI: 10.1007/s10554-018-1308-2]
- 22 Sadeghian H, Lotfi-Tokaldany M, Montazeri M, Kazemi Saeed A, Sahebjam M, Sardari A, Ejmalian G. Early Improvement in Mitral Regurgitation after Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy in Cardiomyopathy Patients. J Heart Valve Dis 2017; 26: 557-563 [PMID: 29762924]
- 23 Beaudoin J, Singh JP, Szymonifka J, Zhou Q, Levine RA, Januzzi JL, Truong QA. Novel Heart Failure Biomarkers Predict Improvement of Mitral Regurgitation in Patients Receiving Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy-The BIOCRT Study. Can J Cardiol 2016; 32: 1478-1484 [PMID: 27527259 DOI: 10.1016/j.cjca.2016.05.013]
- Sitges M, Vidal B, Delgado V, Mont L, Garcia-Alvarez A, Tolosana JM, Castel A, Berruezo A, Azqueta M, Pare C, 24 Brugada J. Long-term effect of cardiac resynchronization therapy on functional mitral valve regurgitation. Am J Cardiol 2009; 104: 383-388 [PMID: 19616672 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2009.03.060]
- 25 Magne J, Pibarot P, Dagenais F, Hachicha Z, Dumesnil JG, Sénéchal M. Preoperative posterior leaflet angle accurately predicts outcome after restrictive mitral valve annuloplasty for ischemic mitral regurgitation. Circulation 2007; 115: 782-791 [PMID: 17283262 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.649236]
- 26 Karvounis HI, Dalamaga EG, Papadopoulos CE, Karamitsos TD, Vassilikos V, Paraskevaidis S, Styliadis IH, Parharidis GE, Louridas GE. Improved papillary muscle function attenuates functional mitral regurgitation in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy after cardiac resynchronization therapy. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2006; 19: 1150-1157 [PMID: 16950470 DOI: 10.1016/j.echo.2006.04.022]
- Naqvi TZ, Rafique AM, Swerdlow C, Verma S, Siegel RJ, Tolstrup K, Kerwin W, Goodman J, Gallik D, Gang E, Peter 27 CT. Predictors of reduction in mitral regurgitation in patients undergoing cardiac resynchronisation treatment. Heart 2008; 94: 1580-1588 [PMID: 18467354 DOI: 10.1136/hrt.2007.118356]
- Goland S, Rafique AM, Mirocha J, Siegel RJ, Naqvi TZ. Reduction in mitral regurgitation in patients undergoing cardiac 28 resynchronization treatment: assessment of predictors by two-dimensional radial strain echocardiography. Echocardiography 2009; 26: 420-430 [PMID: 19382944 DOI: 10.1111/j.1540-8175.2008.00823.x]
- 29 Onishi T, Onishi T, Marek JJ, Ahmed M, Haberman SC, Oyenuga O, Adelstein E, Schwartzman D, Saba S, Gorcsan J 3rd. Mechanistic features associated with improvement in mitral regurgitation after cardiac resynchronization therapy and their relation to long-term patient outcome. Circ Heart Fail 2013; 6: 685-693 [PMID: 23733917 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.112.000112]
- 30 Galand V, Ghoshhajra B, Szymonifka J, Das S, Orencole M, Barré V, Martins RP, Leclercq C, Hung J, Truong QA, Singh JP. Left ventricular wall thickness assessed by cardiac computed tomography and cardiac resynchronization therapy outcomes. Europace 2020; 22: 401-411 [PMID: 31865389 DOI: 10.1093/europace/euz322]
- 31 Singh JP, Fan D, Heist EK, Alabiad CR, Taub C, Reddy V, Mansour M, Picard MH, Ruskin JN, Mela T. Left ventricular lead electrical delay predicts response to cardiac resynchronization therapy. Heart Rhythm 2006; 3: 1285-1292 [PMID: 17074633 DOI: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2006.07.034]
- 32 Gold MR, Singh JP, Ellenbogen KA, Yu Y, Wold N, Meyer TE, Birgersdotter-Green U. Interventricular Electrical Delay Is Predictive of Response to Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy. JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2016; 2: 438-447 [PMID: 29759863 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacep.2016.02.018]
- 33 Upadhyay GA, Chatterjee NA, Kandala J, Friedman DJ, Park MY, Tabtabai SR, Hung J, Singh JP. Assessing mitral regurgitation in the prediction of clinical outcome after cardiac resynchronization therapy. Heart Rhythm 2015; 12: 1201-1208 [PMID: 25708879 DOI: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2015.02.022]
- 34 Chatterjee NA, Gold MR, Waggoner AD, Picard MH, Stein KM, Yu Y, Meyer TE, Wold N, Ellenbogen KA, Singh JP. Longer Left Ventricular Electric Delay Reduces Mitral Regurgitation After Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy: Mechanistic Insights From the SMART-AV Study (SmartDelay Determined AV Optimization: A Comparison to Other AV Delay Methods Used in Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy). Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2016; 9 [PMID: 27906653 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCEP.116.004346]


WJC

World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2022 March 26; 14(3): 177-186

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.177

Retrospective Study

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Risk profiles and outcomes of patients receiving antibacterial cardiovascular implantable electronic device envelopes: A retrospective analysis

David A Woodard, Grace Kim, Kent R Nilsson

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Apiratwarakul K, Thailand; Santomauro M, Italy

Received: December 17, 2021 Peer-review started: December 17, 2021 First decision: January 25, 2022 Revised: February 8, 2022 Accepted: March 3, 2022 Article in press: March 3, 2022 Published online: March 26, 2022



David A Woodard, Kent R Nilsson, Department of Cardiology, Piedmont Heart Institute, Athens, GA 30606, United States

Grace Kim, Kent R Nilsson, Department of Medicine, Augusta University-University of Georgia Medical Partnership, Athens, GA 30606, United States

Corresponding author: David A Woodard, MD, Doctor, Department of Cardiology, Piedmont Heart Institute, Piedmont Athens Regional Medical Center 242 King Ave Suite 210, Athens, GA 30606, United States. davidwoodard92464@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Cardiovascular implantable electronic devices (CIEDs) are implanted in an increasing number of patients each year, which has led to an increase in the risk of CIED infection. Antibacterial CIED envelopes locally deliver antibiotics to the implant site over a short-term period and have been shown to reduce the risk of implant site infection. These envelopes are derived from either biologic or nonbiologic materials. There is a paucity of data examining patient risk profiles and outcomes from using these envelope materials in the clinical setting and comparing these results to patients receiving no envelope with their CIED implantation.

AIM

To evaluate risk profiles and outcomes of patients who underwent CIED procedures with an antibacterial envelope or no envelope.

METHODS

After obtaining Internal Review Board approval, the records of consecutive patients who underwent a CIED implantation procedure by a single physician between March 2017 and December 2019 were retrospectively collected from our hospital. A total of 248 patients within this period were identified and reviewed through 12 mo of follow up. The CIED procedures used either no envelope (n =57), a biologic envelope (CanGaroo®, Aziyo Biologics) that was pre-hydrated by the physician with vancomycin and gentamicin (n = 89), or a non-biologic envelope (Tyrx[™], Medtronic) that was coated with a resorbable polymer containing the drug substances rifampin and minocycline by the manufacturer (n



= 102). Patient selection for receiving either no envelope or an envelope (and which envelope to use) was determined by the treating physician. Statistical analyses were performed between the 3 groups (CanGaroo, Tyrx, and no envelope), and also between the No Envelope and Any Envelope groups by an independent, experienced biostatistician.

RESULTS

On average, patients who received any envelope (biologic or non-biologic) were younger (70.7 ± 14.0 vs 74.9 \pm 10.6, P = 0.017), had a greater number of infection risk factors (81.2% vs 49.1%, P < 0.001), received more high-powered devices (37.2% vs 5.8%, P = 0.004), and were undergoing more reoperative procedures (47.1% vs 0.0%, P < 0.001) than patients who received no envelope. Between the two envelopes, biologic envelopes tended to be used more often in higher risk patients (84.3% vs 78.4%) and reoperative procedures (62.9% vs 33.3%) than non-biologic envelopes. The rate of CIED implant site pocket infection was low (any envelope 0.5% vs no envelope 0.0%) and was statistically equivalent between the two envelope groups. Other reported adverse events (lead dislodgement, lead or pocket revision, device migration or erosion, twiddler's syndrome, and erythema/fever) were low and statistically equivalent between groups (biologic 2.2%, non-biologic 3.9%, no envelope 1.8%).

CONCLUSION

CIED infection rates for biologic and non-biologic antibacterial envelopes are similar. Antibacterial envelopes may benefit patients who are higher risk for infection, however additional studies are warranted to confirm this.

Key Words: Cardiovascular implantable electronic device envelope; Defibrillator; Extracellular matrix; Implantable cardioverter-defibrillator; Infection; Pacemaker

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: This retrospective study was performed to determine risk profiles and clinical outcomes of patients who underwent cardiovascular implantable electronic device (CIED) procedures with a biologic or non-biologic antibacterial envelope, or no envelope. A total of 248 patient records were reviewed containing 89 biologic, 102 non-biologic, and 57 no envelope patients. Pre-procedurally, patients who received any envelope (biologic or non-biologic) were at higher infection risk than patients who received no envelope. Biologic envelopes tended to be used more often in higher risk patients than non-biologic envelopes. The rate of CIED pocket infection was low and equivalent between the two envelopes.

Citation: Woodard DA, Kim G, Nilsson KR. Risk profiles and outcomes of patients receiving antibacterial cardiovascular implantable electronic device envelopes: A retrospective analysis. World J Cardiol 2022; 14(3): 177-186

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v14/i3/177.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.177

INTRODUCTION

Expanding indications for cardiovascular implantable electronic devices (CIEDs) have increased the number of these devices that are implanted[1], but considering the common comorbidities seen in this patient population, complications such as infection are also increasing[2-4]. Reported infection rates of de novo CIED implantation range between 0.7%-4.6%, and can be as high as 7% for re-operations[5]. Thus, a better understanding of patient risk factors and available prophylactic techniques could potentially lower the risk of infection in this population[5-8]. CIED envelopes are intended to securely hold pacemakers or defibrillators when implanted in the body, and antibacterial CIED envelopes additionally provide short-term local antibiotic delivery which can reduce the risk of infection at the device implant site[9]. Available antibacterial CIED envelopes are either fabricated from biologic material (extracellular matrix hydrated with antibiotics by physician choice) or from non-biologic material (synthetic mesh coated with antibiotics by the manufacturer). The biologic envelope (CanGaroo®, Aziyo Biologics, Inc., Roswell, GA, United States) is made of decellularized extracellular matrix derived from porcine intestinal submucosa (SIS-ECM) which is rehydrated in solution for 1-2 min prior to use, whereas the non-biologic envelope (TYRX™, Medtronic PLC, Mounds View, MN, United States) is made from an absorbable synthetic substrate mesh coated with a bioresorbable



WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

polymer containing the drug substances rifampin and minocycline. Both envelopes have been reported to release antibiotics over a period of seven days in separate studies[10-13].

Although both envelopes have similar indications and antibiotic elution abilities, the material each envelope is created from may affect the biologic response upon implantation into the patient. Synthetic (non-biologic) absorbable and non-absorbable materials have been reported to initiate a strong foreign body reaction, resulting in chronic inflammation leading to hypovascular fibrotic tissue surrounding the implanted material [14-18], which a previously-marketed non-absorbable synthetic envelope leveraged to stabilize the electronic device upon implantation[19]. Conversely, ECM (the material that the biologic envelope is made from) has been shown to promote constructive remodeling and healthy tissue restoration[20-23]. Both biologic and non-biologic envelopes have been reported to support clinical infection prevention strategies [12,24-26].

This is an analysis of a retrospective, real-world study which assessed the risk profiles and clinical outcomes of patients who underwent a CIED procedure and received an antibacterial envelope (biologic or non-biologic), or no envelope (CARE Plus, NCT04351269). To our best knowledge, this study contains the first reporting of biologic and non-biologic antibacterial envelopes reported together in the clinical setting.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Records of consecutive patients undergoing CIED procedures from a single center performed by a single physician between March 2017 and December 2019 were retrospectively reviewed for up to 12 mo of follow-up. The study protocol was reviewed and approved by an independent internal review board (IRB) [WIRB-Copernicus Group® (WCG)] prior to the chart review. A waiver of informed consent and HIPAA was obtained due to the retrospective nature of the study.

The study aimed to determine risk profiles and clinical outcomes of patients who were undergoing a CIED procedure and received either no envelope, a biologic envelope (CanGaroo®) hydrated by the implanting physician for 1 – 2 minutes with a vancomycin and gentamicin solution before implantation, or a non-biologic envelope (TYRXTM) coated by the manufacturer with a bioresorbable polymer containing the drug substances rifampin and minocycline. The implanting physician made all decisions regarding device type, which envelope and envelope size was used, and biologic envelope hydration solution (if one was used). Aside from the pre-hydration of the biologic envelope, the implanting technique of both the biologic and non-biologic envelope was similar. The no envelope group's CIED implantation procedure was identical to the envelope CIED implantation procedure, just without the use of an envelope. The pre- and post-operative protocol was the same for all 3 groups.

Information was extracted in detail from medical records, including medical history, infection risk factors, surgical details, and adverse events from the initial procedural visit out to 12 mo post-op. Infection risk factors were defined by previous literature[4,27,28] which identified elements that were significantly associated with increased risk for CIED infection, including renal insufficiency, diabetes, obesity, peripheral vascular disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, congestive heart failure, malignancy, coronary artery disease, hypertension, chronic steroid use, oral systemic anticoagulants, malnutrition, smoking, the presence of two or more leads, pocket re-entry within 2 wk of the initial implant, prior device infection, and reoperative procedure. The number of risk factors was counted for each patient to examine the relative levels of infection risk between patient groups. Infection risk was categorized for each patient as lower risk (0-1 infection risk factors) or higher risk (2 or more risk factors), based on the quantity of established clinical risk factors present in each patient from above. An independent, biomedical statistician performed analyses between the 3 groups (CanGaroo, Tyrx, and no envelope), and also between the no envelope and any envelope groups by using means with standard deviations for continuous variables and counts with percentages for categorical variables. Continuous variables were checked for normality. Fisher's exact tests were used when ≥ 1 expected cell counts were < 5, and Pearson chi-square tests were used for categorical variable comparisons when cell counts were \geq 5. Statistical significance was set to a *P* < 0.05. SPSS version 26 (IBM, Armonk, NY, United States) was used for statistical analyses.

RESULTS

Among 248 enrolled patients who underwent CIED procedures, 191 (77%) received an envelope. These included 89 (46.6%) biologic and 102 (53.4%) non-biologic envelopes (Table 1).

Surgical procedure details

Patients who received high-powered devices, including implantable cardioverter defibrillators (ICDs) and cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT) devices, were more likely to receive an envelope (P =0.001) (Table 1). Patients undergoing reoperative procedures (generator changes, upgrades, other



Table 1 Comparison across cohorts

	Total	Biologic	Non-biologic	No envelope	¹ P value	Any envelope	² P value
	(N = 248)	(n = 80)	(n = 102)	(n = 57)		(n = 101)	
Age $(vr, mean + SD)$	(N 2±0) 71.6 ± 13.3	(n = 0.5) 73.6 + 13.3	$\binom{n}{2}$ 102)	(n - 57)	0.002	(n + 1)(1)	0.017
BMI mean + SD	299+71	28.0 ± 6.2	31.0 ± 7.9	31.0 + 6.3	0.008	296+73	0.206
BMI category	29.9 ± 7.1	20.0 ± 0.2	51.0 ± 7.9	51.0 ± 0.5	0.016	29.0 ± 7.5	0.080
Underweight (< 18 5)	5 (2 0%)	2 (2 2%)	2 (2 0%)	1 (1.8%)	0.010	4 (21%)	0.000
Normal (18 5 \leq 25 0)	54 (21.8%)	2 (2.270)	2 (2.0%)	5 (8.8%)		49 (25 7%)	
Oromusicht (25.0	72 (20.4%)	20 (22 E%)	19 (10.0 %)	2 (0.0 %)		49(23.7%)	
30.0)	73 (29.4%)	20 (22.5%)	51 (50.4%)	22 (38.6%)		51 (26.7 %)	
Obese (30.0 - < 40.0)	97 (39.1%)	34 (38.2%)	38 (37.3%)	25 (43.9%)		72 (37.7%)	
Morbidly obese (40.0 ±)	19 (7.7%)	3 (3.4%)	12 (11.8%)	4 (7.0%)		15 (7.9%)	
Medical history							
Heart failure	106 (42.7%)	41 (46.1%)	49 (48.0%)	16 (28.1%)	0.037	90 (47.1%)	0.011
Systemic antico- agulant use	99 (39.9%)	43 (48.3%)	40 (39.2%)	16 (28.1%)	0.050	83 (43.5%)	0.037
CIED device type					0.004		0.001
Pacemaker	152 (61.3%)	52 (58.4%)	52 (51.0%)	48 (84.2%)		104 (54.5%)	
CRT-P	12 (4.8%)	8 (9.0%)	4 (3.9%)	0 (0.0%)		12 (6.3%)	
ICD	54 (21.8%)	17 (9.1%)	30 (29.4%)	7 (12.3%)		47 (24.6%)	
S-ICD	2 (0.8%)	0 (0.0%)	52 (51.0%)	1 (1.8%)		1 (0.5%)	
CRT-D	24 (9.7%)	10 (11.2%)	13 (12.7%)	1 (1.8%)		23 (12.0%)	
N/A	4 (1.6%)	2 (2.2%)	2 (2.0%)	0 (0.0%)		0 (0.0%)	
CIED category					0.006		0.004
Low-powered	164 (66.1%)	60 (67.4%)	56 (54.9%)	48 (84.2%)		116 (60.7%)	
High-powered	80 (32.3%)	27 (30.3%)	44 (43.1%)	9 (5.8%)		71 (37.2%)	
N/A	4 (1.6%)	2 (2.2%)	2 (2.0%)	0 (0.0%)		4 (2.1%)	
Procedure type					< 0.001		< 0.001
De novo	158 (63.7%)	33 (20.9% de novo)	68 (43.0% de novo)	57 (36.1% de novo)		101 (63.9% de novo)	
Re-operative	90 (36.3%)	56 (62.2% re-op)	34 (37.8% re-op)	0 (0.0% re-op)		90 (100% re-op)	
Infection risk factors					< 0.001		< 0.001
0-1	65 (26.2%)	14 (15.7%)	22 (21.6%)	29 (50.9%)		36 (18.8%)	
≥2	183 (73.8%)	75 (84.3%)	80 (78.4%)	28 (49.1%)		155 (81.2%)	
Hematoma (total)	6 (2.4%)	5 (5.6%)	1 (1.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0.046	6 (3.0%)	0.176
Requiring intervention	6 (2.4%)	5 (5.6%)	1 (1.0%)	0 (0.0%)		6 (3.0%)	
Infection							
Pocket infection	1 (0.4%)	1 (1.1%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0.408	1 (0.5%)	0.584
Minor infection	1 (0.4%)	1 (1.1%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0.408	1 (0.5%)	0.584

 $^1\!P$ value across 3 cohorts: Biologic, non-biologic, and no envelope.

 ^{2}P value across 2 cohorts: Any envelope and no envelope.

Values are reported as: *n* (%) unless specified otherwise. BMI: Basal metabolic index; CIED: Cardiovascular implantable electronic device; CRT-D: Cardiac resynchronization therapy/defibrillator; CRT-P: Cardiac resynchronization therapy/pacemaker; ICD: Implantable cardioverter defibrillator; N/A: Not applicable; S-ICD: Subcutaneous implantable cardioverter defibrillator; SD: Standard deviation.

reoperative procedures such as lead or pocket revisions) received an envelope significantly more often than no envelope (100.0% vs 0.0%, P < 0.001) and tended to be more likely to receive a biologic than a non-biologic envelope (n = 56, 62.9% vs n = 34, 33.3%). Those with de novo implants tended to be more likely to receive a non-biologic envelope (n = 68, 66.6%) than a biologic envelope (n = 33, 37.1%).

Clinical characteristics and infection risk factors

Patients who received any envelope were younger on average (70.7 \pm 14.0 vs 74.9 \pm 10.6 years, P = 0.017) and had higher rates of comorbid risk factors such as heart failure (47.1% vs 28.1%, P = 0.011) and systemic anticoagulation (43.5% vs 28.1%, P = 0.037) than those who did not receive an envelope (Table 1). Patients with biologic envelopes tended to be somewhat older (mean 73.6 ± 13.3 vs 68.2 ± 14.0 years) and less overweight (22.5% vs 30.4%) than those with non-biologic envelopes. Differences in systemic anticoagulation among the 3 groups were statistically significant (biologic 48.3%, non-biologic 39.2%, no envelope 28.1%, P = 0.050). Patients who received any envelope had a significantly higher number of infection risk factors (\geq 2) than those with no envelope (81.2% vs 49.1%, P < 0.001), and biologic envelopes tended to be used more frequently for these higher risk patients (84.3% vs 78.4%).

Infection outcomes

Pocket infection rates were low (envelope 0.5%, no envelope 0.0%), with no significant difference between biologic and non-biologic envelopes (Table 1). Among the patients who received an envelope, one (0.5%) developed a major CIED infection (pocket infection), and one (0.5%) developed a minor CIED infection (superficial surgical site infection). However, the incidence of major or minor infection did not significantly differ between the 3 cohorts.

Other adverse events

Pocket hematoma (requiring surgical intervention) developed in 6 patients (2.4%): 5 patients (5.6%) with biologic envelopes, 1 patient (1.0%) with a non-biologic envelope, and 0 patients without an envelope (0.0%) (*P* = 0.046) (Table 1). However, there was no significant difference in hematoma between any envelope (3.0%) and no envelope (0.0%). There were no reported hematoma that led to infections in this study. Other adverse events included 3 Lead dislodgements (1 in the biologic group, 2 in the nonbiologic group), 1 Lead revision (non-biologic group), 1 hemothorax (non-biologic group), and 1 site drainage (biologic group) in the envelope cohorts and erythema/fever in 1 patient in the no envelope cohort. Rates of adverse events other than pocket hematoma did not significantly differ among the 3 cohorts.

DISCUSSION

This retrospective study examined clinical profiles and outcomes of patients receiving CIEDs implanted with antibacterial biological envelopes hydrated with gentamicin and vancomycin (biologic envelopes), CIEDs implanted with synthetic (non-biologic) antibacterial envelopes, and CIEDs with no envelope. Non-biologic antibacterial envelopes have been previously shown in a large, randomized study to reduce infection risk in patients who are at increased risk for CIED infection[12]. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first reporting of clinical outcomes from using either biologic or non-biologic antibacterial envelopes, or no envelope within the same dataset.

Patient selection for envelope use

Patient selection by the implanting physician is reflected in the study findings. Envelopes were selected significantly more often for younger patients, patients undergoing device replacement procedures, highpowered device implantations, those on systemic anticoagulation, patients with heart failure, and patients with 2 or more risk factors for CIED infection. Treatment preferences can be observed by envelope usage for at-risk patients who may benefit most from the local delivery of antibiotics to their CIED implant site. Interestingly, there was no statistical difference in observed infection rates between the envelope and no envelope groups, even though the envelope group contained significantly more patients with ≥ 2 infection risk factors. Our results and those of other studies[9,12,24,26], support that the utilization of antibacterial envelopes (biologic or non-biologic) may reduce the potential risk burden of patients with multiple concurrent infection risk factors who are undergoing CIED procedures. However, further studies are needed to determine if there are specific patient types that could benefit the most from receiving an antibacterial envelope.

Complications

There were no significant differences in individual adverse event rates between groups, except that more patients with biologic envelopes were reported to have hematoma requiring intervention compared to the other two groups. However, this observation may have been due to the greater use of systemic anticoagulation and reoperative procedures in the biologic envelope group, which have both



been shown to be risk factors for hematoma formation in previous studies[29,30]. In fact, a recent analysis of hematoma from the 6800 patients included in the WRAP-IT trial reported a hematoma occurrence of 2.2%, which was significantly associated with an increased risk of infection for the no envelope (control) group and a significantly lower risk of major infection in the non-biologic envelope group (2.5% *vs* 13.1%, P = 0.03)[31]. No hematoma in our dataset led to subsequent infection, which further supports a potential benefit from using antibacterial envelopes (biologic or non-biologic) to reduce the risk of hematoma manifesting to CIED implant site infection.

Infections at the CIED implantation site have serious morbidity, mortality, and economic consequences[1,32]. The use of antibacterial envelopes may reduce the risk of infection and could potentially reduce these serious complications and healthcare costs[33]. In our dataset, antibacterial envelopes were used significantly more often to treat patients with multiple comorbid risk factors, and biologic envelopes tended to be used more often in higher risk patients than non-biologic envelopes. We observed a 0.4% overall rate of pocket infection, which is lower than previously-reported studies of 0.7% to 4.6% for de novo implantations and up to 7% for reoperative procedures[5-8]. No significant difference was found in major CIED (pocket) infection rates between the 3 groups. A previous study reported that infection rate can differ depending upon various patient- and procedure-related circumstances (such as device type, procedure type, antibacterial envelope use, or perioperative antibiotics)[7], thus along with the major infection rates reported for high risk patients in the WRAP-IT (0.7%)[12] and PADIT (0.7%)[34] studies, the low pocket infection rate observed in our preliminary results (0.4%) supports that high infection risk factors can be countered with infection prophylaxis techniques such as the use of antibacterial envelopes.

Antibacterial CIED envelope types

There are currently two commercially available CIED envelopes in the United States. The biologic envelope (CanGaroo[®]) is manufactured from two sheets of 4-ply SIS-ECM material which can be hydrated by the implanting physician with an antibiotic solution prior to implantation, and the non-biologic envelope (TYRXTM) is fabricated from an absorbable synthetic substrate mesh coated with a bioresorbable polyarylate polymer containing the drug substances rifampin and minocycline. In separate studies, the release of antibiotics occurs similarly from both envelopes over a period of seven days[10-13]. Both envelopes are intended to stabilize the CIED post-implantation, yet the host response to these different materials may vary. All biomaterials (biologic and non-biologic) interact with the body upon implantation, and certain characteristics of these materials can influence the host response to the implant[35,36].

Extensive studies have shown that implanted biologic materials (such as non-crosslinked decellularized SIS-ECM) stimulate the production of site appropriate, functional tissue (termed "constructive remodeling"[37])[20-23,36]. The ability to elicit a remodeling response post-implantation is due to the natural degradation of the implanted ECM by proteases which release intrinsic bioactive peptides and growth factors such as FGF-2 and VEGF *in situ*[22,38-40]. When implanted, for example into a CIED pocket, these bioavailable signaling molecules can influence the healing milieu surrounding the implant site by directing cellular activities such as differentiation, chemotaxis, adhesion, and angiogenesis[22,41-43]. Non-biologic materials do not contain these bioactive components.

Limitations

Limitations to this study include non-randomization of patients to the treatment groups, a limited period of follow up, and all implantations performed by a single physician at one institution. The choice of patients receiving an envelope (and which envelope was used) creates selection bias observed in the differing patient factors between groups. However, the intent of this report was to evaluate and define physician practice patterns instead of assessing superiority between the three therapies. Longer-term (> 1 year) follow up may have captured late adverse events, which cannot be ruled out in this study.

CONCLUSION

In this real-world study, patients at higher risk for CIED infection received antibacterial envelopes and lower infection risk patients did not receive envelopes, yet the CIED pocket infection rate did not differ between groups. There was also no significant difference in observed pocket infection rates for patients receiving biologic *vs* non-biologic antibacterial envelopes. These findings support that use of an antibacterial envelope may benefit patients who are at higher risk for infection, however further work will continue to refine patient selection and clinical decision-making for optimal utilization of antibacterial envelopes during CIED implantation.

Zaisbideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

An increase in cardiac implantable electronic device (CIED) implantation has led to an increase in observed complication rates, including infection. Antibacterial CIED envelopes have been shown to reduce the risk of infection complications, even in high-risk patient groups. There are currently two different CIED envelopes in clinical use which differ in the material from which they are made.

Research motivation

There is a paucity of data describing real-world physician practice patterns when using antibacterial CIED envelopes. Understanding clinical rationale and outcomes from the use of this prophylactic therapy could improve future patient outcomes.

Research objectives

Patient risk profiles and outcomes were compared from patients undergoing CIED procedures receiving either no envelope, or one of two antibacterial envelopes.

Research methods

In this retrospective analysis, the records of consecutive CIED procedure patients were reviewed at one center through a follow-up time of 12 mo.

Research results

Patients who were selected to receive an antibacterial CIED envelope were at significantly higher risk for infection than patients who did not receive an envelope (81.2% vs 49.1%, P < 0.001). Among the infection risks, envelope patients were undergoing more reoperative procedures (47.1% vs 0.0%, P <0.001) and received more high-powered devices (37.2% vs 5.8%, P = 0.004) than patients who received no envelope. There was a propensity for the physician choosing a biologic envelope in patients who were higher risk than non-biologic patients (84.3% vs 78.4%), and those that were undergoing reoperative procedures (62.9% vs 33.3%). The rate of pocket infection was low (any envelope 0.5% vs no envelope 0.0%), with no significant difference between the two envelope groups.

Research conclusions

There is an apparent benefit for using antibacterial envelopes in patients who are at higher risk of implant site infection. When using antibacterial envelopes, there was no significant difference in infection rate for biologic and non-biologic envelopes.

Research perspectives

Future studies should further explore patient and procedural factors that play a role in antibacterial envelope usage for specific patient types to further improve patient outcomes.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors acknowledge Sherrie Webb for writing and editing assistance and Kristina Chapple, PhD for her biostatistical analysis expertise.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Woodard D led the conception, design, data collection and analysis, and drafting of the manuscript; Nilsson K and Kim G contributed their expertise to the analysis/interpretation of data and editing of the manuscript; and all authors accept accountability for the accuracy of this work, and drafted, revised, and approved the final version of the manuscript to be published within this journal.

Supported by Aziyo Biologics, Inc.

Institutional review board statement: This study was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the WIRB-Copernicus Group®.

Informed consent statement: A waiver of informed consent and HIPAA due to the retrospective nature of this study was obtained. This study was conducted in accordance with the ethical principles in the Declaration of Helsinki and conducted according to United States and international standards of Good Clinical Practice in accordance with applicable Federal regulations, International Council for Harmonization guidelines, and institutional research



WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

policies and procedures.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Woodard D is a consultant for Aziyo Biologics, Inc. The other authors have no relevant financial relationships to disclose.

Data sharing statement: The dataset supporting the conclusions of this article is available upon reasonable request to the corresponding author.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: David A Woodard 0000-0001-7046-911X; Grace Kim 0000-0002-8769-8864; Kent R Nilsson 0000-0001-8000-9686.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: American Heart Association.

S-Editor: Ma YJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Ma YJ

REFERENCES

- Baddour LM, Epstein AE, Erickson CC, Knight BP, Levison ME, Lockhart PB, Masoudi FA, Okum EJ, Wilson WR, 1 Beerman LB, Bolger AF, Estes NA 3rd, Gewitz M, Newburger JW, Schron EB, Taubert KA; American Heart Association Rheumatic Fever, Endocarditis, and Kawasaki Disease Committee; Council on Cardiovascular Disease in Young; Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia; Council on Cardiovascular Nursing; Council on Clinical Cardiology; Interdisciplinary Council on Quality of Care; American Heart Association. Update on cardiovascular implantable electronic device infections and their management: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation 2010; 121: 458-477 [PMID: 20048212 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192665]
- 2 Dai M, Cai C, Vaibhav V, Sohail MR, Hayes DL, Hodge DO, Tian Y, Asirvatham R, Cochuyt JJ, Huang C, Friedman PA, Cha YM. Trends of Cardiovascular Implantable Electronic Device Infection in 3 Decades: A Population-Based Study. JACC Clin Electrophysiol 2019; 5: 1071-1080 [PMID: 31537337 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacep.2019.06.016]
- Greenspon AJ, Patel JD, Lau E, Ochoa JA, Frisch DR, Ho RT, Pavri BB, Kurtz SM. 16-year trends in the infection burden for pacemakers and implantable cardioverter-defibrillators in the United States 1993 to 2008. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011; 58: 1001-1006 [PMID: 21867833 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.04.033]
- 4 Polyzos KA, Konstantelias AA, Falagas ME. Risk factors for cardiac implantable electronic device infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Europace 2015; 17: 767-777 [PMID: 25926473 DOI: 10.1093/europace/euv053]
- 5 Poole JE, Gleva MJ, Mela T, Chung MK, Uslan DZ, Borge R, Gottipaty V, Shinn T, Dan D, Feldman LA, Seide H, Winston SA, Gallagher JJ, Langberg JJ, Mitchell K, Holcomb R; REPLACE Registry Investigators. Complication rates associated with pacemaker or implantable cardioverter-defibrillator generator replacements and upgrade procedures: results from the REPLACE registry. Circulation 2010; 122: 1553-1561 [PMID: 20921437 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.976076
- 6 Chung MK, Holcomb RG, Mittal S, Steinberg JS, Gleva MJ, Mela T, Uslan DZ, Mitchell K, Poole JE; REPLACE Investigators. REPLACE DARE (Death After Replacement Evaluation) score: determinants of all-cause mortality after implantable device replacement or upgrade from the REPLACE registry. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2014; 7: 1048-1056 [PMID: 25221331 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCEP.114.001671]
- Han HC, Hawkins NM, Pearman CM, Birnie DH, Krahn AD. Epidemiology of cardiac implantable electronic device 7 infections: incidence and risk factors. Europace 2021; 23: iv3-iv10 [PMID: 34051086 DOI: 10.1093/europace/euab042]
- 8 Olsen T, Jørgensen OD, Nielsen JC, Thøgersen AM, Philbert BT, Johansen JB. Incidence of device-related infection in 97 750 patients: clinical data from the complete Danish device-cohort (1982-2018). Eur Heart J 2019; 40: 1862-1869 [PMID: 31155647 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehz316]
- 9 Kolek MJ, Dresen WF, Wells QS, Ellis CR. Use of an antibacterial envelope is associated with reduced cardiac implantable electronic device infections in high-risk patients. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2013; 36: 354-361 [PMID: 23252988 DOI: 10.1111/pace.12063]
- 10 Deering TF, Chang C, Snyder C, Natarajan SK, Matheny R. Enhanced Antimicrobial Effects of Decellularized Extracellular Matrix (CorMatrix) with Added Vancomycin and Gentamicin for Device Implant Protection. Pacing Clin *Electrophysiol* 2017; **40**: 615-623 [PMID: 28240419 DOI: 10.1111/pace.13061]
- 11 Medtronic. Huntingdon Life Sciences Study TR-2013-001. 2013. Available from: URL: https://www.medtronic.com/us $en/health care-professionals/products/cardiac-rhythm/absorbable-antibacterial-envelopes/tyrx-envelope.html \label{eq:products} and \label{eq:product$
- 12 Tarakji KG, Mittal S, Kennergren C, Corey R, Poole JE, Schloss E, Gallastegui J, Pickett RA, Evonich R, Philippon F,



McComb JM, Roark SF, Sorrentino D, Sholevar D, Cronin E, Berman B, Riggio D, Biffi M, Khan H, Silver MT, Collier J, Eldadah Z, Wright DJ, Lande JD, Lexcen DR, Cheng A, Wilkoff BL; WRAP-IT Investigators. Antibacterial Envelope to Prevent Cardiac Implantable Device Infection. N Engl J Med 2019; 380: 1895-1905 [PMID: 30883056 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1901111]

- 13 Sohail MR, Esquer Garrigos Z, Elayi CS, Xiang K, Catanzaro JN. Preclinical evaluation of efficacy and pharmacokinetics of gentamicin containing extracellular-matrix envelope. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2020; 43: 341-349 [PMID: 32067241 DOI: 10.1111/pace.13888]
- Holton LH 3rd, Chung T, Silverman RP, Haerian H, Goldberg NH, Burrows WM, Gobin A, Butler CE. Comparison of 14 acellular dermal matrix and synthetic mesh for lateral chest wall reconstruction in a rabbit model. Plast Reconstr Surg 2007; 119: 1238-1246 [PMID: 17496596 DOI: 10.1097/01.prs.0000254347.36092.9c]
- 15 Laschke MW, Häufel JM, Scheuer C, Menger MD. Angiogenic and inflammatory host response to surgical meshes of different mesh architecture and polymer composition. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2009; 91: 497-507 [PMID: 19582833 DOI: 10.1002/ibm.b.314231
- Wolf MT, Carruthers CA, Dearth CL, Crapo PM, Huber A, Burnsed OA, Londono R, Johnson SA, Daly KA, Stahl EC, 16 Freund JM, Medberry CJ, Carey LE, Nieponice A, Amoroso NJ, Badylak SF. Polypropylene surgical mesh coated with extracellular matrix mitigates the host foreign body response. J Biomed Mater Res A 2014; 102: 234-246 [PMID: 23873846 DOI: 10.1002/jbm.a.34671]
- Lock AM, Gao R, Naot D, Coleman B, Cornish J, Musson DS. Induction of immune gene expression and inflammatory 17 mediator release by commonly used surgical suture materials: an experimental in vitro study. Patient Saf Surg 2017; 11: 16 [PMID: 28580016 DOI: 10.1186/s13037-017-0132-2]
- Scislowska-Czarnecka A, Pamula E, Tlalka A, Kolaczkowska E. Effects of aliphatic polyesters on activation of the immune system: studies on macrophages. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 2012; 23: 715-738 [PMID: 21375810 DOI: 10.1163/092050611X559421
- 19 Parsonnet V. A stretch fabric pouch for implanted pacemakers. Arch Surg 1972; 105: 654-656 [PMID: 4262758 DOI: 10.1001/archsurg.1972.04180100095023]
- Londono R, Badylak SF. Biologic scaffolds for regenerative medicine: mechanisms of in vivo remodeling. Ann Biomed 20 Eng 2015; 43: 577-592 [PMID: 25213186 DOI: 10.1007/s10439-014-1103-8]
- Xiang K, Catanzaro JN, Elayi C, Esquer Garrigos Z, Sohail MR. Antibiotic-Eluting Envelopes to Prevent Cardiac-21 Implantable Electronic Device Infection: Past, Present, and Future. Cureus 2021; 13: e13088 [PMID: 33728111 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.13088
- Brown BN, Badylak SF. Extracellular matrix as an inductive scaffold for functional tissue reconstruction. Transl Res 2014; 22 163: 268-285 [PMID: 24291155 DOI: 10.1016/j.trsl.2013.11.003]
- Allen KB, Adams JD, Badylak SF, Garrett HE, Mouawad NJ, Oweida SW, Parikshak M, Sultan PK. Extracellular Matrix 23 Patches for Endarterectomy Repair. Front Cardiovasc Med 2021; 8: 631750 [PMID: 33644135 DOI: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.631750
- 24 Nayak H, Beaser AD, Aziz ZA. Patient Profiles in the Utilization of the CanGaroo® Envelope. Cureus 2021; 13: e12702 [PMID: 33604224 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.12702]
- Buchanan E, Yoo D. Use of Biologic Extracellular Matrix in Two Ways to Reduce Cardiac Electronic Device Infection. 25 Cureus 2021; 13: e13037 [PMID: 33665058 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.13037]
- Deering T. Antibiotic selection and risk profiles in patients receiving antibacterial cardiovascular implantable electronic device envelopes – A real world sample and analysis. Eur Heart J 2021; 42 [DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab724.0402]
- 27 Hercé B, Nazeyrollas P, Lesaffre F, Sandras R, Chabert JP, Martin A, Tassan-Mangina S, Bui HT, Metz D. Risk factors for infection of implantable cardiac devices: data from a registry of 2496 patients. Europace 2013; 15: 66-70 [PMID: 23097224 DOI: 10.1093/europace/eus284]
- Lekkerkerker JC, van Nieuwkoop C, Trines SA, van der Bom JG, Bernards A, van de Velde ET, Bootsma M, Zeppenfeld 28 K, Jukema JW, Borleffs JW, Schalij MJ, van Erven L. Risk factors and time delay associated with cardiac device infections: Leiden device registry. Heart 2009; 95: 715-720 [PMID: 19036758 DOI: 10.1136/hrt.2008.151985]
- 29 Demir GG, Guler GB, Guler E, Güneş H, Kizilirmak F, Karaca İO, Omaygenç MO, Çakal B, Olgun E, Savur U, Ibisoglu E, Barutçu I, Kiliçaslan F. Pocket haematoma after cardiac electronic device implantation in patients receiving antiplatelet and anticoagulant treatment: a single-centre experience. Acta Cardiol 2017; 72: 47-52 [PMID: 28597740 DOI: 10.1080/00015385.2017.1281539]
- Notaristefano F, Angeli F, Verdecchia P, Zingarini G, Spighi L, Annunziata R, Reccia MR, Piraccini S, Notaristefano S, 30 Lip GYH, Cavallini C. Device-Pocket Hematoma After Cardiac Implantable Electronic Devices. Circ Arrhythm *Electrophysiol* 2020; **13**: e008372 [PMID: 32196362 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCEP.120.008372]
- Tarakji KG, Korantzopoulos P, Philippon F, Biffi M, Mittal S, Poole JE, Kennergren C, Lexcen DR, Lande JD, Seshadri 31 S, Wilkoff BL. Infectious consequences of hematoma from cardiac implantable electronic device procedures and the role of the antibiotic envelope: A WRAP-IT trial analysis. Heart Rhythm 2021; 18: 2080-2086 [PMID: 34280568 DOI: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2021.07.011
- Sohail MR, Eby EL, Ryan MP, Gunnarsson C, Wright LA, Greenspon AJ. Incidence, Treatment Intensity, and Incremental 32 Annual Expenditures for Patients Experiencing a Cardiac Implantable Electronic Device Infection: Evidence From a Large US Payer Database 1-Year Post Implantation. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2016; 9 [PMID: 27506820 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCEP.116.003929
- 33 Frausing MHJP, Kronborg MB, Johansen JB, Nielsen JC. Avoiding implant complications in cardiac implantable electronic devices: what works? Europace 2021; 23: 163-173 [PMID: 33063088 DOI: 10.1093/europace/eua221]
- Krahn AD, Longtin Y, Philippon F, Birnie DH, Manlucu J, Angaran P, Rinne C, Coutu B, Low RA, Essebag V, Morillo C, 34 Redfearn D, Toal S, Becker G, Degrâce M, Thibault B, Crystal E, Tung S, LeMaitre J, Sultan O, Bennett M, Bashir J, Ayala-Paredes F, Gervais P, Rioux L, Hemels MEW, Bouwels LHR, van Vlies B, Wang J, Exner DV, Dorian P, Parkash R, Alings M, Connolly SJ. Prevention of Arrhythmia Device Infection Trial: The PADIT Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2018; 72: 3098-3109 [PMID: 30545448 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.09.068]



- 35 Franz S, Rammelt S, Scharnweber D, Simon JC. Immune responses to implants a review of the implications for the design of immunomodulatory biomaterials. Biomaterials 2011; 32: 6692-6709 [PMID: 21715002 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.05.078]
- Badylak SF. Decellularized allogeneic and xenogeneic tissue as a bioscaffold for regenerative medicine: factors that 36 influence the host response. Ann Biomed Eng 2014; 42: 1517-1527 [PMID: 24402648 DOI: 10.1007/s10439-013-0963-7]
- Badylak SF, Brown BN, Gilbert TW, Daly KA, Huber A, Turner NJ. Biologic scaffolds for constructive tissue remodeling. 37 Biomaterials 2011; 32: 316-319 [PMID: 21125721 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.09.018]
- 38 Gilbert TW, Stewart-Akers AM, Simmons-Byrd A, Badylak SF. Degradation and remodeling of small intestinal submucosa in canine Achilles tendon repair. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2007; 89: 621-630 [PMID: 17332112 DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.E.00742]
- Reing JE, Brown BN, Daly KA, Freund JM, Gilbert TW, Hsiong SX, Huber A, Kullas KE, Tottey S, Wolf MT, Badylak 39 SF. The effects of processing methods upon mechanical and biologic properties of porcine dermal extracellular matrix scaffolds. Biomaterials 2010; 31: 8626-8633 [PMID: 20728934 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.07.083]
- Swinehart IT, Badylak SF. Extracellular matrix bioscaffolds in tissue remodeling and morphogenesis. Dev Dyn 2016; 245: 40 351-360 [PMID: 26699796 DOI: 10.1002/dvdy.24379]
- 41 Li F, Li W, Johnson S, Ingram D, Yoder M, Badylak S. Low-molecular-weight peptides derived from extracellular matrix as chemoattractants for primary endothelial cells. Endothelium 2004; 11: 199-206 [PMID: 15370297 DOI: 10.1080/10623320490512390]
- Davis GE. Matricryptic sites control tissue injury responses in the cardiovascular system: relationships to pattern 42 recognition receptor regulated events. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2010; 48: 454-460 [PMID: 19751741 DOI: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2009.09.002]
- Brennan EP, Tang XH, Stewart-Akers AM, Gudas LJ, Badylak SF. Chemoattractant activity of degradation products of 43 fetal and adult skin extracellular matrix for keratinocyte progenitor cells. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2008; 2: 491-498 [PMID: 18956412 DOI: 10.1002/term.123]



WJC World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2022 March 26; 14(3): 187-189

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.187

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

Electrocardiographic alterations in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Mehmet Eyuboglu

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C, C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Leowattana W, Liu W, Satoh H, Ueda H

Received: October 28, 2021 Peer-review started: October 28, 2021 First decision: December 27, 2021 Revised: December 27, 2021 Accepted: February 20, 2022 Article in press: February 20, 2022 Published online: March 26, 2022



Mehmet Eyuboglu, Department of Cardiology, Gaziosmanpasa University School of Medicine, Tokat 60030, Turkey

Corresponding author: Mehmet Eyuboglu, MD, Doctor, Senior Researcher, Senior Scientist, Department of Cardiology, Gaziosmanpasa University School of Medicine, Kaleardi Mahallesi, Tokat 60030, Turkey. mhmtybgl@gmail.com

Abstract

Patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) have an increased risk for cardiovascular events, and electrocardiography has an important role in detecting cardiac side effects of COPD-related hypoxia.

Key Words: Electrocardiography; Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; QT interval; QT dispersion; Frontal plane QRS-T angle; Fragmented QRS

©The Author(s) 2022. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: QT parameters and frontal plane QRS-T angle may provide useful information regarding subclinical left ventricular dysfunction in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. In addition to standard electrocardiography parameters, these parameters may also be useful in demonstrating cardiac side effects of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

Citation: Eyuboglu M. Electrocardiographic alterations in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. World J Cardiol 2022; 14(3): 187-189

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v14/i3/187.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v14.i3.187

TO THE EDITOR

I have read with great interest the article by Gupta *et al*[1] in which the authors reported the important electrocardiography (ECG) changes in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Patients with COPD are at increased risk for cardiovascular events and ECG may provide useful information in monitoring these



patients. In their article, Gupta et al[1] mentioned various important ECG alterations in patients with COPD. However, I would like to point out some other important ECG parameters which may be significantly associated with myocardial damage and should not be neglected in patients with COPD.

COPD causes alterations in the cardiac conduction system and is associated with increased risk for cardiac arrhythmias and cardiovascular events[2,3]. Importantly, repolarization parameters QT interval and QT dispersion are the most important ECG parameters in predicting future arrhythmic events, and these parameters seem to be significantly altered in patients with COPD[3,4]. Alterations in these repolarization parameters seem to be associated with COPD-related hypoxia and significantly predict arrhythmic events in patients with COPD. Hence, QT parameters may be useful in the monitoring of patients with COPD for adverse cardiovascular events.

Additionally, frontal plane QRS-T angle (fQRST angle) which could be easily measured from standard 12-lead ECG as the absolute difference between QRS axis and T wave axis, maybe a useful ECG parameter in the monitoring of patients with COPD. fQRST angle describes the angular difference between depolarization and repolarization directions and increased fQRST angle is significantly associated with adverse cardiovascular events [5,6]. Importantly, fQRST angle seems to be associated with subclinical myocardial damage even in the absence of overt cardiovascular disease[7-9]. Moreover, COPD seems to cause an increase in fQRST angle, and fQRST angle seems to be associated with the severity of COPD[10]. Therefore, as a sign of ventricular repolarization heterogeneity, fQRST angle may be a useful ECG parameter in the clinical evaluation of patients with COPD.

Another important ECG parameter that should be considered in patients with COPD may be QRS fragmentation. In addition to its predictive value for myocardial scar tissue, presence of a narrow fragmented QRS complex (fQRS) on ECG is significantly associated with subclinical myocardial fibrosis even in the absence of manifest cardiovascular disease[11-14]. Importantly, fQRS also seems to be a sign of hypoxia-related subclinical left ventricular dysfunction in patients with the pulmonary disease[15]. Although its clinical importance in patients with COPD has not been demonstrated yet, QRS fragmentation patterns may be useful in detecting subclinical left ventricular dysfunction in patients with COPD.

In conclusion, various ECG changes may be seen in patients with COPD, and these ECG alterations seem to be associated with adverse cardiovascular events in these patients. However, besides the other ECG parameters, QT interval, QT dispersion and fQRST angle should be considered to demonstrate COPD's cardiac side effects. Also, evaluation of QRS fragmentation patterns may provide useful information in detecting subclinical myocardial dysfunction in patients with COPD.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Eyuboglu M solely contributed to this letter.

Conflict-of-interest statement: I declare that there is no any conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Turkey

ORCID number: Mehmet Eyuboglu 0000-0002-5754-9382.

S-Editor: Ma YJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Ma YJ

REFERENCES

- Gupta P, Jain H, Gill M, Bharaj G, Khalid N, Chaudhry W, Chhabra L. Electrocardiographic changes in Emphysema. 1 World J Cardiol 2021; 13: 533-545 [PMID: 34754398 DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v13.i10.533]
- 2 Sin DD, Man SF. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease as a risk factor for cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2005; 2: 8-11 [PMID: 16113462 DOI: 10.1513/pats.200404-032MS]
- Sievi NA, Clarenbach CF, Camen G, Rossi VA, van Gestel AJ, Kohler M. High prevalence of altered cardiac repolarization 3 in patients with COPD. BMC Pulm Med 2014; 14: 55 [PMID: 24690123 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2466-14-55]
- Yildiz P, Tükek T, Akkaya V, Sözen AB, Yildiz A, Korkut F, Yilmaz V. Ventricular arrhythmias in patients with COPD are associated with QT dispersion. Chest 2002; 122: 2055-2061 [PMID: 12475847 DOI: 10.1378/chest.122.6.2055]



- 5 Aro AL, Huikuri HV, Tikkanen JT, Junttila MJ, Rissanen HA, Reunanen A, Anttonen O. QRS-T angle as a predictor of sudden cardiac death in a middle-aged general population. Europace 2012; 14: 872-876 [PMID: 22183749 DOI: 10.1093/europace/eur393]
- 6 May O, Graversen CB, Johansen MØ, Arildsen H. A large frontal QRS-T angle is a strong predictor of the long-term risk of myocardial infarction and all-cause mortality in the diabetic population. J Diabetes Complications 2017; 31: 551-555 [PMID: 28065667 DOI: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2016.12.001]
- 7 Tanriverdi Z, Unal B, Eyuboglu M, Bingol Tanriverdi T, Nurdag A, Demirbag R. The importance of frontal QRS-T angle for predicting non-dipper status in hypertensive patients without left ventricular hypertrophy. Clin Exp Hypertens 2018; 40: 318-323 [PMID: 28949780 DOI: 10.1080/10641963.2017.1377214]
- Eyuboglu M, Acikel B. Electrocardiographic differences in patients with true and pseudo-resistant hypertension. J Hum 8 Hypertens 2021 [PMID: 34131262 DOI: 10.1038/s41371-021-00559-8]
- 9 Eyuboglu M, Celik A. Impact of blood pressure lowering on ventricular repolarization heterogeneity in patients with newly diagnosed hypertension. Blood Press Monit 2021; 26: 407-412 [PMID: 34074806 DOI: 10.1097/MBP.00000000000551]
- Hocanli I, Tanriverdi Z, Kabak M, Gungoren F, Tascanov MB. The relationship between frontal QRS-T angle and the 10 severity of newly diagnosed chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Int J Clin Pract 2021; 75: e14500 [PMID: 34117683 DOI: 10.1111/ijcp.14500]
- Eyuboglu M. Characteristics of Circadian Blood Pressure Pattern of Hypertensive Patients According to Localization of 11 Fragmented QRS on Electrocardiography. High Blood Press Cardiovasc Prev 2021; 28: 57-62 [PMID: 33216291 DOI: 10.1007/s40292-020-00422-w
- Tanriverdi Z, Eyuboglu M, Bingol Tanriverdi T, Nurdag A, Demirbag R. The relationship between fragmented QRS and 12 non-dipper status in hypertensive patients without left ventricular hypertrophy. Clin Exp Hypertens 2017; 39: 680-684 [PMID: 28657410 DOI: 10.1080/10641963.2017.1313855]
- Eyuboglu M, Akdeniz B. Association Between Non-Dipping and Fragmented QRS Complexes in Prehypertensive Patients. 13 Arq Bras Cardiol 2019; 112: 59-64 [PMID: 30570062 DOI: 10.5935/abc.20180242]
- 14 Eyuboglu M, Ekinci MA, Karakoyun S, Kucuk U, Senarslan O, Akdeniz B. Fragmented QRS for Risk Stratification in Patients Undergoing First Diagnostic Coronary Angiography. Arq Bras Cardiol 2016; 107: 299-304 [PMID: 27849256 DOI: 10.5935/abc.20160139]
- 15 Adar A, Kırış A, Bülbül Y, Bektaş H, Acat M, Casim H, Onalan O. Association of Fragmented QRS with Subclinical Left Ventricular Dysfunction in Patients with Obstructive Sleep Apnea. Med Princ Pract 2015; 24: 376-381 [PMID: 26022145 DOI: 10.1159/000382077]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

